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2002 2001
Restated*

Turnover (including joint ventures and associates) £755.0m £1,389.0m

Loss before taxation £(18.6)m £(30.3)m

Shareholders’ funds £222.8m £260.6m

Net cash/(borrowings) – recourse £69.5m £(167.4)m

– non-recourse £(383.6)m £(105.1)m

Losses per share (15.3)p (38.3)p

Dividends per share 6.8p 7.6p

Net assets per equity share 105p 127p

*see accounting policies (a).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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…the Group’s change in strategic direction has
created the UK’s listed market leader in PFI/PPP

INFRASTRUCTURE
PROJECTS
THROUGH INNOVATION AND DELIVERING QUALITY SOLUTIONS WE HAVE SET A
HIGH STANDARD WHICH HAS BEEN RECOGNISED IN THE MARKET BY BEING AWARDED
“PPP DEVELOPER OF THE YEAR”.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

SINCE MY APPOINTMENT TO THE BOARD IN JANUARY 2002 JOHN LAING HAS UNDERGONE

SIGNIFICANT CHANGE AND HAS MADE CONSIDERABLE PROGRESS AFTER A VERY DIFFICULT

PERIOD FOR THE COMPANY. FOLLOWING AN INITIAL ASSESSMENT OF OUR BUSINESSES, THE

MARKETS IN WHICH WE OPERATE, AND THE FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE GROUP, I INSTIGATED

A REVIEW OF STRATEGY EARLY IN THE YEAR. THIS RESULTED IN A BOARD DECISION TO CREATE

VALUE FOR SHAREHOLDERS THROUGH FOCUSSING ON OUR FAST GROWING INFRASTRUCTURE

DEVELOPMENT, INVESTMENT AND OPERATIONS BUSINESS. WE BELIEVE THIS STRATEGY WILL

DELIVER NOT ONLY PREDICTABLE AND SUSTAINABLE EARNINGS AND CASH RETURNS, BUT ALSO

SIGNIFICANT GROWTH IN THE VALUE OF THE INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS CREATED, DEVELOPED

AND MANAGED.

During the year we have been pursuing the goals set by the Board and much has been achieved against our declared strategy, both in

terms of financial targets and our internal timetable.

➔ The Board was strengthened by the appointment of three new fully independent non-executive Directors.

➔ The sale of Laing Properties in April completed our £120 million asset disposal programme initiated as part of the

Group’s refinancing in 2001.

➔ The Group’s UK Private Housing business was sold in November, representing a fundamental step in the reshaping of

the Group.

➔ The number of operational PFI projects has increased from 19 to 24 including the acquisition of the Amey portfolio

on 14 March 2003.

➔ The repayment of our debt facilities and the establishing of new and improved funding arrangements underpinned our

return to financial health and stability.

➔ The Group’s management was restructured.

➔ The bidding and project management resources within our core business were expanded rapidly.

In demonstrating achievement in these key areas, we believe that we have made substantial progress towards the restoration of

investor confidence. While some work remains to be done on the disposal of non-core assets, the Company is now financially sound

and clearly focussed.

W W Forrester
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN



RESULTS

The Group loss before tax was £18.6 million (2001 – loss £30.3 million) and included a total of £38.3 million of exceptional charges

associated with the cost of restructuring and refinancing. The loss per share was 15.3 pence (2001 loss per share – 38.3 pence).

The continuing businesses traded well and achieved a profit before tax of £17.3 million before an exceptional charge of £5.0 million

(2001 – £11.0 million excluding £48.0 million disposal profit on Europistas). The exceptional charge of £5.0 million represents a reduction

in the carrying value of the non-core housing businesses currently for sale. 

DIVIDENDS

In accordance with our indication made at the time of the disposal of Laing Homes, your Board is recommending a final dividend of 4.8

pence per Ordinary Share for the year ended 31 December 2002 (2001 – 4.3 pence), bringing the total for the year to 6.8 pence per

Ordinary Share (2001 – 7.6 pence). Our decision to maintain the dividend at this level, even though it will be payable from reserves, reflects

our confidence in the Group’s overall financial position. Subject to shareholder approval, the final dividend will be payable on 1 July 2003

to shareholders registered at the close of business on 28 March 2003.

Clearly, the profile of the Group’s earnings in future will no longer incorporate contributions from Laing Homes, which historically

has generated a significant proportion of operating profits. It cannot be expected, in the current environment of low interest rates, that this

will be wholly mitigated by reduced interest charges on the Group’s restructured bank facilities.

Shareholder returns from what is now the Group’s principal business of infrastructure operation and investment will derive from

capital as well as earnings growth, and dividend policy for the future will reflect this shift. Growth in earnings will be determined, among

other things, by the level of new investment and by the rate of realisations from the investment portfolio.

DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

After several years service to the Company three non-executive Directors, Peter Harper, The Rt. Hon Lord Howell and Brian Chilver retired

and were replaced by three new independent non-executive Directors, Tim Boatman, The Baroness Noakes and Paul Meredith. All have

considerable experience and have already made a significant contribution to the business. Following the sale of the Property Development

and the UK Private Housing businesses, Derrick Ardern and Steve Lidgate, respectively, resigned from the Board. I would like to express

my sincere thanks to them both and to all retiring Directors for their valuable contributions over the years. I must also add my thanks to all

of our employees who have been challenged by significant change. It is clear to me that they have risen to that challenge and pressed

forward with the enthusiasm and dedication that underpins our future success.

DISPOSALS

During 2002, and in line with our stated strategy to concentrate on our infrastructure business, we sold several businesses. The Access

Plant Hire business, Laing Property Developments and Holloway White Allom were sold for a combined consideration of £41.5 million. The

most significant disposal was the sale of our principal house building business to George Wimpey plc for £295.2 million which equated to

net asset value before costs. The disposal proceeds have been utilised to eliminate debt and to finance the accelerated growth programme

in Laing Investments.

The sale of Laing Homes to George Wimpey did not include the Group’s interests in Beechcroft Developments, John Laing

Partnership, Octagon Developments or WL Homes. We are pursuing the sale of these retained house building businesses and have already

entered into discussions with interested parties. 

ACQUISITIONS

In our circular to shareholders on the sale of Laing Homes, I referred to the potential for acquisition of existing infrastructure portfolios. Our

development team have been tracking potential opportunities and we were delighted to conclude the purchase of a portfolio of eight PFI

projects and a bid pipeline from Amey in March 2003. The purchase consideration was £29.1 million in cash and assumption of £13.8

million of future equity commitments. The Board expects the portfolio to make a positive contribution to results in the current year.

Following the acquisition of Hyder Investments in 2001, John Laing has now secured two out of the three significant portfolio

acquisitions transacted in the growing secondary market for PFI investments. 

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The Board has chosen to follow a strategy it believes will deliver growth in both earnings and asset values in the investment portfolio. The

infrastructure investment business performed well in 2002, generating profits, after project specific interest, bid costs and overheads, of

£14.9 million (2001 – £12.2 million excluding £48.0 million from the sale of Europistas). The Directors have estimated the value of the

investment portfolio at 31 December 2002 at £215 million. This valuation represents an uplift of £80 million over the book value of the

portfolio (2001 – uplift £70 million). 

The Homes Division returned profits before interest of £13.2 million (2001 – £56.1 million). Within this result, the retained Housing

businesses contributed £7.8 million and the discontinued Housing business contributed £17.4 million prior to the sale, on which, after

taking account of costs, a loss of £12.0 million was incurred. The net contribution to profits from trading and the profit on sale of the

Property business, including Holloway White Allom, was £8.1 million (2001 – trading profit £9.7 million).

3 John Laing plc
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CONSTRUCTION LIABILITIES

As already reported to shareholders the Group retains a limited number of liabilities related to the disposal of the Construction Division in

2001. Further progress has been made in resolving issues concerned with these contract liabilities and the Board remains confident that

adequate provision has been made against these liabilities within the 2002 accounts. The remaining provision at 31 December 2002 stood

at £39.2 million.

PENSIONS AND CAPITAL REDUCTION

Falling equity values and the mature nature of our pension liability profile have combined to create a substantial pension fund deficit on an

FRS 17 basis. The actuarial assessment of the FRS 17 deficit at 31 December 2002 was £142.8 million. The Board, in conjunction with the

Trustees, has decided to resume contributions at an enhanced level of £6.5 million in 2003 to ensure a reduction of the deficit over time.

The Board is considering the early adoption of FRS 17 which, following the restructuring of the Group and the relatively low number

of active members in the pension schemes, is likely to present a more meaningful pension charge than SSAP 24. In order to prepare for

the future adoption of FRS 17, and the potential negative impact on distributable reserves, the Board is seeking shareholder approval for

a capital reduction. Subject to shareholder and Court approval, this would enable the share premium account balance of £82.8 million to

be set against an FRS 17 deficit.

PROSPECTS

The prospects for the infrastructure investment and operations business are excellent. We are operating in a growth market and have

developed a major portfolio of 32 projects, of which 24 are already income producing. In the short-term, the earnings from these projects

will remain relatively low. However as the debt service cost in Project Companies reduces over time, these earnings will increase. Longer-

term, the low risk contractual agreements we have with public sector clients and Government Agencies on many of our projects means

that our earnings streams are both predictable and secure. This, combined with growth in the underlying value of the portfolio as our

investments mature, means we can look forward to a significant increase in profits from our existing portfolio in the years ahead.

As I have already highlighted, the recent acquisition of a portfolio of PFI assets from Amey plc will accelerate our earnings and add

growth in asset value. In addition, our substantial bid pipeline offers the prospects for further enhancing the value of our portfolio. During

the current year we expect to make further progress in the sale of our remaining non-core housing interests, and this will release additional

funds for further investments in our core operations. As well as utilising these funds to invest in our existing portfolio and to increase the

rate of bidding on new projects, we will, where we see value, look to consolidate out leading position in the PFI market place.

While general economic conditions and world events cast some doubt over trading conditions in many markets, the PFI market

provides significant opportunity for growth and a high degree of resilience to recession. We believe that in times of fiscal constraint the

public sector’s requirement for private sector capital and expertise, together with our capacity to deliver value, will be required more than

ever. This will not only apply to the UK but also to international markets where we are already achieving success. John Laing is a market

leader in this sector with a proven track record and the Board is confident that the Company will continue to create value and growth for

its shareholders.

W W Forrester
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Bill Forrester M.Inst.M (62)

Director, John Laing plc, 1 January 2002

Executive Chairman, 1 February 2002

Group Chief Executive, SIG plc, 1995 to 2001

(Started as Director of SIG, 1981)

Adrian Ewer FCA (49)

Finance Director, John Laing plc, 1999

Joined John Laing 1991

Andrew Friend MA (50)

Director, John Laing plc, 2001

Joined John Laing 1999

Associate Director, Macquarie Bank, London, 1997 to 1999

Chief Executive, City of Melbourne, 1995 to 1997

Tim Boatman FCA (61)#

Non-executive Director

Joined John Laing April 2002

Audit Partner, PriceWaterhouseCoopers, 1974 to 2001

Sir Martin Laing CBE, MA, FRICS, FICE (61)#

Non-executive Director

Joined John Laing 1966

Chairman, John Laing plc, 1985, retired 31 January 2002

Chairman, Americas Advisers, Trade Partners UK

Non-executive Chairman, NHP PLC, 1998

Director RICS Foundation, 2001

Member, World Business Council for Sustainable Development

Paul Meredith FIA (57)#

Senior non-executive Director
Joined John Laing June 2002
Chairman, Phillips and Drew Fund Management, 1990 to 1999
Director, Investment Management Regulatory Organisation, 1995 to 2000

The Baroness Noakes DBE (53)#

Non-executive Director
Joined John Laing June 2002
Partner, KPMG, 1983 to 2000
Director, Bank of England, 1994 to 2001
President, Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales
1999/2000
Director, Hanson plc, 2001
Director, Carpetright plc, 2001
Trustee, Reuters Founder Share Company Limited, 1998
Director, English National Opera, 2000

# Member of Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

from left to right: Bill Forrester, Adrian Ewer, Andrew Friend, Tim Boatman, Sir Martin Laing, Paul Meredith, The Baroness Noakes



LAING INVESTMENTS HOLDS A LARGE

PORTFOLIO OF PROJECTS SPANNING HEALTH,

EDUCATION, POLICE & DEFENCE FACILITIES,

ROADS, RAIL, AIRPORTS & UTILITIES.
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Andrew Friend
MANAGING DIRECTOR

LAING INVESTMENTS LIMITED



2002 HIGHLIGHTS
➔ INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT, INVESTMENT & OPERATION NOW KEY FOCUS FOR JOHN

LAING PLC

➔ PORTFOLIO OF 25 LONG-TERM CONCESSIONS SIGNED, WITH 19 FULLY OPERATIONAL
PRODUCING PROFIT BEFORE TAX OF £14.9 MILLION NET OF ALL BID AND OVERHEAD COSTS
(2001 – £12.2 MILLION)(1)

➔ DIRECTORS’ VALUATION INCREASES FROM £201 MILLION TO £215 MILLION DURING THE YEAR,
WITH A FORWARD EQUITY COMMITMENT OF £48.0 MILLION AT YEAR-END

➔ PREVIOUSLY ACQUIRED PROJECT INVESTMENTS PERFORMING TO PLAN, AND AN ADDITIONAL 8(2)

SIGNED PFI PROJECTS SECURED THROUGH THE ACQUISITION OF A PORTFOLIO OF
INVESTMENTS FROM AMEY PLC(3)

➔ STRONG DEVELOPMENT OF PIPELINE WITH 10 PROJECTS AT PREFERRED BIDDER STAGE (WITH
RIGHTS TO COMMIT EQUITY IN EXCESS OF £35 MILLION) AND A FURTHER 21 BIDS SHORT-LISTED

➔ LAING INVESTMENTS WAS NAMED PPP DEVELOPER OF THE YEAR FOR ITS ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2002

7 John Laing plc

OPERATING REVIEW

2002 was a landmark year for the development of John Laing’s infrastructure investment business with Company

restructuring creating a strong platform for further expansion.

Already established as the leading listed investor in UK PFI/PPP, our key brands – Laing Roads, Laing Rail, and

Equion – are successfully targeting excellence in operation.

To date, John Laing has invested £126 million in Project Companies that are supporting the delivery of projects

with a combined capital value of more than £3.4 billion.

These investments cover health, education, police and defence facilities, Government accommodation, roads and

bridges, mainline and light rail, airports and utilities. There are exciting prospects in each of our key target sectors.

On an average weekday, 78,000 students and teachers, 430,000 drivers, 128,000 commuters, and 12,000

patients and healthcare workers use public services and facilities in our portfolio. The numbers are growing every month.

(1) Excluding the profit on disposal of Europistas in 2001 for £48.0 million.

(2) One of the 8 investments is a stake in Modus Services (Holdings) Limited, in which John Laing already has a stake.

(3) On 14 March 2003 Laing Investments Limited purchased Argon Ventures Limited (formerly Amey Ventures Limited) (“AVL”) – refer to note

32 on page 101.
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THE MARKET
➔ STRONG GOVERNMENT COMMITMENT UNDERPINS EXPANDING PIPELINE

➔ NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARD BRINGS CLARITY TO BID COSTS

➔ DISCLOSURE AIDS INVESTOR UNDERSTANDING OF VALUATION

➔ ENDORSEMENT OF VALUE FOR MONEY IN THE NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE REPORT ON PFI
CONSTRUCTION PERFORMANCE

➔ PFI/PPP PROCUREMENT METHOD BECOMING MORE ESTABLISHED IN EUROPE AND AUSTRALIA

OPERATING REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2002 was a year of contrasting market developments for the

PFI/PPP infrastructure industry.

Many OECD Governments affirmed the need to improve

public services and address infrastructure investment deficits, while at

the same time keeping public expenditure and taxation under control.

In the United Kingdom, the Chancellor’s 2002

Comprehensive Spending Review endorsed the continued use of

PFI/PPP procurement as having an important part to play in

addressing the inherited effects of underinvestment in key public

services during the closing decades of the last century. Projects

with a capital value in excess of £25 billion have now been signed

in the UK, with a further £18 billion in procurement and £12 billion

firmly planned. In a number of significant sectors standardisation of

the procurement process has yielded benefits by moderating costly

bidding activity and reducing lead times.

In Europe, Australasia and elsewhere this procurement

method is also becoming more established with a growing number

of transport and social infrastructure projects being offered to the

market. John Laing sees significant opportunities emerging in

market sectors, such as European roads, where the Group’s track

record, investment capabilities and partnering strategies provide a

foundation for expansion.

As more projects enter the operational phase (more than

250 have in the UK) the benefits of new facilities procured under

the disciplines of PFI are undoubtedly becoming apparent to client

organisations, their employees and the customers of the public

services they support.

However, the future role of private companies and the

appropriate limits of market provision in public services have also

been contested by some trade unions and other stakeholders with

critics often associating PFI with potential erosion of employment

conditions for transferring staff and assertions that the taxpayer is

obtaining poor value for money.

For our part, John Laing will continue to provide a high

quality of operational service and value for money for our public

sector clients on the basis of good employment practices. The

Group welcomes moves to ensure a well regulated level playing

field as regards labour market issues that impinge on PFI, and will

continue to pursue value creation through excellence in project

delivery, partnership working and effective long-term concession

management.

Within the UK, 2002 also saw a pronounced tendency for

the general media to highlight the negative and ignore the positive

in relation to PFI – a tendency in part accentuated by the political

controversy surrounding the delayed London Underground PPP.

However, following a study completed in 2002 and presented

to Parliament early 2003, the National Audit Office issued a strong

endorsement of the value for money obtained from the construction

phases of early PFI schemes (PFI: Construction Performance: HC

371 2002-2003). The report endorses the view that PFI and PPP,

correctly implemented in appropriate sectors, can secure substantial

public benefit through effective risk transfer in relation to the outturn

cost of major projects. The UK Government has committed itself to

substantial reinvestment in the capital stock of public services and

needs to ensure that this investment is delivered cost effectively. For

this reason it is clear that the Government’s commitment to PFI/PPP,

which links private sector reward to long run asset quality and whole

life costs, also remains strong.



ALREADY ESTABLISHED AS A LEADING PLAYER IN THE PFI/PPP

MARKET, 2002 WAS A LANDMARK YEAR FOR LAING INVESTMENTS

AS THE RESTRUCTURING OF JOHN LAING PLC CREATED A STRONG

PLATFORM FOR FURTHER EXPANSION.

9 John Laing plc

Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 34 (“UITF 34”) concerning

treatment of bid costs and the recovery of costs and fees from

successful projects was issued in May 2002 for immediate

adoption. Under the standard all bid costs are to be expensed until

the award of a contract is “virtually certain”. In a PFI context this is

usually taken to be achievement of preferred bidder status. Any

over recovery of costs at financial close is not recognised as profit

immediately but over time.

This treatment will give a more uniform profile to bid costs

and their recovery, and the standard is to be welcomed as bringing

greater clarity and transparency to the issue. Given our historically

conservative practise in writing off bid costs adoption of UITF 34

had a limited impact on the Group’s results (see accounting

policies (a) refer page 67).

John Laing adopted UITF 34 for the June 2002 interim

results in September 2002. Historically the Group had expensed all

bid costs as incurred up until financial close and then taken a profit

on their recovery. Under UITF 34, John Laing still expenses bid

costs incurred until selected as preferred bidder, thereafter costs

are capitalised. When the project reaches financial close this asset

is sold to the Project Company, with profit recognition occurring

over the period it takes to create the resulting project assets that

form the basis of future revenue streams, usually a number of years.

The varied impact of UITF 34 on the reported results of sector

participants emerged at a time of generalised concern about

accounting standards. This contributed towards a deteriorating

perception of the listed Support Services Sector during the second

half; an effect which was compounded by well publicised and often

unrelated difficulties impacting the performance of a few prominent

companies active in PFI and outsourcing markets.

This Sector effect was accentuated by the general decline

in equity valuations during the second half of 2002, a trend itself

partly driven by wider controversies about corporate accounting

practices related to complex non-recourse (but also non-PFI)

financing structures. As a result market commentators have

expressed concern about transparency, risk and disclosure in

relation to PFI schemes, the valuations ascribed to project assets

and the sustainability of returns related to long-term concessions.

In order to respond to these issues and to allow shareholders

to better scrutinise valuation issues in relation to the John Laing

portfolio, this Operating Review includes a number of innovations.

These include an enhanced section on risks and their management,

a detailed explanation of the Directors’ valuation methodology and its

application, and a breakdown of John Laing’s anticipated cash flows

from Project Companies to assist investors’ understanding of the

Group’s operations and prospects. We also report on the operational

performance of the most significant individual projects in the portfolio.

THE MPS FIREARMS
AND PUBLIC ORDER
TRAINING PROJECT
WAS SUCCESSFULLY
COMPLETED IN
JANUARY 2003.

DELIVERY OF HIGH
QUALITY SERVICES
DEPENDS ON GOOD
EMPLOYMENT
PRACTICES.

CONSTRUCTION OF
THE GREATER
MANCHESTER POLICE
PROJECT HAS
COMMENCED.
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BUSINESS STRATEGY &
OPERATING STRUCTURE

OPERATING REVIEW (CONTINUED)

➔ SUCCESSFUL GROWTH THROUGH ORGANIC EXPANSION AND SECONDARY
ACQUISITION IN TARGET SECTORS

➔ PORTFOLIO BENEFITS FROM HIGH PROPORTION OF OPERATIONAL PROJECTS
WITH QUALITY OF SERVICE ENHANCING LONG-TERM CONCESSION VALUES

➔ RISK CONTROL AND VALUE CREATION ENHANCED BY TAKING SIGNIFICANT
STAKES IN A SPECTRUM OF MEDIUM SIZED PROJECTS

➔ STRONG CLIENT FOCUSSED BRANDS ESTABLISHED FOR KEY SECTORS

➔ BROAD RANGE OF CONSTRUCTION, SERVICE AND INVESTMENT PARTNERS
ALLOWS CAREFUL TARGETING OF NICHE OPPORTUNITIES

Sustained cash flow is derived from contracted, break free, long-term concessions. A typical PFI/PPP concession

length is 25 to 30 years at inception, and over 55% of the John Laing portfolio (by value) is related to concession

contracts with at least 20 years to run as at December 2002.

Directors’ Valuation of Portfolio by Concession Length Remaining

39%

51%

7%

3%

Based on Directors’ valuation as at
31 December 2002

less than 10 years

10 to 20 years

20 to 30 years

greater than 30 years
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Our business strategy in 2002 continued to accentuate expansion

in the core sectors of roads, rail and accommodation with selective

pursuit of new opportunities in the UK, Europe and Australasia.

The chart, Portfolio (by origin), illustrates the build up of the

current portfolio and the sectoral fit between projects developed

from single bids by John Laing and the incremental effects of the

successive acquisitions of Hyder Investments Limited (January

2001), Macquarie European Infrastructure Limited (February 2001),

and the AVL transaction (March 2003).

Two projects reached financial close during 2002 (Greater

Manchester Police Stations and South East Essex College), the

Chiltern 20 year franchise was signed and our interest in the

Gorodok pipeline was sold. As a result the portfolio contained 25

project interests at year-end, and has expanded with the addition

of a further 7 with the acquisition of AVL.

By creating critical mass in the target sectors of health,

police, local government, defence accommodation, roads and

rail, the strategy of combining organic growth with selective

acquisition has laid the basis for further expanding the bid

pipeline. Central to this is our substantial track record of

successfully delivering operational projects. The Group is in a

position to target sub-sectors where it believes barriers to entry

will underpin returns, and where additional opportunities are

available through extensions to existing facilities or meeting

additional service requirements.

Portfolio accounting generally follows the proportion of

equity held. Of the 25 projects in the portfolio at 31 December

2002, 7 are 100% subsidiaries of the John Laing Group and are

accounted for on a fully consolidated basis; 12 are joint ventures

and are equity accounted; and 6 interests are investment

accounted. As reported in the June 2002 interim accounts, John

Laing has, under its application of FRS 5, accounted for all

accommodation projects on a finance debtor basis.

Our operating structure, of 3 sector focussed subsidiaries

with strong brands well known to key clients, was strengthened

during 2002.
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EQUION
EQUION PLC (“EQUION”), THE JOHN LAING SUBSIDIARY SPECIALISING IN PFI/PPP SERVICED

ACCOMMODATION PROJECTS, MANAGES A PORTFOLIO OF 9 SIGNED PROJECTS AND A

SUBSTANTIAL BID PROGRAMME. IT IS CURRENTLY SHORT-LISTED ON 14 PROJECTS AND IS

PREFERRED BIDDER ON A FURTHER 6.

OPERATING REVIEW (CONTINUED)

➔ In 2002 Equion derived profit before tax of £8.2 million and cash flow of £7.7 million from its projects under

management.

➔ Equion has achieved widespread recognition for its partnership working in social accommodation sectors and its

association with high quality operational projects has underpinned successful bidding activity.

➔ Equion’s ability to address the needs of specific public sector clients has been reinforced with specialist business

units dedicated to meeting the needs of health, local Government, police and education sectors.

➔ Equion achieved ISO 9001 Quality Assurance registration in respect of the totality of the Company’s operations and

all directly managed activity; ISO 14001 Environmental Management accreditation was achieved in February 2003.

➔ Equion Facilities Management (“Equion FM”) has developed capabilities which support the pricing of all FM and

support service inputs for John Laing’s PFI/PPP bids. Equion FM is positioned to deliver an innovative range of

police support services through 3 major contracts. It is expanding its delivery capacity through direct recruitment

of specialists, and also through transfers under TUPE arrangements. Equion FM is able to mitigate performance

risk across the John Laing portfolio by providing interim management capacity that can be mobilised in the event

of subcontractor failure.

12 John Laing plc
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EQUION HAS BUILT A STRONG REPUTATION FOR DELIVERY AND

QUALITY SERVICES FOR ITS PUBLIC SECTOR CLIENTS IN HEALTH,

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, POLICE AND EDUCATION.



➔ In 2002 Laing Roads derived profit before tax of £7.0 million and cash flow of £6.3 million from projects in its

portfolio (excluding the £32.8 million received in 2002 from the December 2001 sale of John Laing’s interest in

Europistas, the Spanish toll road operator).

➔ Laing Roads has a direct role in management of the UK Highways M40 and A55 road concessions and the A130,

the UK’s first local authority PFI road.

➔ The Laing Roads team also has responsibility for managing utility concessions, including the Kinnegar waste water

treatment plant and our interest in LUL Connect, the Underground communications PFI.

➔ Laing Roads current bid programme includes short-listed projects in both the UK and Europe, Scandinavia and

Germany are among current target markets where consortia were developed during 2002.

➔ Building on a base of substantial operational experience, Laing Roads expanded its capacity during 2002 in order

to take on a wider range of refinancing, bidding, advisory and long-term asset management tasks.

The portfolio currently holds only one project in Europe (Nelostie) but with financial closure of the E39 project in Norway

(scheduled for April 2003) the European percentage will increase.

LAING ROADS
LAING ROADS, THE JOHN LAING DIVISION SPECIALISING IN PFI ROAD AND BRIDGE CONCESSIONS,

MANAGES A PORTFOLIO OF 4 UK CONCESSIONS AND OUR INVESTMENTS IN THE HELSINKI-LAHTI

(“NELOSTIE”) FINNISH SHADOW TOLL ROAD. THE NUMBER OF CONTINUING UK CONCESSIONS HAS

INCREASED TO 6 ON COMPLETION OF THE AMEY TRANSACTION.

OPERATING REVIEW (CONTINUED)

14 John Laing plc

Directors’ Valuation of Portfolio by Location

90%
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Based on Directors’ valuation
as at 31 December 2002

Rest of the World
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LAING ROADS, IN JOINT VENTURE WITH SKANSKA, IS PREFERRED BIDDER

FOR THE E39 DBFO ROAD IN NORWAY. THIS IS NORWAY’S FIRST SUCH SCHEME.

WE ARE NOW BIDDING FOR NORWAY’S SECOND SCHEME.

LAING ROADS IS NOW A KEY PARTNER IN OVER 25% OF THE UK PFI ROAD SCHEMES. WE ARE
FOCUSSING ON THE EMERGING ROADS MARKET IN NORTHERN EUROPE – BUILDING ON OUR
PRESENCE IN FINLAND.

THE A130 WAS THE
FIRST LOCAL
AUTHORITY PFI
ROAD SCHEME AND
IS A STRATEGIC
ROUTE BETWEEN
CHELMSFORD AND
SOUTHEND.

WE HAVE OVER 25
YEARS EXPERIENCE
SPECIALISING IN PFI
ROAD AND BRIDGE
CONCESSIONS.

ON AN AVERAGE
WEEKDAY 430,000
DRIVERS USE OUR
ROADS, WHICH IS
OVER 150 MILLION
EACH YEAR.



LAING RAIL
LAING RAIL LIMITED (“LAING RAIL”) HOLDS THE GROUP’S 100% INTEREST IN THE CHILTERN RAILWAY

COMPANY LIMITED, OPERATOR OF THE CHILTERN LINE AND HOLDER OF THE UK’S FIRST 20 YEAR

PASSENGER FRANCHISE. UNDER THIS FRANCHISE CHILTERN WILL DELIVER A MAJOR ENHANCEMENT

PROGRAMME AND HAS THE OPPORTUNITY TO FURTHER GROW ITS SERVICE OPERATIONS OVER TIME.

LAING RAIL’S STRATEGY IS ONE OF ACTIVELY SEEKING OPPORTUNITIES TO EXPAND BOTH UK

SERVICE OPERATIONS AND ITS ROLE IN RAIL RELATED INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY.

OPERATING REVIEW (CONTINUED)

➔ Laing Rail Projects Division was formed in June 2002 in order to build on its earlier experience of successfully
delivering infrastructure projects in the complex commercial, operational and regulatory rail industry
environment. Laing Rail Projects will deliver infrastructure projects such as stations, parkways, car-parks and
platform extensions. Its client base includes developers, other train operating companies and the Strategic Rail
Authority.

➔ In 2002 Laing Rail delivered a profit before tax of £5.8 million and a net cash outflow of £10.8 million from
projects in its portfolio.The cash flow included a £11.7 million investment in Chiltern from securing the new
franchise in February and purchasing the minority shareholders’ interests in August.

➔ Transcend, a joint venture between Kier Property and John Laing, has been formed in order to take forward
commercial property development in and around stations and other transport hubs. Transcend will leverage
both the project finance, structuring and project development capacity of John Laing and Laing Rail/Chiltern’s
position in the industry.Transcend embarked on its first project, a residential development near to Aylesbury
railway station during 2002.

➔ Additional rail related investments include City Greenwich Lewisham Link, the infrastructure element of the
Docklands Light Rail extension which has been operational since November 1999.

➔ Laing Rail currently holds interests in a further 2 UK light rail schemes but does not intend to bid further
light rail schemes which involve significant degrees of volume risk related to the introduction of new services.
In relation to Manchester Metro, negotiations continued during the year for the termination of the existing
Phase 2 concession, to allow the new Phase 3 concession (for which Laing Rail is not bidding) to take over.
Significant progress has been made, including formal Government funding approval to the new concession, and
it is anticipated that the Phase 2 termination could occur in the near future. As stated in last year’s report, it
is John Laing’s intention to dispose of its interest in the Midland Metro, and discussions continue with the
other shareholders and with the client to facilitate this.

16 John Laing plc



CHILTERN RAILWAYS WAS NAMED TRAIN OPERATOR OF THE YEAR 2002

AT THE HSBC RAIL BUSINESS AWARDS. THE COMPANY RECEIVED THE

PRESTIGIOUS AWARD FOR THE SECOND YEAR RUNNING IN RECOGNITION

OF ITS OUTSTANDING PERFORMANCE DURING A CHALLENGING

12 MONTHS FOR THE RAIL INDUSTRY.

17 John Laing plc
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LAING INVESTMENTS
ASIA PACIFIC

LAING INVESTMENTS ASIA PACIFIC (“LIAP”) HAS A GEOGRAPHIC RATHER THAN SECTORAL REMIT

AND ITS CURRENT ACTIVITY IS CONFINED TO THE AUSTRALASIAN MARKET. LIAP MANAGES A

PORTFOLIO OF 4 ASSETS, INCLUDING INTERESTS IN 2 AIRPORT COMPANIES (ADELAIDE AIRPORT,

AND NORTHERN TERRITORIES AIRPORTS), A LIGHT RAIL ASSET (BRISBANE AIRLINK) AND A

POWER INTEREST (HORIZON ENERGY, A LISTED INVESTOR IN LOY YANG A).

➔ LIAP projects generated £1.0 million of profit before tax in 2002 and positive cash flow of £5.4 million. Cash was

derived from the sale of John Laing’s 20% interest in the Gorodok pipeline.

➔ LIAP’s Sydney based team is currently bidding emerging opportunities in the social infrastructure market with

local partners. Prisons, hospitals and defence accommodation are target sectors.

OPERATING REVIEW (CONTINUED)
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THE TEAM IN SYDNEY IS FOCUSSED ON MANAGING THE EXISTING PORTFOLIO

AND UTILISING JOHN LAING SKILLS AND TRACK RECORD IN THE

DEVELOPING PFI MARKET.

ALICE SPRINGS AIRPORT (NORTHERN TERRITORIES) HAS THE DISTINCTION OF BEING THE
LARGEST AIRPORT IN THE SOUTHERN HEMISPHERE IN TERMS OF LAND MASS OF 3,550 HECTARES.

THE BRISBANE
AIRPORT RAIL LINK
OFFERS A FAST AND
FREQUENT RAIL
SERVICE INTO
BRISBANE CITY AND
THROUGH TO THE
CENTRAL BUSINESS
DISTRICT.

WE HAVE INVESTED
IN 4 REGIONAL
AIRPORTS IN
AUSTRALIA,
CARRYING OVER
6 MILLION
PASSENGERS
PER ANNUM.
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PORTFOLIO
MANAGEMENT

PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT ACTIVITY WITHIN THE GROUP EMBRACES

REFINANCING OF OPERATIONAL PROJECTS, ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

OF PROJECT ASSETS, AND OTHER SECONDARY MARKET ACTIVITY.
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…delivering quality services and

ADDED VALUE
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ACQUISITIONS & DISPOSALS

The Group formed a mergers and acquisitions team in June 2002 as part of its reinforced focus on infrastructure investment,

development and operations.

With over £3 billion currently invested as equity in UK PFI/PPP schemes, and over 500 schemes now signed, the

development of a “secondary market” in project equity has been evident. John Laing has itself played a part in 2 of the 3

significant portfolio transactions involving specialist infrastructure development companies through its 2001 purchase of project

assets developed by Hyder Investments (“Hyder”), the more recent but similar AVL transactions.

In addition to the third transaction of this type (Macquarie Infrastructure’s purchase of Kvaerner Corporate Development in

1999), there are believed to have been a number of off-market portfolio transactions involving third party equity providers and

infrastructure funds. This general trend is likely to increase as sponsors, including the original construction contractors, seek to

recycle the risk capital applied to early stage projects, now operational, in order to participate in further PFI schemes. As with AVL

and Hyder, the development of a secondary market in PFI/PPP projects, can also be fuelled by company restructuring and wider

corporate transactions.

John Laing will continue to examine opportunities for acquiring projects which fit the Group’s sector strategy where they

are available at an appropriate price and where opportunities exist for further value enhancement. In addition, opportunities may

arise for strengthening the operational capacity of the sector focussed subsidiaries.

Equally, profitable opportunities will arise for sale of assets in the secondary market. Where project interests are non-core

to adopted strategy, or where John Laing has held more than 50% of the equity in a project during the early development phases,

the Group may seek to dispose of equity interests. However, as John Laing remains firmly committed to long-term partnership

arrangements in its core public sector markets of roads, rail and accommodation, it is unlikely that equity holdings in relation to

any such projects will be divested in their entirety.

The following acquisitions and disposals have occurred:

Acquisitions

➔ In August 2002 Laing Rail acquired the remaining 15.64% of equity in M40 Trains Limited, operator of the Chiltern

Railways franchise, for a consideration of £5.5 million.

➔ On 21 January 2003 Laing Investments Limited (“LIL”) entered into an agreement to acquire a portfolio of

infrastructure investments from Amey plc. The portfolio consists of 8 infrastructure investments together with a

limited pipeline of ongoing bidding activity. This transaction completed on 14 March 2003. The consideration for

the acquisition of the portfolio, excluding transaction costs, was £29.1 million, paid in cash on completion, and the

assumption of £13.8 million of future equity commitment.

As part of this transaction, John Laing also acquired an optional right to invest equity in a further 5 projects,

should they reach financial close.

Disposals

➔ John Laing’s 20% interest in the Gorodok pipeline project was sold to the Develop Australia Fund for £5.5 million

in October 2002. The asset was originally acquired in June 2000 and the transaction realised a profit on disposal

of £1.2 million.

➔ John Laing sold 9.9% of its interest in Modus Services (Holdings) Limited to Innisfree Limited on 14 March 2003.

This interest was originally acquired with the purchase of Hyder in 2001. Subsequent to this, John Laing and

Innisfree have equal 50% holdings in relation to the Ministry of Defence Main Building refurbishment project.

➔ Negotiations are ongoing with the Greater Manchester Passenger Transport Authority in relation to that authority’s

intention to assume the Manchester Metrolink concession as a paving measure prior to finalisation of its Phase 3

scheme. As reported in the 2001 Report & Accounts, the Midland Metro scheme, although successful in operational

terms, has never generated the passenger volumes predicted at the planning stage and hence has not been

commercially successful. John Laing’s equity interest was fully written off in 2001, and the Group continues to
examine exit options from this project.

REFINANCING

With a substantial portfolio, and 19 of 25 projects operational at 31 December 2002, John Laing seeks to manage the portfolio by

taking advantage of opportunities to refinance projects that have proven revenue performance on the basis of steady state operation.

In the initial phases of PFI/PPP project implementation, sponsoring companies bear considerable risk in relation to delivery

of the underlying assets which will support service delivery over the concession period. Lending terms reflect the fact that no

revenue is available to special purpose companies under the relevant contracts until a service is being delivered to the public

sector counterparty (the hospital trust, education authority, Government agency or department). Once steady state services are

established, the risks of the construction phase have been successfully managed and the opportunity may arise to renegotiate

senior debt terms in order to accelerate the release of cash from the Project Company to the sponsors.

PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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The potential for such refinancing exercises to yield benefits varies according to changes in the lending market and the degree to

which risk premia were factored into the original financing packages provided by lenders. Early UK PFI deals, concluded at a time

when markets were less familiar with the relevant contracting structures, tended to have greater built in allowances for risk, and

hence greater refinancing potential.

Within the industry and with Government, a debate has ensued as to the appropriate distribution of the benefits of

refinancing. The issue is complex as these benefits variously arise from: changes in the broader financial markets; the general

development and bedding in of PFI; and the specific achievements of sponsors that have taken on and successfully delivered

projects under contracts that transfer substantial down side risks to the private sector.

Under standardised contracts new PFI/PPP schemes are being procured with contractual frameworks that provide for a 50:50

sharing of refinancing gains and, subsequent to a process of negotiation between public and private sectors, a Voluntary Code of

Practice was launched by the Office of Government Commerce in relation to earlier schemes. Under the Code of Practice the public

sector will benefit from a 30% share of refinancing gains, notwithstanding any absence of an explicit mechanism in the original contracts.

John Laing fully supports the principle of gain sharing on refinancing and has subscribed to this in practice as part of

refinancing of the M40 Road project in 2001, and the refinancing of 2 further projects during 2002:

➔ JSCSC

The Joint Services Command and Staff College at Shrivenham,Wiltshire, became operational in September 2000 following

a 2 year construction period. Performance during the operational phase has been exemplary, and this enabled a refinancing

exercise to be concluded in June 2002 under which debt margins were reduced and a number of more favourable

commercial terms were negotiated with the lenders. The resulting project debt received an A rating from Standard &

Poors, believed to be a first in relation to a project of this type, and a good indicator of the robust nature of the returns

achievable in a successfully established availability based project.

➔ Severn River Crossing

The Severn River Crossing (“SRC”) was successfully refinanced in December 2002.This was in response to the EU directive

forcing the UK Government to charge VAT on bridge tolls. After discussions with the Highways Agency, a refinancing was

proposed which would allow the tolls to remain the same and for SRC to absorb the cost increase of the VAT. This was

achieved by a refinancing which repaid the SRC preference shares, increased the term and amount of the senior bank debt,

and extended the term of the listed debenture stock slightly.This was a complex refinancing due to the number of parties

involved, and its success can be measured by the fact the motorist will not see tolls rise, the Government has complied

with the EU directive without having to fund the VAT cost as incurred, and SRC retains a robust funding structure.

PORTFOLIO CASH FLOWS

As part of portfolio management and valuation of the portfolio, the future cash flows to John Laing are forecast from the individual

projections of each project. Cash outflows, as shown in the graph below, represent the contractual future investment commitments for

the portfolio of 25 investments. Similarly the cash inflows in the graph below show the predicted cash yields from the existing portfolio.

Both graphs are as at 31 December 2002, and do not include any cash flows for preferred bids (since contracts are not yet signed) or

from the investments in the Amey portfolio (acquired since the year-end). In the case of the cash inflow graph, these cash flows are post

tax on any interest receivable from shareholder loans to Project Companies. Both graphs exclude cash flows associated with overheads,

bid costs, bid recoveries, fee income, or the FM business. The data used for these graphs is consolidated in the table on page 35.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

This principle also applies to the Chiltern Railways operation where the £371 million of expenditure will be funded via a

combination of non-recourse loan (£50 million) to M40 Trains, and operating leases (again non-recourse to John Laing) for rolling

stock and other items of plant (£180 million). Track improvements to date (£60 million) have been funded by Network Rail and are

paid for via increased track access charges. It is anticipated that further track and signaling improvements will be financed using

a Special Purpose Vehicle sponsored by Laing Rail and which is currently under development.

The Group nominates directors for each of the boards of the Project Companies in which it has invested. These Directors

report the performance and risks faced by the Project Companies to the relevant business unit within John Laing.

In addition the Group has instituted the following processes:

➔ Independent approval of investment proposals: All potential project investments are reviewed by

an Investment Committee of the subsidiary company, with a senior and independent membership not

directly associated with that project. Bids are reviewed at each critical stage and significant changes to

concession/franchise terms have also to be approved by this committee.

➔ Regular Independent review of existing Investment performance: The Investment Committee

conducts cyclical in-depth reviews of each project investment.

➔ A Safety working party: This is tasked to monitor safety performance throughout the business

including the safety performance within Project Companies and of their major suppliers/contractors and

acts as the gateway for Board reporting of health and safety performance.

➔ Evaluation of business risks is embedded in project and portfolio management practice: The

Group operates a risk identification and evaluation process with a senior executive designated to oversee

general risk management activities.The risk evaluation process relates specific risks to their potential impact

on achieving business objectives and the development and monitoring of appropriate mitigating actions.

RISK STRUCTURING AND MANAGEMENT ARE FUNDAMENTAL TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS. THE

PFI/PPP PROJECTS IN WHICH JOHN LAING INVESTS ARE STRUCTURED SUCH THAT MOST OF THE

PROJECT RISK IS TRANSFERRED TO THE DESIGN AND BUILD CONTRACTOR AND/OR SERVICE

PROVIDERS. THIS ENABLES THESE PROJECTS TO BE HIGHLY GEARED AND HENCE LIMITS THE

FINANCIAL EXPOSURE TO ANY ONE PROJECT. PROJECTS ARE DELIVERED THROUGH SPECIAL

PURPOSE PROJECT COMPANIES (“PROJECT COMPANY”), AND DEBT FUNDING FOR THE PROJECT

IS CARRIED WITHIN THE PROJECT COMPANIES. JOHN LAING RISK CAPITAL IS INJECTED INTO THE

PROJECT COMPANY IN THE FORM OF EITHER EQUITY OR SUBORDINATED DEBT AND THERE IS NO

RECOURSE BY THE LENDERS TO THE PROJECT COMPANY, OR ANY OTHER PARTIES TO THE

PROJECT, TO JOHN LAING. REPAYMENT OBLIGATIONS IN RESPECT OF THE DEBT RESIDE WITH THE

PROJECT COMPANY ALONE, WHETHER OR NOT THIS IS A SUBSIDIARY OR A JOINT VENTURE. IN

MANY CASES, JOHN LAING’S RISK CAPITAL IS INJECTED FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF

CONSTRUCTION AND IN THESE CIRCUMSTANCES THE COMMITMENT IS BACKED BY A LETTER OF

CREDIT DURING THE CONSTRUCTION PHASE.
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Although many of the risks inherent in projects and their associated operations are laid off within contracted commercial

structures, there remain risks which the Group has to bear. The principal ones are:

➔ Partner Risk: The Group is at risk if a partner – contractor or service provider and, in some

circumstances, co-shareholder – were to fail leading to a default in one or more Project Companies. In such

circumstances the equity investment made in the relevant entities could be in jeopardy. The Group

monitors the performance, both financial and operational of its existing partners on an ongoing basis. New

potential partners are subject to detailed investigation and credit checking. The Group seeks to use a

selection of partners so that reliance on any single one at any time is reduced.

➔ Interest and exchange rate: Within Project Companies these risks are usually ameliorated from the start

using interest rate and currency swaps in a programme agreed with the senior financiers. These hedging

arrangements are carried out within the Project Company itself and are, as with the debt, non-recourse to

the Group. John Laing itself employs a policy of using a mix of fixed and floating rate debt as appropriate.

Exchange risk is hedged if the total currency assets involved represent a significant proportion of Tangible

Net Worth. Foreign currency dividends or interest receivable are generally hedged if significant when the

amounts and timing of the cash flows are certain.

➔ Staff skills: The infrastructure investment business is a new business which requires considerable numbers

of highly skilled and experienced people in the fields of, inter alia, project management, project finance,

financial engineering and modelling, and specific operational skills. Accordingly, the Group places great

emphasis on personnel development, providing opportunities for staff to enhance and acquire skills which

leads to a higher retention of skilled staff. Staff performance and training needs are assessed on a regular

basis and all central staff have a performance related element in their remuneration.

➔ Safety: The Group has several investments in passenger rail businesses. Rail safety is therefore a major

concern.The Group’s major investment in this sector – Chiltern Railways – had the ATP (“Automatic Train

Protection”) system fitted before it was privatised and all new vehicles purchased since 1997 have had this

equipment fitted.All vehicles have been retro fitted with the TPWS warning system as recommended by the

Cullen inquiry. In addition Chiltern has its own dedicated safety team, specialist training and briefing

systems, supported by comprehensive safety planning. Safety matters are subject to a separate reporting

line up to main Board level.

The Group is committed to further improving the control environment and during 2002 instituted a risk management working

group to focus on management practice in this area. As part of its drive to speed the risk management reporting process, the

Group is currently evaluating information technology solutions to assist in the collation, assessment and dissemination of risk

management information.

…Laing is committed to ensuring that the
risk management ethic is central to everyday

BUSINESS PRACTICE
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WE HAVE STRENGTH IN DEPTH IN MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS, SECTOR ANALYSIS AND FINANCIAL

MODELLING. PROJECT & OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEE RELATIONS & DEVELOPMENT

SUPPORT OUR GROWING PORTFOLIO. OPERATING IN A SOLUTION-LED CULTURE, OUR STAFF FOCUS ON

DELIVERING TO HIGH STANDARDS & EXPECTATIONS, AND PAY ACUTE ATTENTION TO CLIENT CARE AND

CUSTOMER RELATIONS.

OUR PEOPLE
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…our talented people
provide the springboard for our

FUTURE GROWTH

DELIVERY OF OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY
AND GROWTH PLANS DEPEND ON OUR STAFF. WE PRIDE OURSELVES
IN HAVING BUILT-UP CAPABILITY IN ALL THE NECESSARY
DISCIPLINES UNDERPINNING OUR ACTIVITIES.
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Following John Laing’s decision, announced in the Chairman’s 2002 Annual General Meeting statement, to give priority to its

infrastructure investment activity, the bid programme of Equion and Laing Roads was expanded. In parallel, as noted earlier, Laing Rail

Projects was set up to capitalise on in-house expertise bridging project financing and implementation of rail enhancement projects.

A notable success following from this move is the Laing Roads (in a 50% joint venture (“JV”) with Skanska) appointment

as preferred bidder for Norway’s E39 £140 million road concession – the first of 3 similar projects being let in this national market.

Other preferred bidder positions progressing towards financial close include Newham Hospital (John Laing 100%) and

Surrey County Council (John Laing 100%). In addition 3 of the 5 pipeline projects included in the AVL acquisition, being 2 street

lighting projects and a Courts project, are programmed to close in 2003. John Laing has rights to take up 50% of the equity in

these projects.

Bidding disappointments this year included the failure of the Modernise consortium to progress in relation to the

Connaught & Allenby Garrisons Project, although the Group has since re-affirmed a preference to avoid competitions involving

extensive exposure to the very largest or most technically complex projects where bidding tends to be protracted. This

disappointment was ameliorated by success of Equion’s proposals in relation to Project Red Dragon at RAF St. Athan.

During the year, the Group’s range of bidding partners was extended. The successful bid for the E39 built on a pre-existing

partnership with Skanska in relation to Finland’s Nelostie toll road. In a separate development, Laing Roads has been examining

the potential for entering Germany’s roads market and is in the process of finalising consortium arrangements. Equion has formed

ExcellCare as a joint venture with HBOS in order to pursue the NHS LIFT programme directed towards area renewal and

improvement of primary health care facilities. ExcellCare has successfully pre-qualified to shortlist stage on 6 of the first schemes

to be put to the market.

John Laing targets a success rate of achieving preferred bidder status on 40% by value of bids submitted at the shortlist

stage of procurement (when 3 or 4 bidders will usually be in contention). The Group is meeting this target under its expanded bid

programme supported by a wider range of preferred partners. External bid costs charged to the profit and loss account in 2002

were £2.3 million, with a further £1.9 million capitalised in the balance sheet (being costs on preferred bids in accordance with

UITF 34). The net overhead for John Laing charged to the profit and loss account was £7.1 million. In addition, £2.8 million of

deferred income was released to the profit and loss account due to previous successful bidding activity.

FUTURE
OPPORTUNITIES

…a strong combination of
operational investments and

FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES

➔ STRONG BIDDING PARTNERSHIPS UNDERPIN EXPANDED BID PROGRAMME

➔ GOOD PROSPECTS IN TARGET SECTORS WITH PREFERRED BIDDER STATUS ACHIEVED ON 10
SCHEMES WITH COMBINED CAPITAL VALUE OF £700 MILLION AND £35 MILLION EQUITY
OPPORTUNITY (AS AT FEBRUARY 2003)

➔ SHORT-LISTED ON A FURTHER 21 BIDS WITH A COMBINED CAPITAL VALUE IN EXCESS OF £1.8
BILLION (AS AT FEBRUARY 2003)
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➔ WITH 25 PROJECTS SIGNED, AND 19 OPERATIONAL JOHN LAING HAS UNIQUE EXPERIENCE OF
PFI/PPP’S CRUCIAL SERVICE DELIVERY PHASE

➔ THE NUMBER OF OPERATIONAL REVENUE EARNING PROJECTS WILL RISE TO 24 EARLY IN 2003

➔ PROJECT PERFORMANCE IN 2002 REINFORCES PROJECTION OF SUSTAINABLE EARNINGS GROWTH

➔ QUALITY OPERATIONS INCREASE OUR COMPETITIVE EDGE AS VALUE FOR MONEY IS
DELIVERED TO OUR PUBLIC SECTOR CLIENTS

➔ JOHN LAING PURSUES BEST ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL PRACTICE IN ORDER TO MINIMISE
WHOLE LIFE COSTS AND OPTIMISE OUR LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIPS

REVIEW OF PROJECT
PERFORMANCE
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1. CHILTERN RAILWAYS
February 2002 saw the signing of a new 20 year franchise agreement that
allowed Chiltern Railway to start implementing its long-term investment
programme for growth and enhanced profitability. Laing Rail also exercised its
option to acquire the remaining 15.64% of shares in the franchise company.

During the year Chiltern increased its fleet size by 6% and added 20%
to its station car park stock (an additional 900 spaces) to cater for growth in
patronage. Passenger satisfaction levels were maintained, with 87% satisfied
with the service – the highest score in the rail industry, and service punctuality
was 88%. As a result of these achievements Chiltern Railway was awarded
“UK Train Operator of the Year” in the HSBC Rail Business Awards for the
second year running.

A joint alliance by Chiltern, Railtrack and the Strategic Rail Authority,
investing £60 million, restored double track between Bicester and Banbury,
and enabled Chiltern to operate 2 trains per hour between London and
Birmingham at weekends when the West Coast Main Line was closed for
major upgrade work.

After 2 years of operation, Warwick Parkway, the station owned by
Laing Rail at the intersection of the A46 and M40 in Warwickshire, is now
generating income significantly ahead of the business plan expectations.

2. CITY GREENWICH LEWISHAM
City Greenwich Lewisham Rail Link plc, the Project Company responsible for
the Lewisham extension to the DLR performed well during the year. Strong
operating cost control and a one-off property disposal enhanced the project
results. Safety performance has been good and the results of the recent rail
safety audit have shown continued improvement.

3. MOD MAIN BUILDING
The construction of the MOD Main Building in Whitehall progressed to plan
during 2002 which will allow fit out and commissioning to proceed during
2003. The re-occupation of the building is due to take place during the
summer of 2004 and the Project Company is working closely with the MOD
to achieve a smooth transition to the new environment.

4. QUEEN ELIZABETH HOSPITAL, GREENWICH
This project in which we bought a 50% share in February 2001 has now
reached the end of the second year of full operation. As this project moves into
a steady operational state the Meridian staff are working closely with the NHS
Trust to review and improve the services provided by the estates management.
In particular following detailed patient surveys the catering menus were
changed and patients have expressed satisfaction with the new meals.

5. M40 DBFO ROAD
The concession has performed well with traffic flow and maintenance
expenditure coming in on plan. No penalty points have been awarded for
operations since commencement in the first quarter of 1997. A new 5 year
“umbrella” major maintenance contract is currently being negotiated.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW OF 1
PROJECT INVESTMENTS BY

CHILTERN RAILWAYS
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6. NORFOLK & NORWICH NHS HOSPITAL
The second phase of the project was completed ahead of schedule and the
departments have been transferred to the new site. A smooth start-up of the
service has been achieved and the project has moved into a steady state
without deduction from the unitary fee. As part of continually reviewing the
service provision, new improved cleaning technology has been introduced to
combat the spread of infection.

7. A130 DBFO ROAD
The Southern Scheme achieved a Permit to Use in February 2003, ahead of
schedule, completing the second phase of the project and moving the
concession into operational phase. The current routine operations and
maintenance contract for the Northern Scheme is operating well, with lane
availability exceeding forecasts, and has been extended to cover the Southern
Scheme. The road is well positioned to take advantage of future traffic growth
although this may be slower than previously expected.

8. METROPOLITAN POLICE STATIONS, SOUTH EAST LONDON
The construction work on the 4 police stations is continuing to programme.
In December 2002 the first of the stations at Deptford was handed over to
the Metropolitan Police on schedule and is now fully operational. Equion
FM personnel staff the front desk and the initial start up of the services has
taken place as planned. The other stations at Bromley, Lewisham and
Sutton will be commissioned during 2003.

9. SEVERN RIVER CROSSING
The SRC was successfully refinanced in December 2002 as part of a solution
allowing the imposition of VAT on tolls to be absorbed by the concession
company. Traffic has been ahead of forecast over the past year.

10. ADELAIDE AIRPORT
Revenue has held up and improved slightly due to the relaxation of the
aeronautical pricing regime by the Australian Government. Management have
been working to improve other revenue sources to counter future downturns
in aviation activity, and a decision on development of a new terminal will be
taken during 2003.
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THE SEVERN RIVER
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VALUATION OF THE
PORTFOLIO

MPS SE.London
MoD Main Building
Nat. Physical Lab.
LU Connect
S.E.E. College
GMPA
Edinburgh Schools
Glasgow Schools
Walsall St.Lighting

N&N Hospital
A130
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Midland Metro
Manchester Metro
Brisbane Air Link
Adelaide Airport
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…consistent valuation methodology,
this year the process has been

INDEPENDENTLY VALIDATED

A DIRECTORS’ VALUATION OF THE PORTFOLIO
HAS BEEN CARRIED OUT ON A CONSISTENT BASIS FOR EACH 6 MONTH
PERIOD SINCE JUNE 2000. THE EXERCISE DOES NOT SEEK TO
ESTABLISH THE MARKET VALUE OF THE ASSETS IN THE PORTFOLIO –
BUT DOES ILLUSTRATE MOVEMENTS IN VALUE BETWEEN PERIODS
THROUGH APPLICATION OF A CONSISTENT METHODOLOGY ON THE
ASSUMPTION THAT INVESTMENTS ARE HELD TO MATURITY.

Value by Sector

24%

31%

10%

35%

Accommodation

Roads

Rail

Utilities
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METHODOLOGY

The valuation process is based on the following 4 methods:

➔ In the majority of cases discounted cash flow analysis (“DCF”) is applied to the future forecast cash flows

to which John Laing as shareholder, or holder of subordinated debt, is entitled.

The exceptions to this are:

➔ Where investments are listed, the closing price on the period end date is used (“market value”).

➔ Where a current independent third party valuation is available this is utilised (“third party valuation”).

➔ Where, in the case of a few investments, there are no long-term financial forecasts available, or where the

value has been written down to zero, current book value is used. (This is the case for Brisbane Airtrain

which was acquired as part of the Hyder Investments acquisition, and Midland Metro, where patronage has

not met expectations) (“book value”).
The majority of our investments have detailed financial forecasts (financial models) which are updated every 6 months by the

Project Companies in line with lenders’ requirements and operational needs. These models are scrutinised to determine the

forecast cash flows to John Laing and a post tax DCF analysis is then applied. Risk capital is subscribed in relation to some

project investments by way of interest bearing loan notes and hence it is appropriate that a notional tax rate of 30% is applied to

the interest receivable on these loans.

No value is ascribed to any proposed extensions of project scope since, whilst their scale and content may be known, and they

may yield substantial additional cash flows, they are not yet contractually certain. Equally no value is derived from planned refinancing

exercises which, while projected as having the impact of accelerating cash release from projects, have yet to reach financial close.

The discount rate used is based on the Group’s post tax weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) which was 7.5% at

the year-end. To this base rate, a risk premium is added dependant on the phase of the project lifecycle. The three defined phases

are: Construction; Ramp Up and Growth. Risk premia of between 2% and 6% are added to the base WACC for each of these

phases. Shareholder cash flows are then discounted back period by period using the appropriate discount rate depending on the

timing of the cash flow.

DECEMBER 2002 VALUATION

While the December valuation has been carried out on the same basis as its predecessors, the calculations underpinning it have

been validated by Ernst & Young in line with a brief requiring them to ensure that the financial analysis used to generate the

valuations is both accurate and in accordance with the adopted valuation methodology. Ernst & Young have not reviewed each

of the projects’ financial forecasts.

The Directors’ valuation as at December 2002 is £215.3 million. This valuation is for the 25 investments in the portfolio at

the year-end and does not include the Amey investments, or any preferred bids.

The weighted average annual discount rate used was 10.5% p.a. To indicate the sensitivity of the investment to discount

rate, the table below shows how a change of discount rate affects the base valuation.

* The change in discount rate is only applied to those investments where the DCF analysis is applied.

VALUATION OF THE PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)

Discount rate* 8.5% 10.5% 12.5%

Valuation – £million 261 215 182

Directors’ Valuation of Portfolio by Revenue Type

48%

19%

7%

26%

Based on Directors’ valuation as at
31 December 2002

Volume

Availability

Shadow toll

Airport
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Analysis of forecast future cash flow by payment mechanism shows how robust payment streams underpin the portfolio valuation.

Availability is the most common of the UK PFI payment mechanisms and provided the service or space is available, payment is

guaranteed by the contracting Government entity. Shadow tolls, because of their banded structure, also mean that revenues are

robust. Volume payment relates to the Chiltern franchise and the SRC Bridge where patronage risk exists. However, in both cases

historical data shows revenue in line with original forecasts for these established operations.

CHANGES IN VALUATION

The valuation of £215.3 million is a reduction in value of £7.8 million since June 2002, and an increase of £13.7 million from

December 2001. Movements in the Directors’ valuation of the portfolio are set out below:

The investments in the year included a small final investment in Norfolk and Norwich NHS Hospital for the additional bed variation,

the investment in the new Chiltern Rail franchise, and the initial investment in the Greater Manchester Police Project (“GMPA”)

which closed in the year.

Acquisitions also includes the £5.5 million purchase of the minority shareholder interests in M40 Trains Limited, the holding

company of Chiltern Railways.

The disposal in the year was the sale of Gorodok pipeline for £5.2 million (net of costs).

Receipts from investments were cash inflows from 6 yielding investments and this includes the receipts from the successful

refinancing of the JSCSC and SRC projects (£7.2 million and £5.2 million inflows respectively in 2002).

The increases in value over the year reflect the progress of those projects still in construction towards start of operations

and the start of cash inflows from operational investments. The signing of the GMPA and the South East Essex projects both

created value.

At 31 December 2002 the Directors’ valuation of £215.3 million was calculated at the following amounts using the 4

methods of valuation described above:

The long-term cash flows by PFI/PPP sector utilised in arriving at the DCF valuation and those for the assets included at third

party valuation are shown below:

LONG-TERM CASH FLOW BY SECTOR (£ MILLION)

Directors’ Directors’
valuation 31 Refinancing Rebased valuation 31

December and 2001 Growth on December
2001 Acquisitions Disposals distributions valuation valuation 2002

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Accommodation 74.1 0.4 – (8.8) 65.7 9.6 75.3
Rail 50.5 12.9 – (4.0) 59.4 7.4 66.8
Roads 50.7 – – (6.3) 44.4 7.2 51.6
Utilities 26.3 – (5.2) – 21.1 0.5 21.6

Total 201.6 13.3 (5.2) (19.1) 190.6 24.7 215.3

Year 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Accommodation 0.5 (21.8) 11.1 12.3 11.3 9.8 8.9 5.0 4.6 5.1 5.5 6.6 7.4 9.0
Roads (2.4) 4.2 3.8 5.2 5.2 4.3 2.3 3.6 4.8 5.5 6.7 13.9 3.2 6.6
Rail 2.0 2.3 2.9 9.4 9.2 8.1 5.6 10.9 12.3 12.0 12.8 15.2 16.7 19.1
Utilities (1.3) (6.5) 2.7 2.0 2.0 1.9 2.1 2.2 2.6 2.9 2.3 2.8 2.3 2.2

Total (1.2) (21.8) 20.5 28.9 27.7 24.1 18.9 21.7 24.3 25.5 27.3 38.5 29.6 36.9

Year 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Accommodation 9.1 11.9 13.8 14.3 17.9 19.6 20.8 22.9 24.1 27.5 34.5 36.1 68.7 21.2
Roads 3.9 5.1 4.1 4.4 3.3 8.0 9.5 14.6 26.0 19.2 12.0 3.8 4.1 2.0
Rail 19.4 20.4 22.0 19.7 11.0 – – – – – – – – –
Utilities 2.1 6.2 3.7 3.7 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.2 – – – – – –

Total 34.5 43.6 43.6 42.1 32.5 27.7 30.6 37.7 50.1 46.7 46.5 39.9 72.8 23.2

2002 2001
£ million £ million

DCF 152.5 177.7
Market value 6.2 5.8
Third party valuation 42.6 –
Book value 14.0 18.1

215.3 201.6
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

THE GROUP HAS REPORTED A LOSS BEFORE TAX OF £18.6 MILLION FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2002 (2001 – LOSS £30.3 MILLION). THE CONTINUING BUSINESSES REPORTED A

PROFIT BEFORE TAX OF £12.3 MILLION AFTER A £5.0 MILLION IMPAIRMENT PROVISION.

RESTRUCTURING AND REFINANCING COSTS CAUSED THE DISCONTINUED BUSINESSES TO REPORT

A LOSS BEFORE TAX OF £30.9 MILLION AFTER ONE OFF EXCEPTIONAL LOSSES OF £33.3 MILLION.

The prior year comparatives throughout this financial review have been restated to reflect adoption of UITF 34
‘Pre-contract costs’ and a changed basis of presentation from fixed asset accounting to finance debtor
accounting in respect of 2 PFI Project Companies acquired in 2001. Application of this policy currently results in
all accommodation projects being accounted for as finance debtors and road projects as fixed assets. The 2001
balance sheet has been restated in compliance with FRS 4 ‘Capital Instruments’ to transfer capitalised debt issue
costs in wholly owned PFI subsidiaries out of debtors and fixed assets to gross non-recourse debt. The impact of
these changes in accounting policies is set out within accounting policy note (a) on page 67. The Group adopted
FRS 19 ‘Deferred Tax’ and this did not give rise to a restatement.

PROFIT AND LOSS SUMMARY

Adrian Ewer
FINANCE DIRECTOR

2002 2001

Continuing Discontinued Total Restated
£ million £ million £ million £ million

Turnover (including joint venture and associates) 444.2 310.8 755.0 1,389.0

Operating profit/(loss) including
joint ventures and associates

Profit/(loss) before exceptional costs 31.9 16.7 48.6 (14.3)
Exceptional reorganisation costs – (2.7) (2.7) (8.7)

31.9 14.0 45.9 (23.0)
Profit on disposal of and amounts written off investments 3.4 0.9 4.3 51.2
Loss on disposal of operations (5.0) (8.8) (13.8) (33.6)

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before interest 30.3 6.1 36.4 (5.4)

Interest
Group interest (net) (1.8) (14.1) (15.9) (16.5)
Joint venture and associate interest (net) (16.2) (0.2) (16.4) (8.4)
Exceptional costs of refinancing – (22.7) (22.7) –

(18.0) (37.0) (55.0) (24.9)

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax 12.3 (30.9) (18.6) (30.3)

The Group has not previously allocated Group interest payable to trading divisions. In order to reflect the current
funding position following the significant restructuring, interest on Group funds has been allocated between
continuing and discontinued operations.
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The interest charge shown under continuing businesses relates to specific interest in PFI Project Companies, the
Group’s share of interest in associated companies and interest on Group funds following the sale of the UK
Housing business. All recourse debt was repaid following the sale of UK Housing and all interest on recourse
debt prior to the sale of UK Housing has accordingly been included under discontinued businesses.

GROUP STRUCTURE

Following the sale of Laing Construction in 2001 the Board recognised that the financial resources of the Group
were not sufficient to grow both the Investments business and the Housing business, both of which required
additional investment to fund future growth. The Group also had an asset realisation programme amounting to
£120 million in order to exist within the bank facilities that were arranged at the time of the sale of Laing
Construction. Having sold the 15% investment in Europistas in the fourth quarter of 2001, the asset disposal
programme was completed through the sale of individual property developments and the sale of the remaining
Property business in April 2002 for £34.3 million.

The Group’s 20% interest in Gorodok Pty Limited, a Project Company holding the licence to operate an
ethane pipeline in Australia, was sold for £5.5 million in October 2002.

On 1 November 2002 the UK Private Housing business was sold to George Wimpey plc for a consideration
of £295.2 million. The Group arranged non-recourse bank facilities of £234.0 million to bridge approximately 90%
of the deferred consideration on this transaction. In order to complete the sale the Group was obliged to repay its
secured debt facilities. This triggered payment of a one off £19.5 million breakage fee to holders of the US$110.0
million fixed interest loan notes and accelerated amortisation of £3.2 million of issue costs.

The Group continues to target disposal of the residual activities related to, but not included in the sale of,
the Construction, Property and Housing businesses. In January 2002 the Access Plant Hire business was sold
to Management for £2.2 million, and in November 2002 Holloway White Allom Limited was sold to Management
for £5.0 million. Discussions are now being held with various parties interested in purchasing the retained
Housing businesses, these being:

Beechcroft Developments Limited
Octagon Developments Limited (30% holding)
John Laing Partnership Limited
WL Homes LLC (22.5% holding, operating in the USA)

On 28 August 2002 the Group purchased the minority shareholders’ 15.64% interest in M40 Trains Limited, the
holding company for the Chiltern Line train operating franchise, for the sum of £5.5 million. The Group now holds
a 100% interest in that company. In addition, the Group paid £1.8 million of deferred consideration to the
previous shareholders in M40 Trains Limited as a result of the successful negotiation of a new 20 year franchise.

EXCEPTIONAL COSTS OF RESTRUCTURING AND REFINANCING

Exceptional costs totalling £33.3 million have been incurred on restructuring the Group. These costs are reported
under discontinued businesses. In addition, £5.0 million of exceptional costs represents the writing down of the
carrying value of Housing businesses, offered for sale, to within the likely range of disposal values.

EXCEPTIONAL PROFITS/(LOSSES) AND ONE OFF CHARGES

2002 2001

Continuing Discontinued Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

Operating costs
Reorganisation costs – (1.7) (1.7) (2.0)
Refinancing costs – (1.0) (1.0) (6.7)

– (2.7) (2.7) (8.7)
Profit on disposal of fixed asset properties – 0.9 0.9 –
Impairment provision on retained UK Housing business (5.0) – (5.0) –
Profit/(loss) on disposals

Laing Construction – – – (33.6)
Access Plant Hire business – (0.7) (0.7) –
Laing Property Developments Limited – 2.2 2.2 –
Laing Homes Limited – (12.0) (12.0) –
Holloway White Allom Limited – 1.7 1.7 –

– (8.8) (8.8) (33.6)

Charged to profit/(loss) before interest (5.0) (10.6) (15.6) (42.3)

Interest
Write off capitalised debt issue costs – (3.2) (3.2) –
Breakage costs on prepayment of US loan notes – (19.5) (19.5) –

– (22.7) (22.7) –

Loss before tax (5.0) (33.3) (38.3) (42.3)



CONTINUING BUSINESSES

The continuing businesses comprise the infrastructure investment business and the retained Housing businesses.
As noted above, these Housing businesses are to be sold, subject to achieving satisfactory terms. In anticipation
of this, and to reflect the likely range of transaction values, an impairment of £5.0 million has been charged to
the profit and loss account.

CONTINUING BUSINESSES – YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002

The Investments performance is explained in detail within the Operating Review on pages 7 to 35. The assets
employed in the Investments business are shown inclusive of PFI Project Company assets of £202.1 million
which are funded by non-recourse debt. This is in respect of the PFI Project Companies in which the Group holds
a controlling interest and which are, therefore, consolidated.

The results of the Investments business include a one off special dividend of £4.2 million from Severn River
Crossing plc following the refinancing of the Project Company. The results also include a one off charge of £1.2
million being the Group’s share of refinancing costs in Defence Management Holdings Limited, following which
the Group received loans and equity distributions from the Project Company totalling £7.2 million.

Net interest of £16.2 million charged against Investments represents the Group’s share of the interest
charged on non-recourse borrowings of PFI Project Companies. Net interest of £2.2 million charged against the
Homes business is in respect of associated undertakings, less interest paid by those entities to Group companies.

The results of the retained Housing businesses were as follows:

PROFIT ON DISPOSAL OF AND AMOUNTS WRITTEN OFF INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS

The profit before interest of the continuing businesses for the year ended 31 December 2002 includes £3.4
million of profits on disposal and amounts written off the value of investments and other fixed assets. Within this,
£2.8 million is a release of prior year provisions against investment values in Project Companies where losses
have now been recognised in the results of joint ventures. A profit of £1.2 million is included from the sale of the
Group’s interest in Gorodok Pty Limited and a loss of £0.7 million on writing down the value of the Group’s
investment in Horizon Energy.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2002 2001

Turnover Profit Turnover Profit
including before including before

joint ventures interest Assets joint ventures interest Assets
and associates and tax employed and associates and tax employed

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Beechcroft 18.2 2.0 34.2 5.7 (0.2) 27.1
Partnership Housing 47.9 0.7 (9.5) 42.3 0.4 (7.3)
Octagon Developments 27.2 3.8 15.9 21.7 2.2 15.2
Overheads – (0.9) – – – –

UK trading 93.3 5.6 40.6 69.7 2.4 35.0
Impairment – (5.0) (5.0) – – –
WL Homes (USA) 94.1 7.2 27.7 169.4 2.8 35.1

Total 187.4 7.8 63.3 239.1 5.2 70.1

Turnover
including Profit

joint ventures before Net Profit Net assets
and associates interest interest before tax employed

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Investments 255.3 31.1 (16.2) 14.9 323.4
Homes – UK trading 93.3 5.6 (0.9) 4.7 40.6

– USA 94.1 7.2 (1.3) 5.9 27.7
– Impairment – (5.0) – (5.0) (5.0)

Property 1.0 0.1 – 0.1 1.2
Group management/general 0.5 (8.7) 0.4 (8.3) (9.0)

Total 444.2 30.3 (18.0) 12.3 378.9



DISCONTINUED BUSINESSES

The results of the discontinued businesses were as follows:

PROVISION FOR RETAINED CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Laing Construction was sold on 23 October 2001. The Group retained liability for completion and final account
settlement on a number of specified contracts. Provision was made in the 2001 results for the estimated costs
to complete these contracts and for the cost of settling related disputes with clients and subcontractors. The
Board is satisfied that the remaining provision of £39.2 million is sufficient to satisfy the Group’s commitment in
respect of all retained construction liabilities.

The National Physical Laboratory contract accounted for approximately one half of the original provision created
in 2001. Good progress has been made in completing the project, with the last of the building modules due to
be handed over to the client during March 2003. Only modest external works and demolition of existing buildings
remains to be completed.

The Group’s insurers are defending a legal action under which the client on the Great Eastern Hotel
management contract is claiming damages of £18.5 million. The Board is of the view that the claim has no
substance.

The Group made provision for rectification of defects at the Cardiff Millennium Stadium contract. The
Board believes it is nearing completion of all known defects but the client has commenced legal proceedings with
regard to the pitch and costs associated with the sliding roof.

Work continues on the Second Severn River Crossing to correct engineering design defects on the
maintenance equipment.

The Board are satisfied that the provisions held against these liabilities are sufficient to cover any adverse
consequences of achieving practical completion and final account settlements.

DISPOSALS

LAING PROPERTY DEVELOPMENTS LIMITED

On 12 April 2002 the Group sold its Property business for an initial consideration of £34.3 million. Of this, £32.4
million was received in cash on completion and a further £1.9 million will be received by October 2003.
Conditional consideration of up to £4.4 million may be received subject to the granting of third party consents
relating to certain property developments. None of the conditional consideration has been reflected in the
reported results.

Prior to the disposal of the Property business, selected developments were sold on an individual basis for
a total sum of £15.4 million. The profit on these disposals, less overheads and other operating costs, amounted
to £4.6 million.

The Group has no ongoing property interests of any significance apart from the conditional consideration
on the disposal of the Property business.
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2002 2001
£ million £ million

Provision at 1 January 57.0 –
New provisions created in year 2.8 74.7
Provisions released in year (5.5) –
Provisions utilised (15.1) (17.7)

Provision at 31 December 39.2 57.0

Operating Profit on Profit/ Interest
profit on sale of Profit/ (loss) and
ordinary fixed (loss) on before refinancing Profit

Turnover activities assets sale interest cost before tax
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Construction – 0.8 – (0.7) 0.1 0.8 0.9
Property 42.1 3.2 0.9 3.9 8.0 (0.2) 7.8
Homes 268.7 17.4 – (12.0) 5.4 – 5.4
Group management/general – (7.4) – – (7.4) – (7.4)
Exceptional refinancing costs – – – – – (22.7) (22.7)
Group interest – – – – – (14.9) (14.9)

Total 310.8 14.0 0.9 (8.8) 6.1 (37.0) (30.9)



LAING HOMES LIMITED

Laing Homes Limited was sold to George Wimpey plc on 1 November 2002. Prior to the sale, the business
achieved a profit of £17.4 million. The sale consideration was £295.2 million, representing a premium to
operating asset value of £9.0 million. An amount of £30.0 million was paid on completion, £50.0 million on
31 December 2002, with a further £215.2 million to be received against a predetermined payment schedule. A
non-recourse bridging loan of £234.0 million was arranged and fully drawn on completion, to be repaid only out
of the proceeds from the deferred consideration.

For the purpose of establishing the loss on sale, the deferred consideration has been discounted to net
present value. The discount amounted to £8.4 million. The costs of the disposal were £7.2 million.

LOSS ON SALE OF LAING HOMES LIMITED

An accrual of £6.3 million has been charged to the loss on disposal to reflect the estimated additional pension
fund contributions that the Group will have to make under the terms of the sale and purchase agreement in order
to augment the share of fund transfer value to the George Wimpey scheme and a 12 month period of adherence.

ACCESS PLANT HIRE BUSINESS

The assets of the Access Plant Hire operation were sold to Management on 18 January 2002. Cash
consideration of £2.2 million was received on completion, giving rise to a loss on sale of £0.7 million after costs.

GORODOK PTY LIMITED

On 10 October 2002 the group sold its 20% interest in Gorodok Pty Limited, the Project Company holding a
license to operate a pipeline carrying ethane from Moomba to Sydney in Australia. The sale consideration was
£5.5 million, realising a profit on sale of £1.2 million after costs.

HOLLOWAY WHITE ALLOM LIMITED

The Group sold its interest in Holloway White Allom Limited to the Management on 5 November 2002. Cash
consideration of £5.0 million was received on completion, giving rise to a profit on sale of £1.7 million after costs
of £0.3 million.

EXCEPTIONAL REFINANCING COST

The sale of Laing Homes Limited was dependent upon the Group prepaying its secured debt facilities in full.
These facilities had been arranged as part of the financial rescue package at the time of the disposal of Laing
Construction and the £76.5 million rights issue in October 2001. The terms of that debt were punitive and
imposed operational constraints. As a consequence of the prepayment, and as previously indicated, the Group
incurred breakage costs of £19.5 million on the fixed interest US$110.0 million loan notes. The capitalised issue
costs of £3.2 million on the retiring debt have been written off in 2002.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

£ million

Premium over operating asset value 9.0
Non-operating liabilities released 0.9
Discount on deferred consideration (8.4)
An accrual to supplement pension contributions and transfer values (6.3)
Costs of disposal (7.2)

Net loss on sale (12.0)



PENSION ACCOUNTING AND FUNDING

Accounting

The Group continues to adopt SSAP 24 in respect of accounting for post retirement benefits. In accordance with
FRS 17 transitional arrangements, full disclosure of the FRS 17 financial implications are set out in note 5. The
Accounting Standards Board has deferred the mandatory adoption of FRS 17 to 2005.

Since the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes have historically been in actuarial surplus, a SSAP 24
pension prepayment of £27.5 million was brought forward at 1 January 2002. Events in 2002, including the falling
value of equities and deterioration in actuarial assumptions, have resulted in a SSAP 24 deficit of £116.0 million
at 31 December 2002 but the deficit is to be recognised over the average remaining working lives of active
members of the schemes, i.e. 15 years in respect of the main scheme. Application of SSAP 24 therefore results
in a charge to the profit and loss account of £9.1 million for 2002 and the carrying forward of a prepayment of
£19.4 million in the balance sheet at 31 December 2002. Because SSAP 24 recognises an interest credit or
charge on the surplus or deficit at the beginning of the year, the SSAP 24 charge for 2003 will include a
significant notional interest cost, regardless of whether or not there is a continuing deficit at the end of the year.
The SSAP 24 charge for 2003 is estimated to be approximately £18.8 million.

Under FRS 17 the net pension charge to the profit and loss account for 2002 would have been £2.8
million. The estimate of the FRS 17 pension charge for 2003 is approximately £8.0 million. FRS 17 requires the
pension fund deficit to be introduced to the balance sheet and this would have reduced the Group’s net assets
by £100.0 million as at 31 December 2002 after crediting associated deferred tax. The deficit would be
introduced to the balance sheet through the Statement of Recognised Gains and Losses (see note 5 part B(ix)).

The Board intends to adopt FRS 17 in 2003. This will align the pension charge more closely to the active
membership of the pension schemes which is relatively low following the restructuring of the Group. The
introduction of FRS 17 has a potentially negative impact on distributable reserves. The Board is recommending
shareholders to approve a capital reduction which, subject to court approval, will enable the share premium
account balance of £82.8 million to be set against any FRS 17 deficit.

Funding

The Group has not contributed to the John Laing defined benefit pension schemes for a period of 8 years,
during which the actuarial assessment indicated a significant surplus of asset values over liabilities. The Group
recommenced contributions from 1 January 2003, based on actuarial advice, at a minimum level of 18% of
pensionable salaries and intends to pay additional contributions of approximately £4.0 million per annum taking
the total contributions up to around £6.5 million in response to the current actuarial deficit. Contributions of
£1.0 million were paid into the Chiltern Railway pension schemes in 2002 and this will increase by a modest
amount in 2003.

The Trustees of the main defined benefit schemes are aware of the Group’s funding intentions. At
31 December 2002 the scheme assets represented approximately 115% of the Minimum Funding Requirement
as prescribed by pensions legislation.

POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS – CHARGE FOR THE YEAR TO 31 DECEMBER 2002

A SSAP 24 charge has also been included for the provision of post retirement medical benefits.
The net charge included in the 2002 profit and loss account for post retirement benefits was £10.6 million.

In addition to the SSAP 24 charge, provision has been made for supplementing pension contributions and
transfer values in respect of staff who are expected to transfer to the George Wimpey plc schemes on or before
31 October 2003.
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2002 2001
£ million £ million

Additional SSAP 24 pension charge (9.1) (0.5)
SSAP 24 medical insurance charge (1.5) (0.2)

Total charge to the profit and loss account (10.6) (0.7)

Cost of Laing Homes Limited period of adherence (1.3) –
Accrual to supplement transfer value of Laing Homes staff (5.0) –

Total pension related cost to the Group (16.9) (0.7)



INTEREST

The net interest charge for the year to 31 December 2002 was £55.0 million, including exceptional charges of
£22.7 million arising on the prepayment of debt following the sale of Laing Homes Limited.

NET INTEREST CHARGES

The interest on Group debt reflects the levels of average net debt prior to the sale of Laing Homes Limited on
1 November 2002. The Group was paying premium rates of interest prior to that date, at 300 basis points above
base rates on core syndicated facilities and at an average of 11.9% on US$ 110.0 million loan notes. Sterling
base rates remained at 4.0% throughout 2002. All existing debt facilities were prepaid and cancelled on the sale
of Laing Homes Limited and new facilities were arranged. The rate of interest payable on the new facilities is 175
basis points over base rate. There were no outstanding borrowings under these facilities at 31 December 2002.

The Group arranged a non-recourse bridging facility of £234.0 million on the sale of Laing Homes Limited.
The average interest rate charged on drawings under this facility was fixed at 5.22% but is wholly offset by
releasing the discount against the deferred consideration receivable from George Wimpey plc.

TAXATION

The Group tax charge for the year to 31 December 2002 was £5.8 million (2001 – £11.7 million). The charge
arises principally on the Group’s share of taxable profits in joint ventures and associates. The Group has
significant tax losses carried forward to shelter profits from the same trade in future years. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of these losses. The Group is currently able to take advantage of exemption from
capital gains tax on substantial shareholdings.

The tax assessed differs substantially from the application of the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
(30%) to the Group’s accounting loss before taxation. This is principally caused by losses on which no deferred
tax asset has been recognised and by differential effective tax rate on the Group’s share of profits of joint ventures
and associates. A detailed tax reconciliation is set out in note 9.

FINANCING

During the year, the Group prepaid its existing secured debt and US loan notes. A total of £197.6 million was
prepaid and all related facilities were cancelled.

The Group has arranged new unsecured debt facilities of £90.0 million and has overdraft facilities of £5.0
million and other bilateral facilities of £25.0 million. Letters of credit have been issued out of these facilities in
support of the Group’s £48.0 million commitment to provide equity to PFI Project Companies on completion of
construction.

At 31 December 2002 the Group had net cash deposits of £69.5 million (2001 – net recourse debt £167.4
million). In addition, the consolidated balance sheet includes non-recourse debt of £405.8 million. This comprises
non-recourse deferred consideration bridge finance of £181.5 million which is secured against the receivable
from George Wimpey plc, and the non-recourse debt of the PFI Project Companies in which the Group holds a
controlling interest. At 31 December 2002 the non-recourse debt consolidated in respect of PFI Project
Companies was £224.3 million (2001 – £113.9 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

2002 2001
£ million £ million

On Group debt and cash deposits (11.3) (11.6)
On debt of PFI project subsidiaries (non-recourse) (4.0) (4.1)
On joint venture debt and cash deposits (non-recourse) (13.4) (5.9)
On associated undertakings’ debt and cash deposits (non-recourse) (3.0) (2.5)
Amortisation of capitalised debt issue costs (0.6) (0.6)
Write off of capitalised issue costs on debt prepaid in the year (3.2) –
Exceptional breakage costs on prepayment of US$ loan notes (19.5) (0.2)

Net interest charges (55.0) (24.9)



GROUP FUNDS

The interest cost on consolidated non-recourse borrowings shown above, and those of PFI joint ventures, are
largely fixed using interest rate swaps.

The increase in non-recourse Project Company debt reflects the successful closing of two further projects
and the funding of construction costs in PFI Project Companies as they progress towards practical completion.

The change in recourse funding from net debt of £167.4 million to net cash of £69.5 million has been
achieved primarily as a result of completing the £120 million asset disposal programme that was targeted
following the sale of Laing Construction in 2001 and from the proceeds of the sale of Laing Homes Limited. Prior
to the sale of Laing Homes Limited the working capital requirement of the UK Housing business increased by
around £50 million and refinancing costs of £22.7 million were incurred as a consequence of the refinancing that
accompanied the sale.

The Group has completed the acquisition of a portfolio of infrastructure assets from Amey plc on 14 March
2003. The cash consideration of £29.1 million has been satisfied out of existing cash resources.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Group operates a policy of hedging against significant balance sheet exposures to foreign currency
fluctuations where a cost effective and efficient hedging instrument is available. The Group’s investment in
overseas assets has reduced during the year to levels that are unlikely to result in significant adverse currency
fluctuations and the Board has therefore endorsed a decision to remain unhedged. The position is reviewed by
the Board on a regular basis. At 31 December 2002 the book value of overseas assets amounted to £48.6 million
(2001 – £21.2 million).

The Group seeks to cover significant transactional exposures arising from receipts and payments in
foreign currencies, where appropriate and cost effective. The present operations of the Group do not involve
significant foreign currency transactions.

A J H Ewer
FINANCE DIRECTOR
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2002 2001

Non- Non-
Recourse recourse Total Recourse recourse Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

Cash at bank and deposits 71.9 22.2 94.1 25.0 8.8 33.8
Loans repayable within 1 year (2.4) (199.5) (201.9) (8.5) – (8.5)
Loans repayable after more than 1 year – (206.3) (206.3) (183.9) (113.9) (297.8)

Total net cash/(debt) 69.5 (383.6) (314.1) (167.4) (105.1) (272.5)
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The Directors submit their Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2002 which they approved on 17 March 2003.

R E S U LT  A N D  D I V I D E N D S

The loss before taxation and minority interests for the year was £18.6 million (2001 – £30.3 million). After taxation and minority

interests the loss attr ibutable to shareholders was £24.2 million (2001 – £42.6 million).

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 4.8 pence per Ordinar y Share to be paid on 1 July 2003 to shareholders whose names

appear on the register at the close of business on 28 March 2003.

With the inter im dividend of 2.0 pence per share paid on 1 November 2002 the total dividend for the year is 6.8 pence per share.

R E V I E W  O F  B U S I N E S S  D E V E L O P M E N T S

A commentar y on events during the year and on the development of the business are given in the Chairman’s Statement and in the

Operating and Financial Review.

G RO U P  AC T I V I T I E S

Following the completion of the Laing Homes Limited disposal, John Laing plc is a focused developer, operator and owner of pr ivately

financed infrastructure projects in the growing UK and overseas markets.

D I R E C TO R S

The Directors during the year were:

W W Forrester – appointed 1 Januar y 2002

A J H Ewer

A E Friend

T G Boatman – appointed 15 April 2002

Sir Martin Laing

P M C Meredith – appointed 1 June 2002

The Baroness Noakes – appointed 1 June 2002

D Ardern – resigned 31 May 2002

B O Chilver – resigned 30 June 2002

P J Harper – resigned 30 June 2002

The Rt. Hon Lord Howell – resigned 15 April 2002

R S Lidgate – resigned 1 November 2002

R A Wood – retired 31 Januar y 2002

Sir Martin Laing retired as Chairman on 31 Januar y 2002, but remains as a non-executive Director. W W Forrester was appointed a

Director from 1 Januar y 2002 and Executive Chairman from 1 Februar y 2002.

The Directors retir ing by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association are A J H Ewer and A E Fr iend who, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.

The ser vice contracts of A J H Ewer and A E Fr iend are terminable on one year’s notice from the Company.

P M C Meredith and The Baroness Noakes, having been appointed subsequent to the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), retire in

accordance with the Articles of Association and, being eligible, offer themselves for election. Each has a ser vice contract terminable on

three months’ notice from the Company.

Biographical details of Directors offer ing themselves for election and re-election are shown on page 5.
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D I R E C TO R S ’ I N T E R E S T S

S H A R E S

The number of shares of the Company in which each Director of the Company is deemed to hold an interest is shown below in

accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985, and includes family interests and holdings in which Directors are

interested solely as Trustees.

At 31 December 2002 At 1 January 2002
6.4% 6.4%

Convertible Conver tible
Cumulative Cumulative

Ordinary Preference Ordinar y Preference
Shares Shares Shares Shares

25p each £1 each 25p each £1 each
————————————————————————————

BENEFICIAL

W W Forrester 50,000 – – –

A J H Ewer 46,711 – 46,711 –

A E Friend 6,786 – 6,786 –

T G Boatman 500 – – –

Sir Mar tin Laing 1,224,533 154,067 1,224,533 154,067

P M C Meredith 500 – – –

The Baroness Noakes 500 – – –

AS TRUSTEE (NON-BENEFICIAL)

Sir Mar tin Laing 4,055,729 500,000 4,626,346 500,000
————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

For details on Directors’ Share Options and awards under the John Laing Long-Term Incentive Plan refer page 55 in the Directors’

Remuneration Report.

S U B S TA N T I A L  S H A R E H O L D I N G S

As at 14 March 2003, the Directors had received the following notifications of substantial interests in the shares of the Company.

Ordinary
Shares

25p each %
———————————————

AMVESCAP PLC 35,069,864 19.85

Schroders plc 20,951,437 11.86

Merrill Lynch Investment Managers Limited 15,076,164 8.53

Kirby Laing Principal Trust 9,139,744 5.17

The Shell Petroleum Company Limited 6,962,692 3.94

Invesco Perpetual UK Growth Fund 6,246,251 3.54

R. O’Rourke & Son Limited 5,500,000 3.11

Legal and General Investment Management Limited 5,466,068 3.09
——————————————————————————————
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E M P L OY E E S

The Group seeks to ensure employee commitment to its objectives in a number of ways. Strategic changes are communicated directly to

all staff and resultant queries handled by the business head or executive Director as appropriate. Regular team briefings at local level

provide employees with information about the performance of and initiatives in their part of the business. A wide range of information is

also communicated across the Group’s Intranet, including the e-publication of the Group’s financial results and all press releases.

A Savings Related Share Option Scheme provides the opportunity for employees to become shareholders. The last invitation under this

scheme matured on 1 Februar y 2002.

The framework within which decisions about people are made is set out in the Group’s personnel policy which is published in the staff

handbook. It is part of that policy to employ and train disabled people whenever their skills and qualifications allow and when suitable

vacancies are available. If existing employees become disabled, ever y effort is made to find them appropriate work and training is

provided if necessar y.

P O L I T I C A L  A N D  C H A R I TA B L E  C O N T R I B U T I O N S

No contr ibutions were made by the Group to any political party. Charitable contr ibutions made during the year by the Company and its

subsidiar ies amounted to £13,795 (2001 – £6,670).

PAY M E N T  P O L I C Y

The Group is a registered supporter of the CBI Prompt Payers Code of Good Practice. Payment terms are clear ly stated in contracts

between Group companies and their suppliers or subcontractors from the outset. The Group has a consistent policy to pay in accordance

with the contracted terms, provided the supplier is also complying with all the relevant terms of the contract. More information about the

Code may be obtained from the CBI. The number of days’ billings from suppliers outstanding to the Group at 31 December 2002 was 43

days (2001 – 57 days). The Company does not carr y on a trade.

AU D I TO R S

The Company’s auditors , KPMG Audit Plc , are willing to continue in office and a resolution concerning their reappointment in accordance

with Section 385 of the Companies Act 1985 is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

W W Forrester
Executive Chairman

17 March 2003
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T H E  R E M U N E R AT I O N  C O M M I T T E E  ( T H E  “ C O M M I T T E E ” )

The Committee comprises all the non-executive Directors of the Group. The Committee has scheduled meetings 4 times a year, and

meets additionally as circumstances require. The composition of the Committee has changed through the year and the members and their

period of ser vice are set out below:

P J Harper (Former Chairman) Januar y 2002 – resigned June 2002

The Rt. Hon Lord Howell Januar y 2002 – resigned March 2002

B O Chilver Januar y 2002 – resigned June 2002

T G Boatman appointed May 2002

Sir Martin Laing appointed Februar y 2002

P M C Meredith (Chairman) appointed June 2002

The Baroness Noakes appointed June 2002

Whilst the Executive Chairman is not a member of the Committee, he attends the meetings by invitation but is not present when his

personal remuneration is discussed and reviewed. Sir Martin Laing was Chairman up to 31 Januar y 2002. W W Forrester was appointed

Executive Chairman from 1 Februar y 2002. The Group Director of Human Resources, A J Emerson, attends in an advisor y capacity and

acts as Secretar y.

The recommendations of the Committee have been accepted by the Board without substantial amendment.

During the year professional advice was sought from the following external consultants, and other ser vices provided by them to the

Group during the financial year are shown in brackets.

• Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer (also advisors in the sale of the Access Plant Hire Business)

• Linklaters & Alliance (also letters of appointment for non-executive Directors and share plans in general)

• Towers Perr in (also actuaries to The John Laing Pension Fund and John Laing Pension Plan)

• Pinsent Curtis Biddle (also advisors in the sale of Laing Homes Limited)

The Committee has authority to appoint professional advisors .

Only Towers Perr in are formally appointed independent professional advisors to the Committee. The others provided advice on specific

matters ar ising. These advisors provided ser vices to the Group only as identified above. The Committee is also provided with information

and data from national sur veys on executive pay and conditions provided by Towers Perr in.

R E M U N E R AT I O N  P O L I C Y

The Committee sets the overall remuneration policy for executive Directors and makes recommendations to the Board on these matters .

Remuneration and benefits are set at market levels comparable with companies of similar size and scope of activity in order to be able

to attract, retain and motivate high calibre individuals . In view of the Group’s strategic change in direction, attention is focussed on re-

establishing appropriate market benchmarks during 2003. The 2003 review of basic pay for A J H Ewer and A E Fr iend led to increases

broadly in line with inflation. The variable pay elements for 2003 are yet to be finalised, but will draw on available benchmarking data.

The remuneration and benefits package for the Executive Chairman, W W Forrester, was set upon appointment and consists of basic

salar y, an Executive Share Option Scheme, car allowance and fuel card, and provision of a health insurance scheme. None of the items are

subject to review or pensionable. Entitlements under the Executive Share Option Scheme are subject to the achievement of a performance

condition (details page 50). Full details of W W Forrester’s 2002 share grant is given under the Share Options section.

The main components of the remuneration package for A J H Ewer and A E Fr iend are basic salar y, annual cash bonus, a Long-Term

Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), membership of a pension scheme, car allowance and fuel card, and provision of a health insurance scheme. These

components also applied to D Ardern, Sir Martin Laing, R S Lidgate and R A Wood for the periods each was employed as executive

Directors during 2002, save that a company car was provided instead of car allowance for some. Entitlements under the LTIP are subject

to the achievement of a performance condition (details page 55). Full details of the LTIP awards are given under the Long-Term Incentive

Scheme section.

The Board as a whole determines the non-executive Directors’ fees and these are reviewed in alternate years. These fees are set at a level

which will attract individuals with the necessar y experience and ability to make a significant contribution to the affairs of the Group and are

benchmarked with available market data. The Group pays a fixed fee to each non-executive, irrespective of whether they chair committees.
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R E M U N E R AT I O N  C O M P O N E N T S

BASIC SALARY
Salar ies for executive Directors take account of external market data, the individual’s responsibilities , experience, and performance and

are reviewed annually. Executive Directors have role-specific financial and strategic personal objectives. When the Committee reviews the

salar ies of executive Directors it assesses performance against these personal objectives in the context of external market rates.

BENEFITS IN KIND AND ALLOWANCES
Benefits in kind comprise membership of pr ivate health insurance (provided by BUPA) and provision of a fuel card for business and

personal purposes. The Group has implemented a strategy of moving away from the company car, and in its place provides a taxable car

allowance. This policy applies Group-wide. The level of car allowances is reviewed periodically.

These benefits are in line with those offered by peer group companies and to other middle and senior managers in the Group. None of

these form part of pensionable earnings.

ANNUAL CASH BONUS ARRANGEMENTS
The executive Directors participate in a performance related scheme that focuses on annual financial objectives for the business. The

financial targets are reviewed and set annually by the Committee and ratified by the Board. The arrangement in 2002 for executive

Directors was tr iggered by achievement of specified pre-tax profit (excluding exceptional items) and provides for a maximum bonus of

60% of basic salar y. The bonuses for the executive Directors are paid in March of the year following the full financial year, and after the

results have been audited. Details of the payments to executive Directors are included in the Directors’ Remuneration table on page 51.

SPECIAL INCENTIVES
For executive Directors who are tasked with delivering major corporate transactions the Group may consider it appropriate to provide a special

incentive over and above the annual bonus arrangement. In such cases reward is linked to pre-determined transaction value levels to ensure the

performance related nature of such reward, as opposed to a straight transaction bonus. During the period under review D Arden received a

payment of £1.0 million based on the consideration achieved on the sale of Laing Property Developments Limited in April 2002. R S Lidgate

received a payment of £0.72 million based upon the consideration achieved on the sale of Laing Homes Limited on 1 November 2002.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS
With the exception of the Executive Chairman, the executive Directors are in a senior executive pension scheme which is a non-

contr ibutor y, funded, tax approved and defined benefit pension arrangement. The executive Directors’ pensionable pay is limited by the

earnings cap provisions of the Finance Act 1989. In such cases the Group pays the Director a salar y supplement above the earnings cap

to reflect the loss of pension coverage. This supplement is recorded in the Directors’ remuneration and is not taken into account in

making bonuses or any other form of remuneration. Details of the individual Directors’ pension arrangements are shown in a separate

table below. The Executive Chairman is not a member of any Group pension arrangement, nor does he receive any remuneration in lieu.

SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Group’s policy is for all executive Directors to have contracts of employment that terminate on the attainment of normal retirement

age of 60. In order to mitigate its liability on ear ly termination, the Group’s policy is that it should be able to terminate such contracts on

no more than 12 months notice, and that payments for loss of executive office are restr icted to the value of salar y and other contractual

entitlements for the notice period. R S Lidgate, R A Wood and Sir Martin Laing were on contracts with 2 year notice periods but following

their departure all ser ving executive Directors had 12 month notice periods.

A J H Ewer has a contract effective from 1 July 1991 that expires on his normal retirement date of 19 September 2013. A E Fr iend has

a contract effective from 31 August 1999 that expires on his normal retirement date of 25 June 2012. The contract for W W Forrester,

Executive Chairman, was effective from 1 Januar y 2002 (appointed Executive Chairman with effect from 1 Februar y 2002) and

automatically terminates on his 65th birthday on 29 July 2005 and may be terminated ear lier than this with 12 months notice. A J H

Ewer and A E Friend may terminate their contracts upon 6 months notice, and W W Forrester upon 12 months notice.

The non-executive Directors do not have ser vice contracts but letters of appointment. They do not participate in the Group’s annual cash

bonus scheme, its Long-Term Incentive Plan or Share Option Plan, nor its pension arrangements and, except for Sir Martin Laing, they do

not receive any benefits in kind. Sir Martin Laing, who is not deemed to be independent, receives private health insurance. The Group is

obliged to give 3 months notice to terminate the appointment of a non-executive Director.
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R E M U N E R AT I O N  C O M P O N E N T S  ( cont inued)

EXECUTIVE SHARE OPTION PLAN
At the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) held on 15 May 2002 the shareholders approved a new Executive Share Option Scheme called

The John Laing plc Executive Share Option Scheme 2002 (the “Option Plan”). This provides for option grants of up to and not normally

beyond 100% of basic salar y subject to the achievement of performance targets. The first grant under the Option Plan was made in

2002 using the measure and targets agreed by the shareholders; earnings per share (“EPS”). As a major strategic change was taking

place in the Group, which included the Group changing FTSE sector, EPS was considered the most appropriate measure during this

transition in that it is closely linked to shareholder interests and gives transparency. No options were granted to executive Directors under

the Option Plan in 2002, since they participated in the Group’s Long-Term Incentive Plan. Option grants were made to other senior

executives in 2002.

The EPS performance condition requires the Group’s growth in EPS over 3 consecutive financial years to be at least 60% more than the

increase in the Retail Pr ice Index (“RPI”) over the same period in order to allow options to be exercised in full. Options will be

exercisable to a lesser extent if the growth in EPS is at least 12% more than the increase in RPI i.e. the ‘threshold’ performance. If the

performance condition is not satisfied at the end of the first 3 year period, it will be re-measured annually, from the or iginal base.

Options will lapse if the performance condition is not satisfied by the end of the sixth year. EPS is calculated as follows:

Profit after tax attr ibutable to ordinar y shareholders

Fully diluted weighted average number of shares in issue for the relevant period

and based on figures shown in the Group’s annual accounts each year. The EPS base for share grants and awards made in 2002 is 16.5p.

EPS performance will be calculated by determining the EPS performance for each performance year taking the base EPS at the start of each

performance year. The cumulative EPS earnings over a 3 year period will determine whether options are exercisable and to what extent.

In line with his appointment terms and market practice the Executive Chairman received an option grant on 18 Januar y 2002. The

performance condition applying to this option is relative total shareholder return (“TSR”); the option may not be exercised unless the

TSR of the Group ranks in the top quartile of the TSR of all the companies comprised in the comparator group, namely all the Ster ling

denominated companies in the Construction and Building Materials and Support Ser vices sectors of the Financial Times All Share Index,

over a performance period from 1 Januar y 2002 to 31 December 2004. The share grant was made under a one off agreement – there

being no Executive Share Option Plan in place at the time.

The performance condition(s) for all share options are set by the Committee so as to be challenging and incentivising performance hurdles.

The Group also has a Share Option Plan (known as The John Laing Senior Executive Share Option Scheme), granting options selectively to

Directors and senior executives under the terms of an Inland Revenue approved scheme within the provisions of the Finance Act 1984.

The final grant of options under that scheme was made in 1996. In line with market practice at that time the vesting of these options

was not subject to performance conditions. No executive Directors have an interest in this scheme although there are currently 111,092

options outstanding which are capable of being exercised by other senior executives.

At the AGM in 2002 the Group said it was not its present intention to grant options to executives (including Directors) who participate

in the Group’s Long-Term Incentive Plan. This was the case in 2002. The review of executive remuneration now taking place will reassess

the approach.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
Under the John Laing Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) approved by shareholders in 2001, conditional awards were made to the

executive Directors and other senior executives in 2002. The awards are conditional upon the same performance condition that applies

to the 2002 Share Option grant; EPS. The threshold for EPS is RPI plus 4% compound per annum which would tr igger an award of 25%

of basic salar y. The maximum performance for EPS is RPI plus 20% compound per annum which would tr igger an award of 75% of basic

salar y. Performance between threshold and maximum is straight line apportionment.

In 2002 all executive Directors waived their 2001 LTIP awards without compensation to provide a platform to broaden share ownership

amongst senior and other managers as part of the long-term remuneration strategy.

The executive Chairman’s remuneration includes one long-term performance related element, i.e. share options. The executive Directors’

remuneration contains a 12 month annual cash bonus arrangement, and long-term incentives through the LTIP and possibly in future also

through share options. The non-executive Directors have no performance related element to their remuneration.
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T S R P E R F O R M A N C E  G R A P H

The following graph charts the total cumulative shareholder return of the Group since 1 Januar y 1998.

H I S TO R I C A L  T S R  P E R F O R M A N C E  G ROW T H  I N  T H E  VA L U E  O F  A  H Y P OT H E T I C A L  £ 1 0 0  H O L D I N G  OV E R  F I V E  Y E A R S

F T S E  2 5 0  ( E X C L U D I N G  I N V E S T M E N T  C O M PA N I E S )  C O M PA R I S O N  B A S E D  O N  3 0  T R A D I N G  D AY  AV E R AG E  VA L U E S

The Group has not remained in the same sector of the Financial Times All Share Index over the last 5 years. Therefore the Group

considers it more appropriate to use the FTSE 250 index to provide a consistent basis for performance assessment. The FTSE 250 index

is currently believed to be the most relevant index going forward.

The following information, pages 51 to 55, has been audited.

D I R E C TO R S ’ R E M U N E R AT I O N

Salary Benefits Contractural Total Pension Pension Gain on exercise of
& & Pension payments for 2001 2002 2001 Share options

fees Bonus allowances supplement Subtotal loss of office Total 2002 Restated(13) Restated(13) 2002 2001
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

—————————————————————————————————————————————————————————
W W Forrester(1) 300,000 – 17,856 – 317,856 – 317,856 – – – – –

A J H Ewer 283,000 169,800 16,653 52,150 521,603 – 521,603 315,789 17,496 8,505 – –

A E Friend(2) 280,000 168,000 18,399 51,310 517,709 – 517,709 174,271 17,496 6,440 – –

T G Boatman(3) 22,007 – – – 22,007 – 22,007 – – – – –

Sir Martin Laing(4) 62,500 – 2,521 – 65,021 – 65,021 426,180 5,475 32,850 – 153,425

P M C Meredith(5) 20,416 – – – 20,416 – 20,416 – – – – –

The Baroness Noakes(5) 20,416 – – – 20,416 – 20,416 – – – – –

D Ardern(6) 95,833 1,000,000 8,852 15,619 1,120,304 340,120 1,460,424 247,088 7,290 8,505 – –

B O Chilver(7) 15,000 – 1,170 – 16,170 30,000 46,170 32,308 – – – –

P J Harper(7) 15,000 – – – 15,000 30,000 45,000 30,000 – – – –

The Rt. Hon Lord Howell(8) 10,000 – – – 10,000 30,000 40,000 30,000 – – – –

R S Lidgate(9) 301,428 900,000 17,323 61,738 1,280,489 710,498 1,990,987 351,103 14,580 8,505 – –

R A Wood(10) 32,923 – 87 – 33,010 – 33,010 713,230 5,926 33,750 – –
——————————————————————————————————————
3,960,001 5,100,619 2,319,969 68,263 98,555 – 153,425

————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————
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D I R E C TO R S ’ R E M U N E R AT I O N  ( cont inued)

NOTES:

1. The 2002 emoluments of W W Forrester are for the full financial year, but his appointment as Executive Chairman took effect 1 February 2002. His

basic salary of £300,000 was fixed on appointment and is not subject to annual review.

2. The salary, benefits and allowances total for A E Friend for 2001 is for 9 months, equating to his period as a plc Director in 2001.

3. The 2002 emoluments of T G Boatman are for the period 15 April 2002 to 31 December 2002.

4. The 2002 emoluments of Sir Martin Laing cover his period as Chairman (for the month of January) and from 1 February 2002 to 31 December 2002

as a non-executive Director. Sir Martin Laing retired from his position as an Executive Director on 31 January 2002 and received a payment of £50,000

in lieu of his entitlement to participate in the 2001 LTIP. This amount is included in the 2001 figure disclosed above.

5. The 2002 emoluments of The Baroness Noakes and P M C Meredith are for the period 1 June 2002 to 31 December 2002.

6. The 2002 emoluments of D Ardern includes 5 months remuneration to 31 May 2002, the date on which he became redundant. It also includes

£336,745 which is his contractual entitlement to salary, pension and benefits in lieu of his notice period, and £3,375 of occupational redundancy pay.The

bonus payment shown above for D Ardern is a performance related payment based on the consideration achieved on the sale of the Property business.

Neither the bonus nor the payments in lieu of notice were pensionable. In addition to the above, remuneration of £3,146 was received after 31 May as

fees to a former Director for consultancy services.

7. The 2002 emoluments of P J Harper and B O Chilver are for the period 1 January 2002 to 30 June 2002, the date on which they retired as non-

executive Directors and each includes £30,000 taxable pay in lieu.

8. The 2002 emoluments of The Rt. Hon Lord Howell are for the period 1 January 2002 to 30 April 2002, the date on which he retired as a non-executive

Director and includes £30,000 taxable pay in lieu.

9. The 2002 emoluments of R S Lidgate is stated for the 10 months up to and including 1 November 2002, the date on which his employment as an

executive Director was terminated following the sale of Laing Homes Limited.The bonus payment shown above for R S Lidgate includes a £720,000

performance related payment based on the consideration achieved on the sale of the UK Housing business.The balance is his pro-rata entitlement under

the annual bonus scheme for Directors of John Laing plc.The bonus payments were not pensionable. In addition to the above, remuneration of £24,500

was received after 1 November as fees to a former Director for consultancy services.

10. R A Wood retired early as a Director on 31 January 2002 and received a payment of £317,524 in lieu of notice which represented his salary for his

notice period and his entitlement to participate in the 2001 LTIP. This amount is included in the 2001 figure disclosed above.

11. During the period remuneration of £80,166 was received by J Armstrong, a former Director, as fees for consultancy services.

12. Annual bonus payments included within total Directors’ Remuneration amounted to £517,800 (2001 – £nil). Annual bonuses are calculated by reference

to achievement of pre-determined profit targets set for each of the Operating businesses and the Group as a whole, as measured by the Group’s

management accounts. Such profit targets are approved by the Board.The Committee recommended the individual bonus arrangements.The full year

effect of the contribution from Laing Homes Limited has been taken into account in determining the bonus level. Also D Ardern and R S Lidgate received

special incentive awards which total £1,720,000.

13. Pension contributions stated above include a notional charge of 18% (2001 – 9%) on pensionable salaries.This is shown in order to reflect the normal

cost of providing accrued pension benefits.The 2001 pension figures for A J H Ewer, A E Friend, D Ardern and R S Lidgate have been restated to show

only 9% cost of the earnings cap.The pension supplements for each are included in the 2001 total column.

14. For those affected by the Inland Revenue earnings cap the cost of the taxable pension supplement is 28% of pensionable remuneration in excess of the

earnings cap.
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R E T I R E M E N T  B E N E F I T S

Year to 31 December 2002
Total

Accumulated Accumulated Increase increase/
total accrued total accrued Increase in accrued Change (decrease)

pension at pension at in accrued pension in in pension in accrued
31 December 31 December pension due excess of due to cash pension during

2001 2002 to inflation inflation commutation 2002
£ £ £ £ £ £

———————————————————————————————————————————
DIRECTORS THROUGHOUT YEAR

A J H Ewer(1) 33,390 37,260 587 3,283 – 3,870
A E Friend(1) 7,419 10,799 126 3,254 – 3,380
DIRECTORS RESIGNING DURING YEAR

D Ardern(2) 28,620 26,094 30 1,858 (4,414) (2,526)
Sir Mar tin Laing(2) 301,408 255,533 – – (45,875) (45,875)
R S Lidgate(2,3) 9,540 23,283 166 13,577 – 13,743
R A Wood(2) 337,941 291,302 – – (46,639) (46,639)

——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

Transfer value
Transfer value Transfer value of increase

of accrued of accrued in accrued
pension at pension at Cash lump Increase/ pension

31 December 31 December sum taken (decrease) in (excluding
2001 2002 on retirement transfer value inflation)

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s
————————————————————————————————————

DIRECTORS THROUGHOUT YEAR

A J H Ewer 377.2 376.3 – (0.9) 33.4
A E Friend 88.4 114.9 – 26.5 34.6
DIRECTORS RESIGNING DURING YEAR

D Ardern 481.3 590.4 68.6 109.1 42.7
Sir Mar tin Laing 5,904.4 5,451.8 680.6 (452.6) –
R S Lidgate 160.7 524.6 – 363.9 306.1
R A Wood 6,617.2 6,206.8 762.7 (410.4) –

————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

NOTES:

1. The pension entitlements shown for A J H Ewer and A E Fr iend are those that would be paid annually on retirement based on

ser vice to 31 December 2002.

2. D Ardern, Sir Martin Laing, R S Lidgate and R A Wood all left during 2002, therefore the pension entitlements shown are the

pensions actually in payment to these members on 31 December 2002. D Ardern, Sir Martin Laing and R A Wood took tax-free cash

lump sums at retirement which has caused their accrued pensions to reduce during the year.

3. Following the sale of Laing Homes Limited, R S Lidgate took a reduction in his contractual loss of office compensation to augment

his pension.

4. A number of factors influence the “Increase/(decrease) in transfer value” column; further accrual of benefits , a change in the transfer

value basis , and falls in investment markets. These factors may affect the transfer values for executive Directors in different ways. In

fact, the impact of the falls in equity markets over 2002 has led to a decrease in A J H Ewer’s transfer value over the year.

The “Transfer value of increase in accrued pension (excluding inflation)” column is calculated on the transfer value basis and market

conditions at 31 December 2002. Changes in market conditions over the year do not affect this calculation.

5. The figures representing the increase to accrued pension during the year in excess of inflation exclude statutor y increases on both

the guaranteed minimum pension (“GMP”) and non-GMP components of pension.

6. The transfer values of non-pensioners have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accordance with Actuarial Guidance

Note GN11. Pensioner transfer values have been calculated in a consistent manner.
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S H A R E  O P T I O N S

Details of share options of those Directors who ser ved during the year are as follows:

At Exercise Ear liest
At 1 January 31 December price date of

2002 Awarded Exercised Lapsed 2002 (pence) exercise Expir y date
—————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

W W Forrester – 379,746(1) – – 379,746 158.000 18/01/05 17/01/12

Individual share

option agreement

D Ardern

Savings Related

Share Option

Scheme 4,352 – – 4,352(2) – 196.588 01/02/02 31/07/02

Sir Mar tin Laing

Savings Related

Share Option

Scheme 4,352 – – 4,352 – 196.588 01/02/02 31/07/02

R S Lidgate

Savings Related

Share Option

Scheme 4,352 – – 4,352 – 196.588 01/02/02 31/07/02

R A Wood

Senior Executive

Share Option

Scheme 32,046 – – 32,046(3) – 323.900 31/01/02 31/07/02
——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

NOTES:

1. As the Group did not have a performance related share option scheme in place at the time of the grant to W W Forrester, an

individual Share Option Agreement was the vehicle for the grant. The performance condition applying to this option is relative TSR; the

option may not be exercised unless the TSR of the Group ranks in the top quartile of the TSR of all the companies comprised in the

comparator group, namely all the Ster ling denominated companies in the Construction and Building Materials and Support Ser vices

sectors of the Financial Times All Share Index, over a performance period from 1 Januar y 2002 to 31 December 2004.

2. The options of D Ardern under the Savings Related Share Option Scheme are at 31 May 2002, the date on which he became

redundant from the Group.

3. The options of R A Wood under the Senior Executive Share Option Scheme are at 31 Januar y 2002, the date on which he retired

from the Group.

4. The Savings Related Share Option Scheme matured on 1 Februar y 2002. Participants had until 31 July 2002 to exercise their

options under this scheme. Under the Scheme rules this deadline also applied to the options held by D Ardern and R A Wood. None

of the Directors exercised their options and hence they all lapsed.

No options were exercised by the Directors during the year and there was no variation in the terms of any options during the year. Had

any Director exercised an option during the year the price paid for the options would have been the exercise price set out in the table

above. The highest and lowest prices of the Company’s shares during the year were 196.5 pence and 103.0 pence respectively. The price

of the Company’s shares at the year-end was 103.0 pence.

The Group’s Register of Directors’ Interests contains full details of Directors’ shareholdings and options to subscr ibe.

On 16 Januar y 2003 a grant of 235,294 options was made to W W Forrester under the John Laing plc Executive Share Option Plan

2002 at an option price of 127.5 pence per share. The options are exercisable from 16 Januar y 2006 to 15 Januar y 2013 if the TSR of

the Group is in the top quartile of the TSR’s of all of the companies comprised in the comparator group, namely all the Ster ling

denominated companies in the Support Ser vices Sector of the Financial Times All Share Index, over the performance period from 1

Januar y 2003 to 31 December 2005.

Sir Martin Laing exercised 85,000 options in 2001 under the Senior Executive Share Option Scheme at 346.0 pence per share. The

market price of the Company’s shares at the date of such exercise was 526.5 pence per share and therefore the aggregate gain made

by Sir Martin Laing in 2001 was £153,425.
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L O N G - T E R M  I N C E N T I V E  S C H E M E S

Under the LTIP approved by shareholders in 2001, conditional awards were made to the executive Directors and other senior executives

in 2002. Details of entitlements (including those that are provisional) of Directors who ser ved during the year are set out below:

Interest at
Provisional 31 December

Interest at award 2002
1 January 26 April (or earlier date Period of

2002 2002(1) Vested Waived(2) of resignation) qualifying conditions
———————————————————————————————————————————————————

D Ardern 137,500 – – 137,500 – 01/01/01 31/12/03
———————————————————————————————————————————————————

A J H Ewer 177,302 – – 177,302 – 01/01/01 31/12/03

– 118,907 – – 118,907 01/01/02 31/12/04
———————————————————————————————————————————————————

A E Friend 130,263 – – 130,263 – 01/01/01 31/12/03

– 117,647 – – 117,647 01/01/02 31/12/04
———————————————————————————————————————————————————

R S Lidgate 199,013 – – 199,013 – 01/01/01 31/12/03

– 151,260 – – 151,260(3) 01/01/02 31/12/04
——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

NOTES:

1. The Directors were provisionally awarded the shares detailed above at nil cost when the share price was 178.5 pence. The awards

are conditional upon a performance condition; EPS. The threshold for EPS is RPI plus 4% compound per annum which would tr igger

an award of 25% of basic salar y. The maximum performance for EPS is RPI plus 20% compound per annum which would tr igger an

award of 75% of basic salar y. Performance between threshold and maximum is straight line apportionment.

2. In 2002 all executive Directors waived their 2001 nil cost awards without compensation to provide a platform to broaden share

ownership amongst senior and other managers as part of the long-term remuneration strategy.

3. The entitlement of R S Lidgate is at 1 November 2002, being the date on which his employment was terminated following the sale

of Laing Homes Limited.

No provisional awards made to the Directors have vested during the year.

There are currently no proposals to var y the terms and conditions of the plan.

Further details of the interests of the Directors in the Group’s share capital can be found on page 97.

Approved by the Board on 17 March 2003 and signed on its behalf by

P M C Meredith
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

This report on corporate governance, incorporating the Directors’ report on internal controls , when read with the Directors’ Remuneration

Report, descr ibes how the Group has applied the principles set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code – the Principles of Good

Governance and the Code of Best Practice – as annexed to the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority (the “Code”).

During the year ended 31 December 2002 the Group underwent significant change to its key focus of business activity and the

constitution of the Board. Following the sale of the UK Private Housing business the Group is now focused on the development, ownership

and operation of pr ivately financed infrastructure projects . As a result of the changing focus of business activity, and the consequent

change in the r isk profile of the business, the new Board instigated a r igorous review of all aspects of corporate governance. A number of

workstreams designed to align the procedures of internal control and r isk management to the new focus of operations was initiated. Not

all of these workstreams were completed by 31 December 2002 and, as a result, there are aspects of the Code that have not been fully

complied with throughout the year. These are explained below. However, the Board is satisfied that, when completed, the Group will be

adopting the highest standards of corporate governance relative to the nature of its business activity and size.

Throughout the accounting period, the Group has complied with the Code provisions, except as detailed below.

Code Provision

A.2.1 – The Group combined the post of Chairman and Chief Executive on the appointment of W W Forrester as executive Chairman from

1 Februar y 2002. The Board considered this to be appropriate while it was being restructured and the strategic direction of the

Group was being reviewed. The Board will now reconsider whether or not it is appropriate to continue to combine these roles.

– The Group did not have a recognised senior non-executive Director between the period from 30 June 2002 to 11 November

2002, from which date P M C Meredith was nominated senior independent non-executive Director. Pr ior to 30 June 2002, B O

Chilver was the nominated senior independent non-executive Director.

A.5.1 – The Nominations Committee did not consist of a majority of non-executive members throughout the period under review. A

Nominations Committee comprising the executive Directors and Sir Martin Laing, non-executive Director, was formed in Februar y

2002 with the specific brief of identifying and recruiting new non-executive Directors. This was an interim measure pending

completion of the restructuring and recomposition of the Board. This recruitment programme was completed in May 2002 and the

Committee stood down. A new Nominations Committee was then formed with the new non-executive Directors and Sir Martin Laing.

B.2.2 – The Remuneration Committee does not consist exclusively of independent non-executive Directors. From 25 June 2002 the

Committee consisted of three independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director, Sir Martin Laing, who is not

deemed to be fully independent. Prior to that, the Remuneration Committee comprised of three independent non-executive Directors.

D I R E C TO R S

The Board meets on a regular basis throughout the year, normally at least ten times. Board meetings follow a formal agenda of matters

reser ved for decision and approval by the Board as well as any special business. Matters reser ved for the Board include the review of

strategy and organisational change, the approval of significant investments and disposals , the approval of budgets, and the regular review

of current trading and the financial position of the Group. The Board receives regular reports on current trading, the financial position and

forecasts of the Group, prior to it meeting. In addition, the Board receives relevant information on business, corporate and strategic issues.

Formal procedures exist to ensure that the Board is made aware of any significant Health and Safety issues and non-compliance with

statutor y regulations. The Board also reviews the Group’s internal control systems including r isk management procedures.

All Directors may take independent professional advice at the Group’s expense in the furtherance of their duties and have full access to

the Company Secretar y.

Pr ior to W W Forrester’s appointment as executive Chairman on 1 Februar y 2002, the executive management of the Group was

undertaken by the Group Executive which comprised Sir Martin Laing and R A Wood, both of whom retired as executive Directors on 31

Januar y 2002. Sir Martin Laing has remained on the Board as a non-executive Director. Following his appointment, W W Forrester has

taken the senior executive role.

The current Board consists of three executive Directors , three independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director, Sir

Martin Laing, who is not deemed to be independent. Procedures are in place to ensure that the key decisions of W W Forrester, the

executive Chairman, are considered by the Board. The non-executive Directors br ing considerable knowledge and external experience to

the Board which enables them to provide challenge to the decisions of executive management.

Upon appointment the new non-executive Directors undertook personally tailored induction to familiar ise themselves with the Group’s

activities , policies and key issues.
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D I R E C TO R S  ( cont inued)

The Company’s Articles of Association require one third of the Board to submit themselves for re-election, on a rotational basis , ever y

year. No Director is exempt from seeking re-election. Non-executive Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years subject to

three months’ notice. The ser vice contracts of executive Directors are terminable on one year’s notice from the Group.

Sub-committees of the Board have been constituted to consider and make recommendations to the Board regarding matters relating to

external and internal audit, the appointment of Directors, and Directors’ remuneration. The membership and duties of the sub-committees

are set out below. The policies for setting Directors’ remuneration are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 48 to 55.

All of the sub-committees of the Board operate to clear ly defined terms of reference which were reviewed and updated to reflect best

practice in the course of the period under review.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the four non-executive Directors: T G Boatman, Sir Martin Laing, P M C Meredith and The Baroness

Noakes. The Chairman of the Committee, T G Boatman, has extensive relevant experience as a former senior partner of a major

international firm of accountants.

The scope of the Committee is discussed on page 60.

Nominations Committee

The Nominations Committee comprises the four non-executive Directors. The Nominations Committee is chaired by The Baroness Noakes

who has considerable experience through a number of non-executive directorships and was formerly the senior partner of a major

international firm of accountants. All proposed Board appointments are considered by the Committee which makes recommendations for

the approval of the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises the four non-executive Directors . It is chaired by P M C Meredith who has senior level

experience in UK Fund Management.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration and terms of employment of the Group’s

executive Directors . It does not make recommendations with regard to fees for non-executive Directors , which are approved by the Board

as a whole.

W W Forrester, the executive Chairman, attends the meetings of the Committee, except when his own remuneration is being considered.

The Committee seeks the professional advice of independent consultants as required.

R E L AT I O N S H I P  W I T H  S H A R E H O L D E R S

Throughout the year executive Directors have met with the Group’s major institutional shareholders to whom presentations were made

after the announcement of the Group’s preliminar y and inter im results . Presentations were also made to many institutional shareholders

following the announcement of the sale of Laing Homes Limited. The Group provided analysts with a specific br iefing on its PFI/PPP

activities . The Board has adopted the practice of releasing a trading update approximately two months before the announcement of

preliminar y results . Care is taken to ensure that any price sensitive information released is available to all shareholders, institutional or

private, at the same time in accordance with the Listing Authority requirements.

All Directors , including the then Chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee and the Remuneration Committee,

attended the Group’s Annual General Meeting in May 2002 and were available to answer questions from those shareholders present. The

Chairman, after the show of hands on each resolution, indicated the number of proxy votes for and against each resolution.
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AC C O U N TA B I L I T Y  A N D  AU D I T

The Chairman’s statement on pages 2 to 4 sets out the Group’s strategy and the corporate actions that have been taken in furtherance

of the strategy. The Operating and Financial Review on pages 6 to 43 provides an assessment of the Group’s position and prospects

relative to its objectives. The statement of Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the accounts is set out below:

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs

of the Company and Group and of the profit or loss for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• Select the most appropriate accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the

financial statements; and

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial

position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have

general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and

detect fraud and other irregular ities .

Going Concern

The Directors confirm that, having made enquir ies , they have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate financial

resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and, for that reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in

prepar ing the accounts .

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the Group’s whole system of internal control, including r isk management, and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Such a system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the r isk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide

reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board reviews the system of internal control and monitors r isk through a variety of measures which have been designed to identify

all forms of r isk including financial, reputation, social, ethical and environmental.

The following r isk management processes operated throughout the business in the period under review.

INVESTMENTS

Risk registers have been maintained and reviewed at project and business unit level.

Proposed bids for new projects have been reviewed by an internal committee prior to submission to the Executive Directors who approve

all bids. The Board approves bids where the commitment exceeds £5.0 million.

The performance of Project Companies is reviewed by an internal committee on a rotational basis , such that each project is reviewed at

least once a year.

An internal audit of compliance with regulator y requirements is performed against a pre-determined programme in Chiltern Railways. In

all other projects , compliance with regulator y requirements is managed by Project Company staff and the Group monitors performance

through its representation on Project Company boards.
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AC C O U N TA B I L I T Y  A N D  AU D I T  ( cont inued)

HOMES

Risk registers have been maintained and reviewed at project and business unit level. This applied up to the date of sale of Laing Homes

Limited on 1 November 2002.

Internal audits were performed across the Housing business and the findings were reported to the Audit Committee of John Laing Homes

plc and the Group Audit Committee.

A thorough review of compliance with regulator’s requirements was undertaken in preparation for the sale of Laing Homes Limited.

PROPERTY

The assets disposed were independently valued prior to the sale of the business on 12 April 2002.

CONSTRUCTION

The Board has appointed a sub-committee to review progress on the retained construction liabilities once a month. Regular reports were

received from Bechtel on the physical and financial performance of the National Physical Laborator y project and suitably qualified staff

have been retained to monitor performance on all other construction liabilities. The sub-committee provides frequent written and verbal

reports to the Board on the remaining r isks associated with the retained construction liabilities .

On the sale of Laing Construction in 2001, the responsibility for compliance with regulator y requirements in respect of future work

remained with the main contractor, in most cases being either John Laing Construction Limited or Laing Limited.

Following the significant restructur ing of the Group’s business activities over the last two years, the Board recently engaged an

independent firm of accountants to review the r isk management procedures and systems of internal control in the Investments business.

The review addressed financial, operational, compliance and r isk management procedures. The results of the review have been reported to

the Board and an implementation plan is now being prepared. This will result in modifications to the risk management procedures and

systems of internal control previously adopted. The new procedures recognise that the Group, following the disposal of its construction

and UK Private Housing businesses over the last two years, is now focused on a single core activity. The past divisional structure no

longer exists and the number of layers of executive management has been reduced.

The principal changes to the r isk management procedures and systems of internal controls are as follows:

• The r isk management procedures, which form part of the overall systems of internal control, are being redesigned to align more

closely the identification and management of r isks with key business objectives.

• Risk reporting will be embedded in the regular management reporting of business units and reports to the Board. Thus the Board will

undertake a continuous review of r isks rather than the previous practice of periodic review.

• The organisational structure is being simplified to reduce the number of management layers thereby providing more direct access to

operations for senior executive management and clear ly defined lines of accountability, delegated authority and reporting.

• The Board has concluded that an independent internal audit function, reporting to the Audit Committee in the first instance, should

be created and that less dependence should be placed on control self-assessment. The Board has decided to outsource the internal

audit function and will shortly invite proposals from firms with suitable qualifications and experience.

The Group has adopted and will continue to adopt a control environment that seeks to minimise the risk of misstatement or loss, including:

• A culture of openness of communication between operational management and the executive management on matters relating to

r isk and control, including procedures for br inging such matters to the attention of the Board.

• The formal authorisation of investment proposals, through the operation of an approvals procedure involving senior executive management

on all proposed investments, and Board approval of investments on which the Group’s exposure would exceed £5.0 million.

• Clear ly defined expenditure authority levels .

• Regular reviews of business unit performance and prospects by executive management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

AC C O U N TA B I L I T Y  A N D  AU D I T  ( cont inued)

CONSTRUCTION (continued)

• A comprehensive system of financial reporting to the Board and budgetar y control embracing:

– Board approval of an annual budget.

– monthly reporting of actual results against budget.

– quarter ly update of current year forecasts .

– weekly cash reporting to the Finance Director.

– monthly cash flow forecasts to the Board.

– quarter ly treasur y reports to the Board embracing contingent financial exposure, interest rates and currency r isk.

– monthly monitor ing of actual and forecast performance against bank covenants.

Audit

The Audit Committee monitors the accounting policies, the systems of internal control including r isk management procedures, internal

audit procedures and financial reporting of the Group. The Committee meets at least three times a year, normally requesting the

attendance of the Finance Director and professional advisers to the Group. The external auditors may, at any time, request the

opportunity to meet the Audit Committee without the attendance of executive management.

All of the Group’s subsidiar ies are audited by KPMG Audit Plc . Many of the Group’s joint ventures are also audited by KPMG Audit Plc ,

however some joint ventures and the associates are audited by other firms of accountants due to the arrangements agreed with our

partners. The Audit Committee considers, from time to time, whether it is appropriate to invite tenders for the statutor y audit.

During the year, the Group has adopted new procedures regarding the potential appointment of the auditors for non-audit work.

Proposed appointments of the auditors for non-audit work, where the fee is likely to be above a pre-determined threshold, require the

prior approval of the Audit Committee. Whenever appropriate, competitive quotes will be obtained from other firms. The Audit Committee

reviews the non-audit fees payable to the auditors on a regular basis and seeks to ensure that the independence of the auditors is not

compromised. There are circumstances where it is most appropriate and efficient for the auditors to perform non-audit work, for example,

in relation to a Class 1 Circular.

The Auditors’ Report to the Members of John Laing plc on the financial statements and where required the Directors’ Remuneration

Report is set out on page 61. In addition, the auditors report to the Directors any relevant findings on procedures and controls within the

business units which have come to their notice during the course of their normal audit work.

A report from the auditors on its review of the inter im accounts is published with the statement of inter im results issued to shareholders.

Pensions

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contr ibution pension schemes for the benefit of its employees. The assets of the

main schemes are held in trustee administered funds which are separate from the assets of the business.

The Trustees engage financial and legal advisers and pension consultants.

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation plc was appointed as an entrenched independent Reference Trustee in 1994.

The Group has appointed Hymans Robertson as pension consultants. The Board currently reviews pension matters including the funding

strategy and the results of actuarial valuations.
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We have audited the financial statements on pages 62 to 101,103 and 104. We have also audited the information in the directors’

remuneration report that is descr ibed as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit

work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an

auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone

other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

R E S P E C T I V E  R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S  O F  D I R E C TO R S  A N D  AU D I TO R S

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the directors’ remuneration report. As descr ibed on page 58, this

includes responsibility for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting

standards. Our responsibilities , as independent auditors , are established in the United Kingdom by statute, the Auditing Practices Board,

the Listing Rules of the Financial Ser vices Authority, and by our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and

the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been proper ly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the company has not kept

proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information

specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions with the group is not disclosed.

We review whether the statement on page 56 reflects the company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our

review by the Listing Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal control cover all

risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report, including the corporate governance statement and the unaudited part of

the directors’ remuneration report, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider the

implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

B A S I S  O F  AU D I T  O P I N I O N

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be

audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial

statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us

with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be

audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the

overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited.

O P I N I O N

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the group as at 31 December 2002

and of the loss of the group for the year then ended; and

• the financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been proper ly prepared in accordance

with the Companies Act 1985.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants

Registered Auditor 8 Salisbur y Square

17 March 2003 London EC4 8BB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the members of John Laing plc
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2002 2002 2002 2001
Continuing Discontinued+ Total Restated*

Notes £ million £ million £ million £ million
————————————————————————————————

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002

TURNOVER 1 444.2 310.8 755.0 1,389.0
DEDUCT:

Share of joint venture turnover 16 (72.0) (1.1) (73.1) (187.6)
Share of associate turnover 16 (122.6) – (122.6) (111.3)

————————————————————————————————
GROUP TURNOVER 249.6 309.7 559.3 1,090.1

Continuing 249.6 – 249.6 159.0
Discontinued – 309.7 309.7 931.1

Cost of sales (213.3) (263.8) (477.1) (1,029.0)
————————————————————————————————

GROSS PROFIT 36.3 45.9 82.2 61.1
Exceptional cost of restructuring 1 – (2.7) (2.7) (8.7)
Other operating and administrative expenses (42.9) (29.5) (72.4) (104.6)
Total operating and administrative expenses (42.9) (32.2) (75.1) (113.3)
Other operating income 6 5.5 – 5.5 2.9

————————————————————————————————
GROUP OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) 2 (1.1) 13.7 12.6 (49.3)
Share of operating profit of:

Joint ventures 21.5 0.3 21.8 18.3
Associates 11.5 – 11.5 8.0

————————————————————————————————
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) INCLUDING JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES 31.9 14.0 45.9 (23.0)

Continuing 31.9 – 31.9 20.7
Discontinued – 14.0 14.0 (43.7)

Profit on disposal of and amounts written off investments and
other fixed assets 3 3.4 0.9 4.3 51.2

Loss on disposal of operations 3 (5.0) (8.8) (13.8) (33.6)
————————————————————————————————

PROFIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION 1 30.3 6.1 36.4 (5.4)
————————————————————————————————

Interest receivable:
Group 5.3 0.8 6.1 8.4
Joint ventures 19.5 – 19.5 14.7
Associates 0.2 – 0.2 0.1
Total 25.0 0.8 25.8 23.2

Interest and other finance costs payable:
Group – refinancing costs 7 – (22.7) (22.7) –

– other (7.1) (14.9) (22.0) (24.9)
Joint ventures (32.7) (0.2) (32.9) (20.6)
Associates (3.2) – (3.2) (2.6)
Total (43.0) (37.8) (80.8) (48.1)

Net interest (18.0) (37.0) (55.0) (24.9)
————————————————————————————————

PROFIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION 12.3 (30.9) (18.6) (30.3)
——————————————————

Taxation 9 (5.8) (11.7)
——————————————

LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER TAXATION (24.4) (42.0)
Minority interests 0.2 (0.6)

——————————————
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS (24.2) (42.6)
Dividends on equity and non-equity shares 10 (14.6) (13.3)

——————————————
RETAINED LOSS FOR THE YEAR 27 (38.8) (55.9)

————————————————————————————

Losses per share – basic 11 (15.3)p (38.3)p
– diluted 11 (15.3)p (38.3)p

Dividends per share 10 6.8p 7.6p

+ The results of discontinued businesses include the trading results and profit/loss on disposal of the Access Plant Hire business on 18 Januar y 2002, Laing Property
Developments Limited on 12 April 2002, Laing Homes Limited on 1 November 2002 and Holloway White Allom Limited on 5 November 2002.

* see accounting policies (a) and refer to note 8 for analysis of 2001 operating result.

GROUP PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
John Laing plc and subsidiary undertakings
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2002 2001
Restated*

Note £ million £ million
——————————————————

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002

Loss attributable to shareholders (24.2) (42.6)

Unrealised deficit on revaluation of proper ties – (0.1)

Currency translation differences on foreign currency

net investments (2.3) (0.5)
——————————————————

Total gains/(losses) recognised in the year 12 (26.5) (43.2)
——————————————

Prior year adjustment* (4.3)
———————————

TOTAL GAINS/(LOSSES) RECOGNISED SINCE THE LAST ANNUAL REPORT (30.8)
——————————————————————

2002 2001
Restated*

£ million £ million
——————————————————

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002

Loss on ordinar y activities before taxation (18.6) (30.3)

Difference between an historical cost depreciation

charge and the actual depreciation charge for the

year calculated on the revalued amount – (0.1)

Realisation of proper ty revaluation gains of previous years 3.6 1.0
——————————————————

HISTORICAL COST LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION (15.0) (29.4)
————————————————————————————————————

HISTORICAL COST LOSS FOR THE YEAR RETAINED AFTER TAXATION, MINORITY INTEREST AND DIVIDENDS (35.2) (55.0)
————————————————————————————————————

* see accounting policies (a).

GROUP STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
John Laing plc and subsidiary undertakings

GROUP STATEMENT OF HISTORICAL COST PROFITS AND LOSSES
John Laing plc and subsidiary undertakings
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2002 2001
Restated*

Notes £ million £ million
——————————————————

AT 31 DECEMBER 2002

ASSETS EMPLOYED

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible assets 13 13.3 11.1

Tangible assets 14 103.8 81.4

Investments 16 21.9 22.7

Investments in joint ventures:

Share of gross assets 16 678.4 677.2

Share of gross liabilities 16 (590.4) (578.5)

88.0 98.7

Investments in associates 16 41.8 51.7
——————————————————

268.8 265.6
——————————————————

CURRENT ASSETS

Land and developments 17 29.9 402.2

Stocks and work in progress 17 0.8 2.6

Debtors – due within one year 18 266.7 77.8

– due after more than one year 18 140.5 91.6

407.2 169.4

Shor t-term investments 19 2.2 2.2

Cash at bank and in hand 20 94.1 33.8
——————————————————

534.2 610.2
——————————————————

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year

Bank and other loans 23a,d 201.9 8.5

Other creditors 21 97.8 193.8
——————————————————

299.7 202.3
——————————————————

NET CURRENT ASSETS 234.5 407.9
——————————————————

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 503.3 673.5

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one year

Bank and other loans 23a,d 206.3 297.8

Other creditors 21 3.5 19.5
——————————————————

209.8 317.3

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 22 70.7 94.8
——————————————————

222.8 261.4
————————————————————————————————————

FINANCED BY

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Called up share capital 26 83.6 83.1

Share premium account 27 82.8 81.2

Proper ty revaluation reserve 27 – 3.6

Other reserves 27 2.2 2.2

Profit and loss account 27 54.2 90.5
——————————————————

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS:

Equity 184.7 222.5

Non-equity 27 38.1 38.1

222.8 260.6

Minority interests – equity – 0.8
——————————————————

222.8 261.4
————————————————————————————————————

* see accounting policies (a).

GROUP BALANCE SHEET
John Laing plc and subsidiary undertakings
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2002 2001
Restated*

Notes £ million £ million
——————————————————

AT 31 DECEMBER 2002

ASSETS EMPLOYED

FIXED ASSETS

Interests in subsidiar y under takings 15 208.2 247.9
——————————————————

208.2 247.9

CURRENT ASSETS

Interests in subsidiar y under takings 15 – 23.0

Debtors – due within one year 18 289.7 295.1

– due after more than one year 18 1.6 –

Cash at bank and in hand 43.2 1.2
——————————————————

334.5 319.3
——————————————————

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year

Bank and other loans 23d 182.1 15.9

Other creditors 21 137.8 106.6
——————————————————

319.9 122.5
——————————————————

NET CURRENT ASSETS 14.6 196.8
——————————————————

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 222.8 444.7

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one year

Bank and other loans 23d – 183.9
——————————————————

– 183.9

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 22 – 0.2
——————————————————

222.8 260.6
————————————————————————————————————

FINANCED BY

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Called up share capital 26 83.6 83.1

Share premium account 27 82.8 81.2

Revaluation of shares in subsidiary

under takings 27 29.7 80.5

Profit and loss account 27 26.7 15.8
——————————————————

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS:

Equity 184.7 222.5

Non-equity 27 38.1 38.1

222.8 260.6
————————————————————————————————————

The accounts on pages 62 to 101,103 and 104 were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 March 2003 and were signed on its behalf by

W W Forrester
Executive Chairman

* see accounting policies (a).

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
John Laing plc
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2002 2001
Restated*

Notes £ million £ million
——————————————————

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2002

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 28 (99.3) (113.1)

DIVIDENDS RECEIVED FROM JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES 6.2 1.5

RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE

Interest received 6.2 8.5

Interest and other financing costs paid (49.7) (26.5)

Dividends received 4.5 1.2

Dividends paid to non-equity shareholders (2.5) (2.5)
——————————————————

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance (41.5) (19.3)

TAXATION

UK corporation tax (paid)/received (5.2) 2.8

Overseas tax received/(paid) 0.1 (3.5)
——————————————————

(5.1) (0.7)

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT

Purchase of fixed assets (10.9) (5.9)

Construction of PFI assets (21.5) (29.8)

Sale of fixed assets 9.3 1.5

Purchase of investments – (4.4)

Sale of investments 32.8 31.4
——————————————————

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from capital expenditure and financial investments 9.7 (7.2)

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Purchase of subsidiar y under takings 29a (7.3) (105.3)

Net overdraft balance acquired with subsidiaries – (132.6)

Purchase of interests in and loans to joint ventures and associated under takings (1.1) (12.2)

Sale of subsidiar y under takings 29b 92.4 (1.5)

Net (cash)/overdraft balance disposed with subsidiaries (12.9) 39.0

Sale of interests in and repayment of loans by joint ventures and associated under takings 18.3 47.0

Sale of operation 29b 1.9 –
——————————————————

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from acquisitions and disposals 91.3 (165.6)

EQUITY DIVIDENDS PAID (11.1) (11.5)
——————————————————

NET CASH OUTFLOW BEFORE USE OF LIQUID RESOURCES AND FINANCING (49.8) (315.9)

MANAGEMENT OF LIQUID RESOURCES

Net cash transfer from bank deposits 30 (50.5) 25.4
——————————————————

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from management of liquid resources (50.5) 25.4

FINANCING

Issue of ordinary share capital 3.3 74.9

Increase/(decrease) in bank borrowings falling due within one year 30 196.2 (12.6)

(Decrease)/increase in bank borrowings falling due after more than one year 30 (86.3) 209.6
——————————————————

Net cash inflow from financing 113.2 271.9
——————————————————

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 30 12.9 (18.6)
————————————————————————————————————

* see accounting policies (a).

GROUP CASH FLOW
John Laing plc and subsidiary undertakings
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( a ) B A S I S  O F  P R E PA R AT I O N  O F  AC C O U N T S

These accounts have been prepared under the histor ical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of certain land and buildings

and investments in subsidiar y undertakings, and in accordance with reporting requirements of the Companies Act 1985, together with

applicable accounting standards, except as stated in note 15 and 16.

In accordance with Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 no separate profit and loss account has been presented for the Company

however the profit for the year has been disclosed in note 27.

Except as noted below, the following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are

considered material in relation to the Group’s financial accounts.

The Group has adopted FRS 19 ‘Deferred Tax’ which has resulted in no restatement.

The 2001 balance sheet has been restated in compliance with FRS 4 ‘Capital Investments’ to transfer capitalised debt issue costs in

wholly owned PFI subsidiar ies out of debtors and fixed assets to gross non-recourse debt. The total amount transferred was £4.4 million.

There has been no effect to the current or pr ior year profit and loss account.

The Group has complied with UITF 34 ‘Pre-contract costs’ and has changed the accounting policies adopted for bid costs associated with

PFI/PPP projects .

The Group has also reviewed the accounting policies adopted by Project Companies acquired during 2001 and has changed the basis of

the presentation from ‘fixed asset’ to ‘finance debtor’ in the case of two such companies, in order to achieve consistency and the most

appropriate presentation across all of the Group’s investment activities .

The results of prior years have been restated as follows to reflect the combined effect of adopting UITF 34 and the changed basis of

presentation referred to above.

The effect of the change on the 2001 comparatives is as follows:

£ million
———–————————————————————————

Project
Companies UITF 34 FRS 4

changed basis Pre-contract Debt issue
of presentation costs costs Total

———–————————————————————————
Group turnover – (5.2) – (5.2)

———–————————————————————————
Loss on ordinary activities before interest (6.7) (6.3) – (13.0)

Net interest 7.4 – – 7.4
———–————————————————————————

Profit/(loss) on ordinar y activities before taxation 0.7 (6.3) – (5.6)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Fixed assets 0.7 (1.1) (1.7) (2.1)

Current assets – (3.9) (2.7) (6.6)
———–————————————————————————

Net current assets/(liabilities) 0.7 (5.0) (4.4) (8.7)

Creditors falling due after more than one year – – 4.4 4.4
———–————————————————————————

Net assets/(liabilities) 0.7 (5.0) – (4.3)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

If the accounting policy change had not been implemented the impact on the current year loss before taxation would be an additional

loss of £0.2 million.

( b ) B A S I S  O F  C O N S O L I D AT I O N

The Group profit and loss account and balance sheet include the financial statements of John Laing plc and its subsidiar y undertakings

made up to 31 December. Where subsidiar ies are acquired, and acquisition accounted, or sold during the year, or where joint

arrangements are entered into or terminated during the year, the Group profit and loss account includes the results for the part of the

year for which they were subsidiar ies or joint arrangements. The financial accounts of joint arrangements are used for the Group

consolidation except where the year-end is not coterminous when management account information is consolidated.

Interests in subsidiar y undertakings and joint arrangements are included in the parent company balance sheet, at the Group’s share of

net assets of these undertakings.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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( b ) B A S I S  O F  C O N S O L I D AT I O N  ( cont inued)

The associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity basis , except as stated in note 16 where the Directors consider a

different treatment is required in order to show a true and fair view. Interests in such companies are shown in the consolidated balance

sheet at cost, including advances, plus the appropriate share of post acquisition retained profits and reser ves. Where the share of post

acquisition retained losses exceeds the cost of the investment, after deduction of provisions, the excess retained losses are included in

the consolidated balance sheet.

Where the accounting policies of joint ventures and associates do not conform with the Group’s accounting policies, adjustments are

made on consolidation in order to present the Group accounts on a uniform basis .

( c ) T U R N OV E R

Turnover in the continuing operations comprises the Group’s share of:

• Income generated in respect of ticket sales, advertising and retail revenues in the rail activities

• Toll revenues on PFI road projects

• Availability fees and usage fees on PFI accommodation projects

• Third party revenues on PFI projects

• Revenues for the provision of facilities management ser vices to PFI Project Companies

• The value of work executed by John Laing Partnership Limited, a constructor of social housing

• Private housing sales, which are recognised at the date of legal completion.

Turnover excludes the value of intra-group transactions, VAT and includes the Group’s share of turnover of joint ventures and associates.

Turnover arising from the sale of property developments in the discontinued businesses was recognised on exchange of unconditional contracts.

( d ) P F I  B I D  C O S T S

PFI bid costs are charged to the profit and loss account until such time as the Group is virtually certain that it will enter into contracts

for the relevant PFI project. Virtual certainty is generally achieved at the time the Group is selected as preferred bidder. From the point of

virtual certainty, bid costs are capitalised and held in the Group balance sheet as a debtor prior to achieving financial close. On financial

close of PFI project and financing agreements, the Group recovers capitalised bid costs from the relevant Project Company. If the recover y

of bid costs exceeds the amount capitalised by the Group to financial close, the over recover y is credited to the balance sheet as

deferred income.

Deferred income is released to the profit and loss account on one of two bases:

(i) In respect of projects using finance debtor accounting, over the period of construction during which the finance debtor is established

see (e) below; or

(ii) In respect of projects using fixed asset accounting, over the period of the concession/project agreement.

( e ) F I N A N C E  D E B TO R S  A N D  A M O U N T S  R E C OV E R A B L E  O N  P F I  C O N T R AC T S

PFI projects are assessed as to where the benefits and risks associated with the asset reside. On the basis of this assessment, these

assets are accordingly disclosed in the balance sheet as either fixed assets at cost less depreciation, or as amounts recoverable on PFI

contracts while in construction and reclassified to finance lease debtors when operational. In this case income is allocated to interest

receivable and turnover using a constant margin on costs and the remainder allocated to the finance lease debtor.

( f ) L O N G - T E R M  C O N T R AC T S

Profits on long-term contracts are calculated in accordance with industr y standard accounting practice and do not therefore relate

directly to turnover. Profit on current contracts is only taken at a stage near enough to completion for that profit to be reasonably

certain. Provision is made for all losses incurred to the accounting date together with any further losses that are foreseen in br inging

contracts to completion.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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( f ) L O N G - T E R M  C O N T R AC T S  ( cont inued)

Amounts recoverable on contracts which are included in debtors are stated at cost, plus attr ibutable profit to the extent that this is

reasonably certain after making provision for contingencies, less any losses incurred or foreseen in br inging contracts to completion, and

less amounts received as progress payments. Costs for this purpose include valuation of all work done by subcontractors , whether

certified or not, and all overheads other than those relating to the general administration of the relevant companies. For any contracts

where receipts exceed the book value of work done, the excess is included in creditors as payments on account.

( g ) L A N D  A N D  D E V E L O P M E N T S

Where development property is not being actively developed, net rental income and finance costs are taken to the profit and loss account.

( h ) S TO C K S  A N D  WO R K  I N  P RO G R E S S

Stocks and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost, including production overheads, and net realisable value.

( i ) TA N G I B L E  F I X E D  A S S E T S

Tangible fixed assets are initially recorded at cost and are depreciated in accordance with accounting policy (k). Subsequent expenditure

on tangible fixed assets is capitalised to the extent that it provides an enhancement to the economic benefits of the asset above its

previously assessed standard of performance. All other subsequent expenditure is charged to the profit and loss account as incurred.

Following the sale of Laing Property Developments Limited the Group no longer holds significant fixed asset property interests . The

previous policy of annual valuation has been reviewed and properties will now be subject to revaluation ever y three years. The properties

were last valued on 31 December 2001.

Revaluation gains are recognised in the profit and loss account only to the extent that they reverse losses on the same asset that were

previously recognised in the profit and loss account. All other revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reser ve.

Revaluation losses caused by a consumption of economic benefits are recognised in the profit and loss account. Other revaluation losses

are taken to the revaluation reser ve until the carr ying amount equates to the depreciated histor ic cost. Thereafter, revaluation losses are

recognised in the profit and loss account.

( j ) I N V E S T M E N T S

Fixed asset investments, excluding investments in subsidiar ies, are stated at cost less impairments. Current asset investments are stated

at the lower of cost and market value. Income from investments is included in the Group profit and loss account as declared and, where

the Group’s interest has arisen within its core businesses, such income is included within the Group’s operating results .

( k ) D E P R E C I AT I O N

Tangible assets, including freehold properties but excluding land, are depreciated at appropriate rates on a straight-line basis to write

down the cost or valuation of assets to residual value over their estimated useful lives, making due allowance for obsolescence in addition

to normal wear and tear.

Depreciation is provided on the basis that the estimated useful lives of assets are:

Offices 20 to 50 years

Vehicles, plant and machiner y 3 to 10 years

IT hardware 3 years

( l ) I M PA I R M E N T

At each reporting period end the carr ying value of fixed assets, including investments in joint ventures and associates, are reviewed for

permanent impairment. Where permanent impairment is deemed to have taken place the value of the assets concerned is written down

accordingly.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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( m ) G O O DW I L L

Goodwill on acquisition has been capitalised and is being written off over 20 years, which in the opinion of the Directors , represents its

useful economic life.

( n ) A M O RT I S AT I O N  O F  F A I R  VA L U E  A D J U S T M E N T S

Fair value adjustments ar ising on the acquisition of PFI Project Companies are amortised over the outstanding period of the

concession/project agreement in proportion to the anticipated dividend receipts from the PFI Project Companies except, on a straight line

basis , in relation to M40 Trains Limited over the concession life.

( o ) TA X AT I O N

The charge for taxation is based on the result for the year and takes into account deferred taxation. In accordance with FRS 19

‘Deferred Tax’, deferred taxation is provided fully and on a non discounted basis at future corporation tax rates in respect of timing

differences between profits computed for taxation and accounts purposes.

( p ) F O R E I G N  C U R R E N C I E S

Translations into ster ling are made at the average of rates ruling throughout the year for profit and loss account items and at the rates

ruling at 31 December for assets and liabilities.

Exchange differences arising in the ordinar y course of trading are reflected in the profit and loss account; those arising on translation of

net equity are dealt with as a movement in reser ves.

Monetar y assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currency that are not covered by hedging arrangements are translated into ster ling at

the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date and any difference arising on the retranslation of these amounts is taken to the profit

and loss account.

( q ) C A S H  A N D  L I QU I D  R E S O U R C E S

Cash for the purpose of the cash flow statement, comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand, less overdrafts payable on

demand.

Liquid resources are current asset investments which are disposable without curtailing or disrupting the business and are either readily

convertible into known amounts of cash at or close to their carr ying values or traded in an active market. Liquid resources comprise term

deposits of less than one year, other than cash and investments in money market managed funds.

( r ) P E N S I O N  C O S T S  A N D  P O S T  R E T I R E M E N T  B E N E F I T S

These are provided systematically over the average remaining future ser vice lives of employees (see note 5). Differences between the

amounts charged in the profit and loss account and payments made are treated as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet. Deferred

taxation is accounted for on these assets and liabilities .

( s ) L E A S E S

Payments under operating leases are charged wholly to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

( t ) I N T E R E S T

Project specific interest is capitalised. Interest costs incurred on borrowings to fund the construction of PFI assets are capitalised during

the construction period. Capitalisation ceases once the additions have been commissioned.
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1 . S E C T O R  A N A LYS I S

Turnover including Profit/(loss) on
joint ventures and ordinary activities Net assets/

associates before interest (liabilities)+

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001
Restated* Restated* Restated*

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
—————————————————————————————————————————

ACTIVITY

Homes 456.1 550.7 13.2 56.1 260.6 308.0

Investments 255.3 218.9 31.1 70.2 323.4 257.7

Proper ty 43.1 71.2 8.1 9.7 1.2 39.9

Construction – 548.2 0.1 (128.1) (39.3) (55.7)

Group management/general 0.5 – (16.1) (13.3) (9.0) (16.0)
—————————————————————————————————————————

755.0 1,389.0 36.4 (5.4) 536.9 533.9
——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

ACTIVITY

Homes – Group 334.8 359.6 2.1 47.7 218.8 260.4

– Joint venture – 81.4 – 0.9 – –

– Associates 121.3 109.7 11.1 7.5 41.8 47.6
—————————————————————————————————————————

456.1 550.7 13.2 56.1 260.6 308.0
—————————————————————————————————————————

Investments – Group 182.0 115.5 9.2 53.2 236.1 164.5

– Joint ventures 72.0 101.8 21.5 16.5 87.3 89.1

– Associate 1.3 1.6 0.4 0.5 – 4.1
—————————————————————————————————————————

255.3 218.9 31.1 70.2 323.4 257.7
—————————————————————————————————————————

Proper ty – Group 42.0 68.0 7.8 8.5 1.2 31.0

– Joint venture 1.1 3.2 0.3 1.2 – 8.9
—————————————————————————————————————————

43.1 71.2 8.1 9.7 1.2 39.9
—————————————————————————————————————————

Construction – Group – 547.0 0.1 (127.8) (40.0) (56.4)

– Joint ventures – 1.2 – (0.3) 0.7 0.7
—————————————————————————————————————————

– 548.2 0.1 (128.1) (39.3) (55.7)
—————————————————————————————————————————

Group management/general 0.5 – (16.1) (13.3) (9.0) (16.0)
—————————————————————————————————————————

TOTAL – GROUP 559.3 1,090.1 3.1 (31.7) 407.1 383.5

– JOINT VENTURES 73.1 187.6 21.8 18.3 88.0 98.7

– ASSOCIATES 122.6 111.3 11.5 8.0 41.8 51.7
—————————————————————————————————————————

755.0 1,389.0 36.4 (5.4) 536.9 533.9
——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

+ Group assets exclude cash of £94.1 million (2001 – £33.8 million), net of total borrowings (see note 23a,d) of £408.2 million (2001 – £306.3 million).

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 . S E C T O R  A N A LYS I S ( cont inued)

Turnover including Profit/(loss) on
joint ventures and ordinary activities Net assets/

associates before interest (liabilities)+

2002 2001 2002 2001 2002 2001
Restated* Restated* Restated*

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
—————————————————————————————————————————

GEOGRAPHIC AREA

United Kingdom – Group 559.3 1,053.9 3.2 (81.5) 389.2 366.4

– Joint ventures 67.4 102.3 19.0 16.5 83.4 95.0

– Associate 27.2 21.7 3.7 2.5 15.9 14.8
—————————————————————————————————————————

653.9 1,177.9 25.9 (62.5) 488.5 476.2
—————————————————————————————————————————

Rest of Europe – Group – 3.5 (0.2) 56.0 0.5 (0.5)

– Joint ventures 5.7 2.7 2.8 1.2 3.9 3.0
—————————————————————————————————————————

5.7 6.2 2.6 57.2 4.4 2.5
—————————————————————————————————————————

Middle East – Group – 30.4 – (3.4) (0.2) 0.1

– Joint ventures – 1.2 – (0.3) 0.7 0.7
—————————————————————————————————————————

– 31.6 – (3.7) 0.5 0.8
—————————————————————————————————————————

America – Group – – (0.2) (3.1) 1.8 2.3

– Joint venture – 81.4 – 0.9 – –

– Associate 94.1 88.0 7.4 5.0 25.9 32.8
—————————————————————————————————————————

94.1 169.4 7.2 2.8 27.7 35.1
—————————————————————————————————————————

S.E. Asia – Group – 2.3 0.3 0.3 15.8 15.2

– Associate 1.3 1.6 0.4 0.5 – 4.1
—————————————————————————————————————————

1.3 3.9 0.7 0.8 15.8 19.3
—————————————————————————————————————————

TOTAL 755.0 1,389.0 36.4 (5.4) 536.9 533.9
——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

Profit/(loss) on ordinar y activities before interest includes the following exceptional charges in respect of:
2002 2001

£ million £ million
——————————————

GROUP MANAGEMENT/GENERAL

Head office reorganisation (1.7) (2.0)

Debt restructuring costs (1.0) (6.7)
——————————————

(2.7) (8.7)
————————————————————————————

HOMES

Loss on disposal of Laing Homes Limited (12.0) –

Impairment provision on retained UK Housing business (5.0) –

PROPERTY

Profit on sale of Laing Proper ty Developments Limited 2.2 –

Profit on sale of Holloway White Allom Limited 1.7 –

Profit on sale of fixed asset proper ties 0.9 –

CONSTRUCTION

Loss on disposal of the Construction Division – (33.6)

Loss on disposal of the Access Plant Hire business (0.7) –
——————————————

+ Group assets exclude cash of £94.1 million (2001 – £33.8 million), net of total borrowings (see note 23a,d) of £408.2 million (2001 – £306.3 million).

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 . S E C T O R  A N A LYS I S ( cont inued)

2002
Turnover Profit on Profit/(loss)
including ordinary on ordinary

joint ventures activities activities before
and associates before interest Interest taxation

£ million £ million £ million £ million
———–————————————————————————

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Investments 255.3 31.1 (16.2) 14.9
Homes 187.4 7.8 (2.2) 5.6
Proper ty 1.0 0.1 – 0.1
Group management/general 0.5 (8.7) 0.4 (8.3)

———–————————————————————————
444.2 30.3 (18.0) 12.3

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Homes 268.7 5.4 – 5.4
Construction – 0.1 0.8 0.9
Proper ty 42.1 8.0 (0.2) 7.8
Group management/general – (7.4) (37.6)+ (45.0)

———–————————————————————————
310.8 6.1 (37.0) (30.9)

———–————————————————————————
TOTAL 755.0 36.4 (55.0) (18.6)

———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Interest charged against specific operations represents the Group’s share of interest payable on non-recourse loans to joint ventures and associates,

less interest receivable. The Group interest charge represents net financing charges on recourse borrowings less interest receivable on deposits .

All recourse debt was repaid following the sale of UK Housing and all interest on recourse debt prior to the sale of UK Housing has accordingly

been included under discontinued businesses.

Discontinued operations are related to activities conducted in the UK.

+ Within discontinued operations, the costs of refinancing the Group’s borrowings include a £19.5 million cost on the ear ly prepayment of fixed interest US loan
notes and amortisation of £3.2 million worth of capitalised debt issue costs on prepayment of bank debts. The total refinancing costs of £22.7 million are shown
within Group interest.

2 . O P E R AT I N G  P R O F I T / ( L O S S )

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
Operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging/(crediting):

Lead auditors’ remuneration in respect of statutory audit ser vices 0.3 0.5

Other fees paid to auditors and their associates:#

Refinancing of the Group 0.6 2.5

Tax advisory ser vices 0.2 –

Other – 0.2

Other auditors’ remuneration in respect of statutory audit ser vices 0.3 0.1

Depreciation 3.5 11.9

Amor tisation of goodwill/fair value arising on acquisitions 1.5 1.4

Foreign exchange losses 1.1 0.5

(Profit)/loss on sale of fixed assets (0.1) 0.2

Payments under operating leases:

Rentals of land and buildings 2.7 2.2

Rentals of plant and machinery 12.9 12.9
————————————————————————————

Included in the auditors’ remuneration is an amount in respect of the Company of £0.1 million (2001 – £0.3 million).

# refer to page 74.
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2 . O P E R AT I N G  P R O F I T / ( L O S S )  ( cont inued)

# Additional fees of £1.0 million (2001 – £0.2 million) were paid to the auditors and capitalised in respect of:

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
Refinancing 0.5 –

Acquisitions 0.4 0.2

Cost of investments 0.1 –
————————————————————————————

3 . PROFIT  ON DISPOSAL  OF  AND AMOUNTS  WRITTEN OFF  INVESTMENTS, OPERATIONS  AND OTHER F IXED ASSETS

2002 2001
———–————————————————————————

Investments Operations
& other to be

fixed assets disposed Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

HOMES

Impairment in value of investments – (5.0) (5.0) –

Reduction of interest in joint ventures – – – (3.5)

INVESTMENTS

Provision release/(impairment in value of investments) 1.9 – 1.9 (4.8)

Profit on sale of associate 1.2 – 1.2 –

Profit on sale of investments 0.3 – 0.3 56.4

PROPERTY

Profit on sale of proper ties – – – 3.1
———–————————————————————————

3.4 (5.0) (1.6) 51.2
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

2002 2001
———–————————————————————————

Investments
& other Operations

fixed assets disposed Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

HOMES

Loss on sale of Private Housing Division – (12.0) (12.0) –

PROPERTY

Profit on sale of proper ties 0.9 – 0.9 –

Profit on sale of operations – 3.9 3.9 –

CONSTRUCTION

Loss on sale of the Construction Division+ – – – (33.6)

Loss on sale of the Access Plant Hire business – (0.7) (0.7) –
———–————————————————————————

0.9 (8.8) (7.9) (33.6)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

+ Loss on sale of the Construction Division includes £2.1 million of goodwill which was previously taken to reser ves.

4 . D I R E C T O R S  A N D  E M P L OY E E S

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
Employee costs, including Directors’ emoluments, comprise:

Wages and salaries 65.4 108.0

Social security costs 4.9 5.6

Pension charge 9.1 0.5

Provision for future pension costs 6.3 –
——————————————

85.7 114.1
————————————————————————————
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4 . D I R E C T O R S  A N D  E M P L OY E E S  ( cont inued)

Average employee numbers:
2002 2001

Continuing Discontinued Total
No. No. No. No.

———–————————————————————————
Staff – monthly paid 841 732 1,573 3,244

Operatives – weekly paid 9 142 151 2,412
———–————————————————————————

850 874 1,724 5,656
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

UK 846 874 1,720 4,268

Overseas 4 – 4 1,388
———–————————————————————————

850 874 1,724 5,656
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

A detailed analysis of Directors’ remuneration is set out within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 48 to 55.

5 . P E N S I O N S  A N D  M E D I C A L  I N S U R A N C E

The Group has continued to account for pensions and post retirement medical benefits in accordance with SSAP 24. Full adoption of the requirements

of FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’ will not be mandator y for the Group until the year ended 31 December 2005. However, the Directors intend to

implement early adoption of FRS 17 in 2003. The transitional disclosures required under FRS 17 are set out in Part (B) of this note and these show an

FRS 17 pension deficit of £100.0 million net of £42.8 million associated deferred tax asset (2001 – surplus £9.0 million).

Composition of the plans

The Group operates four defined benefit schemes in the UK.

(i) The John Laing Pension Fund

(ii) The John Laing Pension Plan

(iii) The Chiltern Railway Company Limited Section of the Railways Pension Scheme

(iv) The Chiltern Railway Company Limited (Maintenance) Section of the Railways Pension Scheme

THE LAING SCHEMES

Full actuarial valuations of The John Laing Pension Fund and The John Laing Pension Plan (the “Laing Schemes”) were carr ied out as at 31 March

2002 by a qualified independent actuar y.

The assets of these schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds. Contr ibutions to the Laing Schemes are assessed in accordance

with the advice of a qualified actuar y using the attained age funding method.

No contr ibutions were paid in 2002 or the previous year. From 1 Januar y 2003, contr ibutions to the John Laing Pension Fund have been

recommenced at a minimum rate of 18% of active members’ pensionable salar ies.

The Laing Schemes were closed to new members on 31 December 2001. Staff employed since that date and entitled to retirement benefits , can

choose to be members of a defined contr ibution Stakeholder scheme sponsored by the Group in conjunction with Legal and General Assurance

Society Limited.

An analysis of members at 31 December 2002 is shown below:

Actives Deferred Pensioners
—————————————————————

The John Laing Pension Fund 744# 6,431 2,973

The John Laing Pension Plan 3 583 277
—————————————————————

# Within the active employees there are 482 employed in the UK Housing business that was sold on 1 November 2002. These members will either transfer to
George Wimpey Schemes or become deferred members of the Laing Schemes by 31 October 2003.
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5 . P E N S I O N S  A N D  M E D I C A L  I N S U R A N C E ( cont inued)

THE CHILTERN SCHEMES

The Chiltern Railway Company Limited Section and the Chiltern Railway Company Limited (Maintenance) Section (the “Chiltern Schemes”) form

part of the Railways Pension Scheme but their assets and liabilities are identified separately from the remainder of the Scheme.

The last full actuarial valuation of the Chiltern Schemes was carr ied out as at 31 December 2001 and these were updated to 31 December

2002 by a qualified independent actuar y.

The assets of these schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds. Contr ibutions to the schemes are assessed in accordance with the

advice of a qualified actuar y using the attained age funding method.

The Chiltern Schemes remain open to new members.

In respect of The Chiltern Railway Company Limited Section the employer contr ibutions were 9.0% of Section Pay until 30 June 2002 and 11.25%

thereafter. The employer pays 14.7% of Section Pay with respect to a particular element of certain members’ pay. These rates are expected to

continue until 30 September 2003, when the employer contr ibutions will revert to 60.0% of the long-term joint contr ibution rate of 22.6% of

Section Pay.

In respect of The Chiltern Railway Company Limited (Maintenance) Section, employer contr ibutions for the period ended 31 December 2002 were

7.5%. This rate is expected to continue until 30 September 2003 when contr ibutions are expected to revert to 60.0% of the joint contr ibution

rate of 23.1% of Section Pay.

PART A – SSAP 24 disclosures

The disclosures in Part A of this note set out the basis upon which the pension and medical insurance costs have been incorporated within the

financial statements. The pension costs relating to the Group disclosed in these accounts are derived from the formal tr iennial valuations of the

Laing Schemes as at 31 March 2002 and of the Chiltern Schemes as at 31 December 2001.

A (i) ACCOUNTING CHARGE AND PREPAYMENTS

The net pension charge for the year ended 31 December 2002 was £9.1 million (2001 – £0.5 million). The charge for providing post

retirement medical benefits was £1.5 million (2001 – £0.2 million).

Analysis of movement on SSAP 24 prepayments/(liabilities):

SSAP 24 pension prepayment
Laing Chiltern Medical

Schemes Schemes Insurance Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
At 1 January 2002 27.4 0.1 (2.3) 25.2
Contributions –# 1.0 0.2 1.2
SSAP 24 charge (8.0) (1.1) (1.5) (10.6)

———–————————————————————————
AT 31 DECEMBER 2002 19.4 – (3.6) 15.8

———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

# No pension contr ibutions were made to the Laing Schemes during the year ended 31 December 2002, other than those made in respect of employees of
Laing Homes Limited, under the terms of the sale agreement governing the sale of the business. Neither these contr ibutions, nor the cost of accrual of
benefits , are recognised in this statement.
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5 . P E N S I O N S  A N D  M E D I C A L  I N S U R A N C E ( cont inued)

A (ii) ACTUARIAL VALUATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS

The pension costs disclosed in these accounts are derived from the formal tr iennial valuations of the Schemes as at 31 March 2002 in

relation to the Laing Schemes and 31 December 2001 in relation to the Chiltern Schemes. The valuations were updated to 31 December

2002 by qualified independent actuaries for the purpose of establishing the SSAP 24 pension charge.

The principal assumptions under lying the valuation for accounting purposes differ from those used for the purpose of determining funding

policies as detailed below:

Laing Schemes Chiltern Schemes
Accounting Funding Accounting Funding

assumptions assumptions assumptions assumptions
% % % %

———–————————————————————————
Investment returns 6.00 6.00 5.80 5.80

Salar y increases 3.75 4.00 3.80 4.00

Inflation 2.25 2.25 2.30 2.30
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

At the date of the last formal actuarial valuations the market value of the Laing Schemes was £613.4 million which represented 95.4%

of the benefits that had accrued to members. In particular, The John Laing Pension Fund had a deficit of £35.7 million on the basis used

under the funding policy. As a response to the financial position of the Fund, it has been agreed that contr ibutions will recommence from

1 Januar y 2003 at a minimum rate of 18.0% of pensionable salar ies.

At the date of the last formal actuarial valuations the market value of the Chiltern Schemes was £22.3 million which represented 85% of

the benefits that had accrued to members.

At 31 December 2002 the Laing Schemes’ assets represent 115% of the Minimum Funding Requirement as prescribed by current legislation.

A (iii) POST RETIREMENT MEDICAL INSURANCE

The Group provides post retirement medical insurance to a group of 66 past and present employees. The scheme was closed to new members

in 1991 and only 3 of the members remain in the employment of the Group. The SSAP 24 pension liability included in the accounts reflects an

independent actuary’s assessment of future medical insurance costs. The charge to the profit and loss account of £1.5 million for the year ended

31 December 2002 is exceptionally high due to the adoption of more conservative premium inflation assumptions and revised mortality rates.

The SSAP 24 liability of £3.6 million equates to the discounted value of projected future premiums using a pre-tax discount rate of 5.5%.

PART B – FRS 17 transitional disclosure requirements

Information provided in Part B of this note is disclosed in order to comply with the transitional arrangements of FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’.

B (i) FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS

The financial assumptions used for the purpose of calculating the FRS 17 pension surplus/(deficit) were:

Laing Schemes Chiltern Schemes
31 December 31 December

2002 2001 2002 2001
% % % %

———–————————————————————————
Discount rate 5.50 6.00 5.80 5.75

Rate of increase in salaries 3.50 3.75 3.80# 4.00#

Rate of increase in non-GMP pensions in payment 2.00 2.25 2.30 2.50

Rate of increase in non-GMP pensions in deferment 2.00 2.25 2.30 2.50

Inflation 2.00 2.25 2.30 2.50
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

# plus 0.75% p.a. promotional salar y scale.

The Laing Schemes are now closed to new members. Therefore, under the Projected Unit method of valuation, the current ser vice cost will

increase as a percentage of pensionable payroll as the members approach retirement.

The Chiltern Schemes remain open to new members.
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5 . P E N S I O N S  A N D  M E D I C A L  I N S U R A N C E ( cont inued)

B (ii) INVESTMENT RETURNS AND VALUES

Laing Schemes

The combined assets of the Laing Schemes and the expected rates of return were:

At 31 December 2002 At 31 December 2001
Long-term Long-term

rate of return rate of return
expected Value expected Value

% £ million % £ million
———–————————————————————————

Fixed interest bonds 4.50 171.9 5.00 160.0

Equities 7.50 273.0 7.50 377.5

Proper ty 7.50 60.3 7.50 53.6

Cash 4.50 11.8 5.00 16.0
——————— ———————

Total market value of assets 517.0 607.1

Present value of schemes liabilities (652.1) (589.4)
——————— ———————

(Deficit)/surplus in schemes (135.1) 17.7

Unrecoverable surplus in Plan (3.9) (4.9)
——————— ———————

Net pension (deficit)/surplus (139.0) 12.8
——————— —————————————— ———————

Chiltern Schemes

The combined assets of the Chiltern Schemes and the expected rates of return were:

At 31 December 2002 At 31 December 2001
Long-term Long-term

rate of return rate of return
expected Value expected Value

% £ million % £ million
———–————————————————————————

Fixed interest bonds 5.00 2.4 5.25 2.5

Equities 8.50 18.5 7.75 22.2

Proper ty 6.80 1.4 6.50 1.3

Other 3.80 – 4.50 –
——————— ———————

Total market value of assets 22.3 26.0

Present value of schemes liabilities (26.1) (25.9)
——————— ———————

(Deficit)/surplus in schemes (3.8) 0.1
——————— —————————————— ———————
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5 . P E N S I O N S  A N D  M E D I C A L  I N S U R A N C E ( cont inued)

B (iii) BALANCE SHEET PRESENTATION

If the FRS 17 (deficits)/surpluses shown above had been recognised in the financial statements, the Group’s net assets and profit and

loss reser ves would have been as follows:

31 December 31 December
2002 2001

Restated*
£ million £ million

——————————————
NET ASSETS

Net assets per Group balance sheet 222.8 261.4

Remove SSAP 24 pension asset (19.4) (27.5)

Add associated deferred tax 5.8 8.3

Include FRS 17 pension (deficit)/surplus (142.8) 12.9

Add associated deferred tax 42.8 (3.9)
——————————————

Net assets incorporating FRS 17 (deficit)/surplus 109.2 251.2
————————————————————————————

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT RESERVE

Profit and loss reserve per Group balance sheet 54.2 90.5

Remove SSAP 24 pension asset and associated deferred tax (13.6) (19.2)

Include FRS 17 pension (deficit)/surplus and associated deferred tax (100.0) 9.0
——————————————

(59.4) 80.3
————————————————————————————

B (iv) ANALYSIS OF AMOUNTS (CHARGED)/CREDITED TO OPERATING PROFIT

2002
£ million

———————
Current ser vice cost (8.7)
Past service cost 1.9
Decrease in recoverable surplus arising from decrease in active membership (1.5)

———————
(8.3)

——————————————

B (v) ANALYSIS OF AMOUNTS CREDITED/(CHARGED) TO OTHER FINANCE INCOME

2002
£ million

———————
Expected return on scheme assets 41.1
Interest on scheme liabilities (35.6)

———————
Net credit to other finance income 5.5

——————————————

* see accounting policies (a).
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5 . P E N S I O N S  A N D  M E D I C A L  I N S U R A N C E ( cont inued)

B (vi) ANALYSIS OF THE AMOUNT RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES (‘STRGL’)

2002
£ million

———————
Loss on assets (105.2)
Experience loss on liabilities (26.1)
Loss on change of assumptions (25.2)
Increase in unrecoverable surplus 2.5

———————
Actuarial loss recognised in STRGL (154.0)
Associated deferred tax asset 46.2

———————
(107.8)

——————————————

The realisation of the notional deferred tax asset will be dependent upon there being sufficient taxable profits against which to offset

the funding cost associated with the FRS 17 deficit over the long-term funding period. Notional deferred tax has been calculated at the

current rate of corporation tax of 30.0%.

B (vii) EXPERIENCE LOSSES

2002
£ million

———————
Actual loss on assets (105.2)

Percentage of assets (20%)
Experience loss on liabilities (26.1)

Percentage of present value of liabilities (4%)
Total loss recognised in STRGL (154.0)

Percentage of present value of liabilities (23%)
——————————————

B (viii) ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENT IN SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) DURING THE YEAR

2002
£ million

———————
Surplus at 1 January 12.9
Contributions paid 1.0
Current ser vice cost (8.7)
Past service cost 1.9
Other finance income 5.5
Actuarial loss (156.4)
Change in unrecoverable surplus in Plan 1.0

———————
Deficit at 31 December (142.8)

——————————————
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5 . P E N S I O N S  A N D  M E D I C A L  I N S U R A N C E ( cont inued)

B (ix) PRESENTATION OF THE GROUP STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

If the FRS 17 (deficits)/surpluses had been recognised in the financial statements, the Group’s STRGL would have been as follows:

2002
£ million

———————
Loss attributable to shareholders (24.2)
Adjustment for SSAP 24 net of deferred tax 6.4
Adjustments for FRS 17

Charged to operating profit B (iv) (8.3)
Credited to other finance income B (v) 5.5

———————
Adjusted loss attributable to shareholders (20.6)
Currency translation differences on foreign currency net investments (2.3)
Actuarial loss recognised net of deferred tax B (vi) (107.8)

———————
Total gains/(losses) recognised in the year (130.7)

——————————————

6 . O T H E R  O P E R AT I N G  I N C O M E

2002 2001
Continuing Discontinued Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
———–————————————————————————

Dividends from investments:

Listed – – – 1.2

Unlisted 5.5 – 5.5 1.6

Indexation:

Listed debenture stock – – – 0.1
———–————————————————————————

5.5 – 5.5 2.9
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

7 . G R O U P  I N T E R E S T

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
Group interest payable includes the following:

Accelerated amor tisation of previous debt issue costs (3.2) –

Write-off of brought forward loan arrangement fees – (0.4)

Breakage costs on prepayment of US loan notes (19.5) (0.2)

Amor tisation of loan arrangement fees (0.6) (0.2)

Interest on non-recourse bridge facility (2.0) –

Amor tisation of discount on deferred consideration 2.2 –
————————————————————————————

All other interest is (payable)/receivable on bank deposits , loans and other borrowings.
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8 . A N A LYS I S  O F  O P E R AT I N G  R E S U LT  2 0 0 1

Operations disposed of in Total
2001

Continuing 2002 2001 Restated*
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
Group turnover excluding joint ventures and associates 159.0 385.5 545.6 1,090.1

Cost of sales (132.5) (300.2) (596.3) (1,029.0)

Net operating expenses

Exceptional costs of restructuring – (8.7) – (8.7)

Other operating and administrative expenses (34.1) (27.0) (43.5) (104.6)

Other operating income 2.9 – – 2.9
———–————————————————————————

Group operating profit/(loss) (4.7) 49.6 (94.2) (49.3)

Share of operating profit of:

Joint ventures 17.4 1.2 (0.3) 18.3

Associates 8.0 – – 8.0
———–————————————————————————

Group operating profit/(loss) including joint ventures and associates 20.7 50.8 (94.5) (23.0)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

9 . TA X AT I O N

2002 2001
Current Prior year Total Restated*

£ million £ million £ million £ million
———–————————————————————————

The taxation charge comprises:

Group UK corporation tax at 30% (2001 – 30%) (1.6) (0.5) (2.1) (2.6)

Overseas tax (1.0) (0.1) (1.1) (0.3)

Deferred tax 2.9 0.6 3.5 (5.6)

Joint ventures (5.6) – (5.6) (2.7)

Associates (0.5) – (0.5) (0.5)
———–————————————————————————

(5.8) – (5.8) (11.7)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

* see accounting policies (a).
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9 . TA X AT I O N ( cont inued)

Analysis of charge for the year :
2002 2001

Restated*
£ million £ million

——————————————
Current tax

Corporation tax on profit/(loss) for the year (8.7) (7.2)

Adjustments in respect of previous periods (0.6) 1.1
——————————————

Total current tax (9.3) (6.1)

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences 3.5 (5.6)
——————————————

Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinar y activities (5.8) (11.7)
————————————————————————————

The tax assessed differs from the application of the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%) to the Group’s accounting loss before

taxation for the following reasons:

2002 2001
Restated*

£ million £ million
——————————————

Loss on ordinar y activities before tax (18.6) (30.3)
——————————————

Loss on ordinar y activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK 5.6 9.1

Effects of:

Losses on which deferred tax assets have not been recognised (9.2) –

Related companies – differences in tax rates (4.1) 2.0

Foreign exchange loss taken to reserves 0.7 –

Non taxable dividends 1.6 –

Goodwill written off (1.8) (0.3)

Disallowable expenses (0.3) (0.8)

Disposal of subsidiaries (0.4) (20.4)

Write back/(down) of investments 0.6 (2.4)

Overseas and UK losses not available for offset – (0.5)

Benefit of prior year losses – 3.2

CFC interest on loans (1.0) –

UITF 34 adjustment – 1.3

Other differences (1.0) 2.7
——————————————

Total current tax (9.3) (6.1)
————————————————————————————

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 0 . D I V I D E N D S

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
The following have been paid or are proposed:

EQUITY

On Ordinar y Shares:

Interim – paid 2.0 pence per share (2001 – 3.3 pence) 3.5 3.3

Final – proposed 4.8 pence per share (2001 – 4.3 pence) 8.5 7.5

Dividend paid to M40 Trains Limited minority shareholders 0.1 –
——————————————

12.1 10.8

NON-EQUITY

On 6.4% Conver tible Cumulative Preference Shares 2.5 2.5
——————————————

14.6 13.3
————————————————————————————

Included within the non-equity dividend is an accrual of £0.4 million (2001 – £0.4 million).

1 1 . C A L C U L AT I O N  O F  L O S S E S  P E R  S H A R E

2002 2001
Restated*

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
———–————————————————————————

Loss per share (pence) (15.3) (15.3) (38.3) (38.3)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

BASIS OF CALCULATION

Losses attributable to shareholders (£ million) (24.2) (24.2) (42.6) (42.6)

Preference dividends (2.5) – (2.5) –
———–————————————————————————

Loss after tax and preference dividends (26.7) (24.2) (45.1) (42.6)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Weighted average number of shares (millions) 175.2 175.2 117.7 117.7

Weighted average number of warrants adjusted for

issue of shares at fair value – 2.3 – 6.2

Weighted average number of options adjusted

for issue of shares at fair value – 0.2 – 0.4

Weighted average number of unexercised

preference share conversions – 13.3 – 13.4
———–————————————————————————

Weighted average number of shares used for EPS 175.2 191.0 117.7 137.7
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Losses per share have been calculated by reference to 175.2 million basic and diluted shares, being the average number of shares in issue during

the year. Options and Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares totalling 15.8 million shares have been excluded from the calculation as they are

anti-dilutive.

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 2 . R E C O G N I S E D  G A I N S  A N D  L O S S E S

2002 2001
Restated*

£ million £ million
——————————————

Total gains/(losses) recognised in the year :

Group (36.5) (61.0)

Joint ventures 2.6 13.2

Associates 7.4 4.6
——————————————

(26.5) (43.2)
————————————————————————————

1 3 . I N TA N G I B L E  A S S E T S

2002 2001
Cost of Goodwill on

franchise acquisition Total Restated*
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
ORIGINAL COST

At 1 January 3.0 11.5 14.5 11.5

Additions 1.5 6.6 8.1 3.0
———–————————————————————————

At 31 December 4.5 18.1 22.6 14.5
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

At 1 January – 3.4 3.4 2.0

Charge for the year 0.3 0.7 1.0 1.4

Impairment in value of investments – 5.0 5.0 –

Disposal – (0.1) (0.1) –
———–————————————————————————

At 31 December 0.3 9.0 9.3 3.4
———–————————————————————————

NET BOOK VALUE AT 31 DECEMBER 4.2 9.1 13.3 11.1
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Additions arise on the capitalisation of the costs attr ibutable to the extension of the M40 Trains Limited Chiltern Line rail franchise and purchase

in minority interests in M40 Trains Limited.

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 4 . TA N G I B L E  A S S E T S

Land and buildings
Freehold Leasehold Leasehold Vehicles,
land and 50 years less than Rail PFI plant and
buildings or more 50 years infrastructure assets machinery Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

————————————————————————–————————————————————————
ORIGINAL COST/VALUATION

At 1 January 2002 (Restated*) 7.3 3.6 1.6 – 63.4 17.8 93.7
Reclassifications (1.0) – 0.2 0.8 – – –
Foreign exchange adjustments – – – – – (0.3) (0.3)
Additions – – – 7.7 23.4 3.2 34.3
Disposals – sale of assets (1.4) (3.6) – – – (1.6) (6.6)

– businesses – – – – – (12.0) (12.0)
————————————————————————–————————————————————————

At 31 December 2002 4.9 – 1.8 8.5 86.8 7.1 109.1
————————————————————————–————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2002 – – 0.2 – – 12.1 12.3
Foreign exchange adjustments – – – – – (0.2) (0.2)
Charge for the year – – 0.1 – 0.9 2.5 3.5
Disposals – sale of assets – – – – – (1.6) (1.6)

– businesses – – – – – (8.7) (8.7)
————————————————————————–————————————————————————

At 31 December 2002 – – 0.3 – 0.9 4.1 5.3
————————————————————————–————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

NET BOOK VALUE AT 31 DECEMBER 2002 4.9 – 1.5 8.5 85.9 3.0 103.8
————————————————————————–————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Net book value at 31 December 2001* 7.3 3.6 1.4 – 63.4 5.7 81.4
————————————————————————–————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Land and buildings utilised by the Group as business premises are included at an existing use value carr ied out at 31 December 2001 by

Officers of the Group. Those land and buildings which are surplus to the Group’s requirements are included at an open market value at the same

date. There is no material difference between the existing use value and the open market value. In the opinion of the Directors there would be no

tax payable if all properties were realised at these values.

Included in PFI assets are capitalised finance costs of £6.2 million (2001 – £4.9 million).

1 5 . I N T E R E S T S  I N  S U B S I D I A RY  U N D E R TA K I N G S

2002 2001
Investments Loans Total Restated*

£ million £ million £ million £ million
———–————————————————————————

INCLUDED AS FIXED ASSETS

At 1 January 158.8 89.1 247.9 394.4

Revaluations (22.1) – (22.1) (114.5)

Reclassification# – – – (23.0)

Additions less disposals at valuation (9.3) – (9.3) (10.8)

Movements in loans to subsidiar y under takings – (8.3) (8.3) 1.8
———–————————————————————————

At 31 December 127.4 80.8 208.2 247.9
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

# Reclassification of Laing Property Developments Limited.

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 5 . I N T E R E S T S  I N  S U B S I D I A RY  U N D E R TA K I N G S ( cont inued)

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
INCLUDED AS CURRENT ASSETS

At 1 January 23.0 –

Disposal of Laing Proper ty Developments Limited (23.0) –

Reclassification# – 23.0
——————————————

At 31 December – 23.0
————————————————————————————

# Reclassification of Laing Property Developments Limited.

Short-term trading balances with subsidiar ies are included separately in the parent company balance sheet in debtors or creditors as appropriate.

The Group’s pr incipal subsidiar ies , joint ventures and associated undertakings at 31 December 2002 are listed on pages 103 and 104. To avoid

particulars of excessive length the names of a number of companies which did not significantly affect the profitability or assets of the Group

are omitted.

1 6 . I N V E S T M E N T S

Joint ventures and associated undertakings Other Total
Fair Post investments

value acquisition
Equity Loans Goodwill adjustment reserves Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
———————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

AT 1 JANUARY 2002

Listed – – – – – – 6.0 6.0
Unlisted (Restated*) 24.2 71.7 0.8 43.6 10.1 150.4 16.7 167.1

———————————————————————————————–————————————————————————
Shares and loans at net

book value 24.2 71.7 0.8 43.6 10.1 150.4 22.7 173.1
———————————————————————————————–———————————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

MOVEMENTS IN THE YEAR

Acquisitions/additions – 1.2 – – – 1.2 0.1 1.3
Disposals/repayment (1.8) (26.5) – – – (28.3) (0.3) (28.6)
Reclassification (0.4) – (0.8) – 1.2 – – –
Decrease in value – – – (1.2) – (1.2) (0.7) (1.9)
Variations in retained profits – – – – 9.4 9.4 – 9.4
Exchange differences (1.0) – – – (0.7) (1.7) 0.1 (1.6)

———————————————————————————————–————————————————————————
(3.2) (25.3) (0.8) (1.2) 9.9 (20.6) (0.8) (21.4)

———————————————————————————————–———————————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————
AT 31 DECEMBER 2002

Listed – – – – – – 5.2 5.2
Unlisted 21.0 46.4 – 42.4 20.0 129.8 16.7 146.5

———————————————————————————————–————————————————————————
Shares and loans at net

book value 21.0 46.4 – 42.4 20.0 129.8 21.9 151.7
———————————————————————————————–———————————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 6 . I N V E S T M E N T S ( cont inued)

Severn River Crossing Plc

Listed investments include the Group’s interest in the debentures and 35% of the equity of Severn River Crossing Plc (“SRC”). The Group’s

principal interest in this company arises from its membership of a joint arrangement to construct the second Severn r iver crossing, the concession

to operate which is held by SRC. SRC also holds the concession to operate the first Severn r iver crossing; both concessions will be handed back to

the Government when pre-determined revenue levels have been achieved.

SRC has committed funding, provided principally by banks and financial institutions, on which there is no recourse to the Group. The Group has no

obligation to provide any further funds to SRC.

In view of the nature of the Group’s interest in the company, and the fact that the company is unlikely to make regular distr ibutions of any

material profits for a significant period, the Directors believe it would be misleading for the Group to account for its interest in SRC on an equity

accounting basis . The investment is therefore included at cost plus indexation amounting to £4.6 million (2001 – £4.7 million) and interest

received thereon is taken to the profit and loss account at £0.3 million (2001 – £0.3 million). During the year ended 31 December 2002 the

Group has also recognised £0.04 million of additional value on its initial investment of £4.4 million in 6% index linked debenture stock. This

additional value is attr ibuted to the indexation element on the return and is included within other income.

During the year ended 31 December 2002, SRC paid a special dividend to the Group of £4.2 million following a refinancing. This is included

within other operating income in the Group profit and loss account.

If the investment had been accounted for as a joint venture the Group’s share of the reported pre-tax profit of SRC for 2002 would have been

£3.3 million (2001 – £2.6 million loss) and the Group’s investment would have been stated at £7.5 million (2001 – £26.0 million). The

significant reduction in the account value of the investment was caused by the introduction of full deferred tax provisioning by SRC, in accordance

with FRS 19.

Other listed investments

The market value of listed investments at 31 December 2002 was £6.2 million (2001 – £7.0 million) of which £5.6 million (2001 – £5.2 million)

is listed on the London Stock Exchange. If these investments had been sold at market value on 31 December 2002, this would have given r ise to

a tax charge of £0.2 million.

Unlisted investments

In the opinion of the Directors the total value of unlisted investments is not less than their net book value of £146.5 million.

Investments in joint ventures and associates

2002
Joint

ventures Associates Total
£ million £ million £ million

—————————————————————
Turnover 73.1 122.6 195.7

—————————————————————
Profit before tax 8.4 8.5 16.9
Taxation (5.6) (0.5) (6.1)

—————————————————————
Profit after tax 2.8 8.0 10.8

——————————————————————————————————————————
Fixed assets 139.9 2.7 142.6
Intangible assets – 6.0 6.0
Fair value adjustments 42.4 – 42.4
Current assets 496.1 97.5 593.6
Total liabilities – less than one year (43.9) (51.2) (95.1)

– greater than one year (535.2) (13.0) (548.2)
Provisions (11.3) (0.2) (11.5)

—————————————————————
88.0 41.8 129.8

——————————————————————————————————————————
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1 7 . S T O C K S  A N D  WO R K  I N  P R O G R E S S

31 December 31 December
2002 2001

£ million £ million
——————————————

Work in progress – 1.9

Raw materials and consumables 0.8 0.7
——————————————

0.8 2.6
————————————————————————————

The land and developments disclosed separately in the balance sheet represent land and related construction costs in respect of residential and

commercial properties held for, or in the course of, development.

1 8 . D E B T O R S

31 December 2002 31 December 2001
Restated*

Group Company Group Company
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
Due within one year :

Finance debtor – – 0.3 –

Amounts recoverable on contracts 3.7 – 6.0 –

Amounts recoverable on PFI contracts 1.0 – 0.3 –

Trade debtors# 225.0 0.1 55.3 0.3

Amounts owed by subsidiar y under takings – 288.7 – 294.8

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associated under takings 0.9 – 0.4 –

Prepayments and accrued income 6.4 0.7 8.5 –

Taxation 3.0 0.2 2.6 –

Other taxation 7.9 – 4.4 –

SSAP 24 pension prepayment 18.8 – – –
———–————————————————————————

266.7 289.7 77.8 295.1
———–————————————————————————

Due after more than one year :

Finance debtor 14.8 – 16.4 –

Amounts recoverable on contracts 1.6 – 0.8 –

Amounts recoverable on PFI contracts 119.1 – 42.8 –

Trade debtors 2.8 – 4.1 –

Prepayments and accrued income 1.6 1.6 – –

SSAP 24 pension prepayment 0.6 – 27.5 –
———–————————————————————————

140.5 1.6 91.6 –
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Included within the above were three outstanding loans to Officers and managers of the Company to a total value of £5,135 (2001 – £nil).

# On 1 November 2002 the Group sold its interest in Laing Homes Limited to George Wimpey plc for a consideration of £295.2 million which was equivalent to net

operating asset value plus £9.0 million. Proceeds of £30.0 million were received on completion with the balance to be settled against an agreed payments

schedule. The deferred consideration has been discounted at the relevant rate of the borrowing and an amount of £6.3 million is included as a credit item within

trade debtors.The first scheduled payment of £50.0 million of the deferred consideration was received on 31 December 2002. Subsequent payments will be:

£ million
———————

31 March 2003 120.0
31 December 2003 95.2

———————
215.2

——————————————

* see accounting policies (a).
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1 9 . S H O R T- T E R M  I N V E S T M E N T S

31 December 31 December
2002 2001

£ million £ million
——————————————

At cost or net realisable value:

Listed – London Stock Exchange 2.2 2.2
————————————————————————————

The market value of listed investments at 31 December 2002 was £2.3 million (2001 – £2.2 million).

2 0 . C A S H  AT  B A N K  A N D  I N  H A N D

Cash balances at 31 December 2002 are £94.1 million (2001 – £33.8 million). This includes £22.2 million held by non-recourse Project

Companies, of which some is held as collateral against bonds issued for a rail season ticket fund of £3.8 million (2001 – £3.4 million) and a rail

liquidity maintenance fund of £2.5 million (2001 – £nil). Group cash of £71.9 million includes £14.5 million (2001 – £15.1 million) which is held

in the Group’s captive insurance company and is not immediately available.

2 1 . O T H E R  C R E D I T O R S

31 December 2002 31 December 2001
Group Company Group Company

£ million £ million £ million £ million
———–————————————————————————

Due within one year :

Trade creditors and subcontractor accruals 33.8 – 129.1 –

Payments on account – – 16.1 –

Amounts owed to subsidiar y under takings – 126.3 – 96.8

Amounts owed to joint ventures and associated under takings 4.4 – 1.8 –

Corporation tax payable 7.9 0.2 11.4 0.2

Other taxation 7.5 – 2.9 –

Dividends proposed 8.9 8.9 7.9 7.9

Accruals and deferred income 35.3 2.4 24.6 1.7
———–————————————————————————

97.8 137.8 193.8 106.6
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Due after more than one year :

Trade creditors and subcontractor accruals 3.4 – 19.5 –

Accruals and deferred income 0.1 – – –
———–————————————————————————

3.5 – 19.5 –
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Trade creditors include deferred payments for development land of £1.4 million (2001 – £34.5 million) secured by bank guarantee and charges

on land. There were no amounts due on land contracts exchanged unconditionally included within trade creditors (2001 – £30.6 million).
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2 2 . P R OV I S I O N S  F O R  L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  C H A R G E S

Charged/
At 1 Reductions (released) At 31

January due to to profit and December
2002 disposals loss account Utilised 2002

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
——————————–————————————————————————

GROUP

Self insurance 19.5 – – (0.3) 19.2
Indemnified contracts cost to complete 57.0 – (2.7) (15.1) 39.2
Medical insurance 2.3 – 1.5 (0.2) 3.6
Reorganisation costs 2.0 – 2.2 (3.8) 0.4
Remediation work 0.5 – 0.7 – 1.2
Legal costs 0.4 – (0.4) – –
Customer service 2.9 (2.6) 0.1 – 0.4
Breakage costs 0.2 – 19.5 (19.7) –
Onerous lease 0.3 (0.1) 0.1 – 0.3

——————————–————————————————————————
TOTAL OTHER PROVISIONS 85.1 (2.7) 21.0 (39.1) 64.3
Deferred taxation 9.7 0.3 (3.5) (0.1) 6.4

——————————–————————————————————————
TOTAL PROVISIONS 94.8 (2.4) 17.5 (39.2) 70.7

——————————–——————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Of the above, the Company’s provisions for liabilities and charges was £nil (2001 – £0.2 million) which related to the breakage cost provision.

SELF INSURANCE provisions are calculated using histor ical data and is based on the advice of loss adjustors . It is expected to take some years

to assess the liability completely.

INDEMNIFIED CONTRACTS COST TO COMPLETE are assessed regular ly on a contract by contract basis and are expected to be utilised during

the next 2 years.

MEDICAL INSURANCE provisions are in respect of post retirement healthcare.

REORGANISATION COST provisions are expected to be utilised during 2003.

REMEDIATION WORK provisions are specific to contracts and housing developments and may take some years to utilise.

LEGAL COST provisions are expected to be utilised depending upon the progress of each specific case.

CUSTOMER SERVICE cost provisions are calculated on a statistical basis and are generally utilised within one year.

BREAKAGE COST provision allows for the contracted ear ly redemption of the US dollar loan notes. As set out in note 23e was fully utilised during

the year on the prepayment of the loan notes.

ONEROUS LEASE costs will be utilised over the 3 year remaining life of the lease.

Provided at Not provided at
31 December 31 December

2002 2001 2002 2001
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
DEFERRED TAXATION

Excess of capital allowances over depreciation (0.3) 0.6 – 0.5

SSAP 24 pension asset 5.8 8.3 – –

Shor t-term timing differences 0.9 0.8 (9.2)# –
———–————————————————————————

6.4 9.7 (9.2) 0.5
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

# The unprovided tax asset of £9.2 million is in respect of current year losses available to offset against profits from the same trade in future years.



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

92 John Laing plc

2 3 . F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

(a) INTEREST RATE RISK PROFILE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2002 are £411.7 million, however these include only a small amount of recourse liabilities of

£2.4 million, the majority being non-recourse liabilities of £409.3 million. These principally comprise the bridge finance arranged against the

deferred consideration from George Wimpey plc , and borrowings of Project Companies which are required to be consolidated as they are wholly

owned. In these Project Companies the lenders have recourse solely to that Project Company itself and hence are non-recourse to the Group.

The financial liabilities shown comprise borrowings of under one year of £201.9 million and over one year of £206.3 million, and creditors

maturing over one year of £3.5 million.

Financial liabilities – 31 December 2002 Financial liabilities – 31 December 2001
Non- Non-

Floating Fixed interest Floating Fixed interest
Total rate rate bearing Total rate rate bearing

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

CURRENCY

Ster ling 2.4 2.4 – – 119.6 100.1 – 19.5

US Dollar – – – – 85.6 10.3 75.3 –

Australian Dollar – – – – 9.9 9.9 – –

Arrangement fee – – – – (3.2) (2.3) (0.9) –
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

TOTAL RECOURSE 2.4 2.4 – – 211.9 118.0 74.4 19.5
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Non-recourse (Ster ling)

Deferred consideration

bridge finance 184.0 – 184.0 – – – – –

Arrangement fee –

bridge finance (2.5) – (2.5) – – – – –

Project Companies 233.6 18.0 212.1 3.5 118.3 9.5 108.8 –

Arrangement fee –

Project Companies (5.8) – (5.8) – (4.4) – (4.4) –
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

TOTAL NON-RECOURSE 409.3 18.0 387.8 3.5 113.9 9.5 104.4 –
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

TOTAL 411.7 20.4 387.8 3.5 325.8 127.5 178.8 19.5
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

The recourse borrowings outstanding at 31 December 2002 are overdrafts of £2.4 million. In addition to the arrangement fees shown above,

the Company paid arrangement fees for the new syndicated committed revolving credit facility and committed bilateral facilities . These are

written off over the period of the relevant facility, and the amount remaining to be amortised at 31 December 2002 is £2.1 million which is

included as a prepayment within debtors as these facilities are undrawn. In 2001 the arrangement fee was netted off against the drawn

amounts of the facilities .

The non-recourse bridge financing, is repayable solely out of the proceeds of the deferred consideration from George Wimpey plc . There are

2 tranches which are both fixed at an average rate of 5.22% and have a weighted average maturity of 6 months. These are £120.0 million

repayable on 31 March 2003 fixed at 5.20% and £64.0 million repayable on 31 December 2003 fixed at 5.26%.

The non-recourse Ster ling fixed rate liabilities relate to 6 Project Companies in which subsidiar ies of the Group have 100% shareholdings. In

each case the interest rates for the project are fixed using interest rate swaps with maturities ranging from 2006 to 2028, and all-in interest

rates var ying from 6.28% to 7.98%.
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2 3 . F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S ( cont inued)

(b) INTEREST RATE RISK PROFILE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets of £258.7 million comprise £94.1 million of cash, £2.2 million of short-term investments, £21.9 million of fixed asset

investments and £140.5 million of debtors due after more than one year.

Financial assets – 31 December 2002 Financial assets – 31 December 2001
Non- Non-

Floating Fixed interest Floating Fixed interest
Total rate rate bearing Total rate rate bearing

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

CURRENCY

Ster ling 102.3 74.1 – 28.2 62.8 24.7 – 38.1

US Dollar – – – – 3.6 1.9 – 1.7

Australian Dollar – – – – 15.5 0.2 – 15.3

Others – – – – 0.4 0.4 – –

Non-recourse (Ster ling) 156.4 22.2 14.8 119.4 68.0 8.8 16.4 42.8
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

TOTAL 258.7 96.3 14.8 147.6 150.3 36.0 16.4 97.9
————————————————————————————–————————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

The floating rate financial assets are mainly cash and deposits placed with banks at LIBID. The fixed rate assets represent finance debtors

and the non-interest bearing assets comprise amounts recoverable on PFI contracts , fixed asset investments and trade debtors.

(c) CURRENCY EXPOSURES

The Group’s foreign currency net assets are set out below:

Australian
US Dollar Dollar Others Total

———–————————————————————————
NET FOREIGN CURRENCY ASSETS – £ MILLIONS

Ster ling – 31 December 2002 30.5 14.6 3.5 48.6
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

– 31 December 2001 7.7 9.7 3.8 21.2
———–————————————————————————

The US assets represent the remaining equity stake in WL Homes Investors LLC , the remaining portion of the deferred consideration from the

partial sale of the US Housing business in 2001 and cash balances. The Australian assets represent the portfolio of investment assets held in

that countr y and principally comprise the investments in Adelaide and Northern Terr itor y airports . The other assets principally represent the

Finnish road investment which is denominated in Euros.

(d) MATURITY OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities , was as follows:

31 December 2002 31 December 2001
Non-

Recourse recourse Group Company Group Company
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

—————————————————————————————————————————
In one year or less, or on demand 2.4 199.5 201.9 182.1 8.5 15.9

In more than 1 year but less than 2 years – 4.5 4.5 – 27.9 –

In more than 2 years but less than 5 years – 7.6 7.6 – 183.9 183.9

In more than 5 years – 197.7 197.7 – 105.5 –
—————————————————————————————————————————

TOTAL 2.4 409.3 411.7 182.1 325.8 199.8
——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————
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2 3 . F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S ( cont inued)

(e) BORROWING AND LETTER OF CREDIT FACILITIES – GROUP RECOURSE

On 1 November 2002, the Group prepaid its existing secured debt and US loan notes.

New financing for the Group was arranged concurrently with the sale of Laing Homes Limited. The new financing arrangements were committed on

16 October 2002 and commenced on 1 November 2002 enabling the existing outstanding debt to be repaid on that date.

The Group has requirements for both borrowings and letters of credit and these are met by a combination of a £90.0 million syndicated

committed facility, two bilateral committed facilities and a committed overdraft facility. These are summarised below:

Letters of
Total Borrowings credit Total

facility drawn drawn undrawn
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
Syndicated committed revolving credit facility (with letter of credit option) 90.0 – 54.5 35.5
Committed overdraft 5.0 – – 5.0

———–————————————————————————
Total committed funding 95.0 – 54.5 40.5

———–————————————————————————
Bilateral letter of credit facilities 25.0 – 12.3 12.7

———–————————————————————————
TOTAL COMMITTED GROUP FACILITIES (RECOURSE) 120.0 – 66.8 53.2

———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

The syndicated committed facility can be used for either drawing down borrowings or for issuing letters of credit. It expires on 15 October 2007.

The overdraft and bilateral facilities expire on 15 April 2004.

Of the letters of credit drawn, £48.0 million back future equity commitments and £18.8 million counterindemnify performance bonds issued

by other banks.

The non-recourse debt comprises deferred consideration bridge finance of £184.0 million which is drawn under a facility entered into concurrently

with the sale of Laing Homes Limited. The drawings under this facility match the repayments due from George Wimpey plc and the facility expires

on 31 December 2003 (see note 18). The other non-recourse debt of £230.1 million relates to Project Companies that are required to be

consolidated and are drawn under facilities specific to each project to which the funding relates. These items are shown in financial liabilities net

of arrangement fees of £8.3 million. Also included in financial liabilities are creditors maturing over one year of £3.5 million.

(f) FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
31 December 2002 31 December 2001
Book Fair Book Fair
value value value value

£ million £ million £ million £ million
———–————————————————————————

Fixed asset investments 21.9 22.9 22.7 33.8

Long-term borrowings (206.3) (225.2) (297.8) (318.1)

Non-equity share capital (38.1) (37.5) (38.1) (32.5)
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

The fair values of short-term borrowings, cash deposits , current asset investments and other financial liabilities are not materially different

from their book values.

Contingent liabilities such as guarantees given by the Company (see note 25) have no book value, and as contingent items it is not practical

to estimate their fair value.

The methods and assumptions used by the Directors to estimate fair values of financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

(i) investments maturing after three months are valued at either quoted market prices, or the net present value of estimated future cash

flows discounted at appropriate rates;

(ii) long-term borrowings and non-equity share capital are valued at market prices where available, or the net present value of future cash

flows discounted at an appropriate rate, taking into account any related interest rate swaps. The discount rate used is the swap rate for

the relevant maturity adjusted by an assumed credit spread of 1.0%; and

(iii) forward exchange contracts are valued at market rates.
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2 3 . F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S ( cont inued)

(f) FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Notional
Book Fair Gross
value value (Loss) Gain (Loss)

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
——————————–————————————————————————

FORWARD FOREIGN CURRENCY CONTRACTS

31 December 2002 – – – – –
——————————–——————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

31 December 2001 57.3 56.4 (0.9) – (0.9)
——————————–————————————————————————

The Group operates a policy of hedging against significant balance sheet exposures to foreign currency fluctuations where a cost effective and

efficient hedging instrument is available. At the end of 2001 the Group had forward contracts hedging the US dollar exposure which was the

net of the US dollar denominated loan notes and the US Housing assets. These remained in place until the US loan notes were prepaid when

the forward contracts were unwound. The Group’s investment in overseas assets has reduced during the year to levels that are unlikely to result

in significant adverse currency fluctuations and the Board has therefore endorsed a decision to remain unhedged. As at 31 December 2002,

no derivative transactions were outstanding, except for the interest rate swaps taken out by the Project Companies in connection with the non-

recourse borrowings. In these cases the non-recourse Project Company enters into an interest rate swap to protect itself from fluctuations in

movements in interest rates, usually for the full term of the debt, as shown in note 23 (a) above.

(g) NON-EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL

The Group has £39.4 million of £1 Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares in issue. These are undated and have a fixed coupon of 6.4%.

Their market value at 31 December 2002 was £37.5 million (2001 – £32.5 million).

(h) WARRANTS

In 2001, warrants were issued by the Company to its lenders at that time over 8,716,482 new Ordinar y Shares which are exercisable at £1,

at any time until 31 August 2004, of which 6,418,872 were outstanding as at 31 December 2002. Their market value at 31 December

2002 was £0.2 million (2001 – £4.7 million).

(i) SHORT-TERM DEBTORS AND CREDITORS

Short-term debtors and creditors are excluded from the above analyses, except for the currency r isk disclosures.

2 4 . T R A N S AC T I O N S  W I T H  R E L AT E D  PA R T I E S

2002 2001
Joint

ventures
and Group

associates companies Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
SALES OF GOODS, SERVICES AND INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES TO RELATED PARTIES:

Staff 0.3 – 0.3 0.5

Management buy-out – 7.2 7.2(1) –

Management services 1.5 – 1.5 1.2

Other 0.2 – 0.2 –

ACQUISITION OF MINORITY INTEREST FROM RELATED PARTIES

Minority interest purchased – (5.5) (5.5)(2) –

BALANCES DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED PARTIES:

Debtors 0.2 0.4

Creditors (4.4) (1.8)
——————————————
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2 4 . T R A N S AC T I O N S  W I T H  R E L AT E D  PA R T I E S ( cont inued)

Details of loans to and equity investments in joint ventures and associated undertakings are set out in note 16. During the year, arm’s length

transactions for the sale of construction ser vices mater ials and houses totalling £1.9 million, have been undertaken with Directors and Officers

of subsidiar y companies and related parties.

(1) On 18 Januar y 2002, a management buy-out team, including Directors , purchased the Access Plant Hire business for £2.2 million and on

5 November 2002, a Holloway White Allom management buy-out team, including Directors , purchased the Group’s interest in Holloway White

Allom Limited for £5.0 million.

(2) On 28 August 2002, Laing Rail Limited acquired an additional 15.64% in M40 Trains Limited from Directors of M40 Trains Limited for £5.5

million based upon a third party valuation.

2 5 . G UA R A N T E E S , C O N T I N G E N T  L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  O T H E R  C O M M I T M E N T S

Certain of the Group’s principal subsidiar y undertakings and the Company are guarantors under the Group’s banking facilities .

The Group’s bankers have issued letters of credit on behalf of the Company or its subsidiar ies of which £66.8 million were outstanding at

31 December 2002 (see note 23 (e)). The Group has given guarantees of a normal trading nature including performance bonds, some of which

may be payable on demand.

As is usual, there are claims arising in the normal course of trading, which are in the process of settlement and, in some cases, involve or may

involve litigation. Full provision has been made in these accounts for all amounts which the Directors consider will become payable on account

of such claims.

At the year end three of the Group’s joint ventures are in default of the terms of the agreements under which they operate. The Directors believe

that any future impacts are unlikely to be material to the Group’s results .

At 31 December 2002 there were capital commitments of £50.9 million (2001 – £41.6 million) for the uncalled capital of unlisted investments,

none of which relate to the Company. These mature as follows:

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
Less than one year 9.2 2.9

Greater than 1 year but less than 2 years 9.4 12.0

Greater than 2 years but less than 5 years 27.6 26.7

More than 5 years 4.7 –
——————————————

50.9 41.6
————————————————————————————

At 31 December 2002 the Directors had not authorised any capital expenditure other than provided for in the above figures (2001 – £0.1 million).

The Group also has the following annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expir ing:

Land and buildings Plant and machinery

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2002 2001 2002 2001

£ million £ million £ million £ million
———–————————————————————————

In less than one year – 0.1 12.6 0.7

In more than 2 years but less than 5 years 0.8 1.1 45.5 13.5

After more than 5 years 0.6 0.9 121.0 –
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————
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2 6 . S H A R E  C A P I TA L

Allotted, called up
Authorised and fully paid

At 31 At 31Nominal value
December December

Number 2002 2001 2002 2001
of shares £ million £ million £ million £ million

——————————–————————————————————————
EQUITY

Ordinar y Shares of 25 pence each 176,670,889 44.2 43.7 44.2 43.7

Unissued shares of 25 pence each 48,196,829 12.1 12.6 – –

NON–EQUITY

6.4% Conver tible Cumulative Preference Shares of £1 each 40,151,313 40.1 40.1 39.4 39.4
————–————————————————————————

96.4 96.4 83.6 83.1
———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

The unissued shares are available for designation, allotment and issue from time to time as Ordinar y Shares.

The following options over the Company's Ordinar y Shares are outstanding:

At At Ear liest Exercise
31 December 31 December date of Expir y price

2002 2001 exercise date (pence)
————————————–————————————————————————

Senior Executive Share Option Scheme 111,092 282,911 17/03/03 22/04/06 296.75-323.90

Savings Related Share Option Scheme –(1) 952,780 01/02/02 31/07/02 196.588

Executive Share Option Scheme – W W Forrester 379,746 – 18/01/05 17/01/12 158.0

The John Laing plc Executive Share Option Plan 2002 142,621(2) – 01/07/05 30/06/12 168.0

John Laing Long-Term Incentive Plan 2001 636,622 644,078 26/04/05 25/04/12 –
——————————————

1,270,081 1,879,769
————————————————————————————

(1) The Savings Related Share Option Scheme matured on 1 Februar y 2002.

(2) On 16 Januar y 2003 a grant of 235,294 options was made to W W Forrester at an option price of 127.5 pence per share. The options are

exercisable from 16 Januar y 2006 to 15 Januar y 2013 subject to certain performance cr iter ia.

Further details of the Directors share options and awards under the John Laing Long-Term Incentive Plan 2001 that are contained in the above

numbers, together with details of any related performance cr iter ia, can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 54 and 55.

The Group is taking advantage of the exemption on the application of UITF 17, ‘Employee Share Schemes’, in relation to the above schemes.

In addition to the above, on 23 October 2001 warrants over 8,716,482 Ordinar y Shares in the Company were issued. During 2002 warrant

holders exercised their r ight to convert their warrants to 2,043,991 Ordinar y Shares at an option price of £1. The average market value at the

time of exercise was 148.0 pence.

The 6.4% Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares are not redeemable, have no voting r ights and their r ights on winding up are restr icted to

repayment of the nominal value. During 2002, holders of 2,529 Convertible Cumulative Preference Shares exercised their options to convert to

853 Ordinar y Shares. These shares are convertible to Ordinar y Shares based on 33.7322 Ordinar y Shares for ever y 100 Preference Shares.
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2 7 . R E C O N C I L I AT I O N S  O F  M OV E M E N T S  I N  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ F U N D S

2002 2001
Share Property Profit and

Share premium revaluation loss Other
capital account reserve account reserves Total Restated*

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
————————————————————————–————————————————————————

GROUP

Loss for the financial year – – – (24.2) – (24.2) (42.6)

Dividends – – – (14.6) – (14.6) (13.3)
————————————————————————–————————————————————————

Retained loss for the financial year – – – (38.8) – (38.8) (55.9)

Transfer of realised profit – – (3.6) 3.6 – – –

Other recognised gains and losses

– foreign exchange – – – (2.3) – (2.3) (0.5)

– proper ty revaluation – – – – – – (0.1)

Goodwill written back to profit and

loss on disposal of Construction – – – – – – 2.1

Long-term share incentive scheme – – – 1.2 – 1.2 (3.1)

Warrants exercised 0.5 1.6 – – – 2.1 –

New share capital subscribed – – – – – – 76.5#

————————————————————————–————————————————————————
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) TO

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 0.5 1.6 (3.6) (36.3) – (37.8) 19.0

Opening shareholders’ funds 83.1 81.2 3.6 90.5 2.2 260.6 240.7

Restatement* – – – – – – 0.9
————————————————————————–————————————————————————

CLOSING SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 83.6 82.8 – 54.2 2.2 222.8 260.6
————————————————————————–————————————————————————————————————————————————–————————————————————————

The cumulative retained profit of £54.2 million (2001 – £90.5 million) is after the inclusion of post acquisition reser ves of joint ventures and

associated undertakings amounting to £20.0 million (2001 – £10.1 million).

2002 2001
Revaluation Profit

Share of shares and
Share premium in subsidiary loss

capital account undertakings account Total Restated*
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

—————————————————————————————————————————
COMPANY

Profit for the financial year including

intercompany dividends – – – 25.4 25.4 14.2

Dividends – – – (14.5) (14.5) (13.3)
—————————————————————————————————————————

Retained profit for the financial year – – – 10.9 10.9 0.9

Other recognised gains and losses relating

to the year (net) – – (50.8)+ – (50.8) (58.4)

New share capital subscribed 0.5 1.6 – – 2.1 76.5#

—————————————————————————————————————————
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) TO SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 0.5 1.6 (50.8) 10.9 (37.8) 19.0

Opening shareholders’ funds 83.1 81.2 80.5 15.8 260.6 240.7

Restatement* – – – – – 0.9
—————————————————————————————————————————

CLOSING SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 83.6 82.8 29.7 26.7 222.8 260.6
——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————

# New share capital subscr ibed is shown net of r ights issue costs .

+ The other recognised loss during the year ar ise as a result of the application of accounting policies (b).

* see accounting policies (a).
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2 7 . R E C O N C I L I AT I O N S  O F  M OV E M E N T S  I N  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ F U N D S ( cont inued)

The non-equity portion of shareholders’ funds is calculated as follows:

2002 2001
£ million £ million

——————————————
Preference Shares 39.4 39.4

Less expenses of issue (1.3) (1.3)
——————————————

Non-equity shareholders’ funds 38.1 38.1
————————————————————————————

2 8 . R E C O N C I L I AT I O N  O F  O P E R AT I N G  P R O F I T / ( L O S S )  T O  N E T  C A S H  F L OW  F R O M  O P E R AT I N G  AC T I V I T I E S

2002 2001
Restated*

£ million £ million
——————————————

Group operating profit/(loss) 12.6 (49.3)

Depreciation and amor tisation charges 4.8 13.3

(Profit)/loss on sale of vehicles, plant and machinery (0.1) 0.3

Dividends received (5.5) (2.9)

Decrease in stocks, land and developments (18.8) (88.2)

Increase in debtors (88.3) (103.6)

Exchange loss/(gain) in trading profit 4.2 (1.1)

Increase in creditors 9.8 64.8

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (18.0) 53.6
——————————————

Net cash outflow from operating activities (99.3) (113.1)
————————————————————————————

Net cash outflow from operating activities includes £4.8 million (2001 – £11.6 million) of restructur ing costs .

29. (a) AC Q U I S I T I O N S

On 1 March 2002 deferred consideration of £1.8 million on the purchase of M40 Trains Limited was paid to the shareholders following the

award of the franchise extension. On 28 August 2002, Laing Rail Limited acquired an additional 15.64% in M40 Trains Limited. Assets of

£0.7million were acquired for a purchase price of £5.5 million resulting in goodwill of £4.8 million.

* see accounting policies (a).
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2 9 . ( b ) D I S P O S A L S

Property Homes Construction Investments
Total

Laing Property Holloway Laing disposal Access
Developments White Allom Homes of subsidiary Plant Hire Gorodok

Limited Limited Limited undertakings business Pty Limited
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

—————————————————————————————————————————
Fixed assets – 0.2 1.6 1.8 1.5 3.3
Investments 9.9 – – 9.9 – –
Land and developments 20.7 – 371.9 392.6 – –
Debtors 41.7 3.6 16.4 61.7 0.8 –
Cash disposed 0.4 12.2 – 12.6 0.3 –
Current liabilities (67.1) (13.1) (121.2) (201.4) – –
Provisions (0.2) - (2.3) (2.5) – –

—————————————————————————————————————————
Net assets disposed of 5.4 2.9 266.4 274.7 2.6 3.3
Fair value on acquisition written off – – – – – 0.7
Consideration 34.3 5.0 295.2 334.5 2.2 5.5
Settlement of intercompany accounts (24.6) – (18.9) (43.5) – –
Cost of disposal (2.1) (0.4) (13.4) (15.9) (0.3) (0.3)
Discount on deferred consideration – – (8.5) (8.5) – –
Net sale proceeds 7.6 4.6 254.4 266.6 1.9 5.2

—————————————————————————————————————————
Profit/(loss) on disposal 2.2 1.7 (12.0) (8.1) (0.7) 1.2

——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————
Cash proceeds 32.4 5.0 61.1 98.5 2.2 5.5
Cash cost of disposal (2.1) (0.4) (3.6) (6.1) (0.3) –

—————————————————————————————————————————
30.3 4.6 57.5 92.4 1.9 5.5

——————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————————
Disposal Date 2002 12 April 5 November 1 November 18 January 10 October

The businesses sold during the year contributed £7.7 million to the Groups’ net operating cash outflow, paid £39.3 million in respect of

ser vicing finance and net returns on investments, paid £0.2 million in respect of taxation and utilised £0.5 million for capital expenditure.
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3 0 . A N A LYS I S  O F  N E T  D E B T

At
1 January At

2002 Cash Exchange 31 December
Restated* flow movement 2002
£ million £ million £ million £ million

———–————————————————————————
Cash in hand and at bank 11.8 10.5 (0.3) 22.0
Bank deposits maturing in one day 2.7 (0.4) – 2.3
Overdrafts repayable on demand (8.4) 2.8 – (5.6)
Increase in cash in the year 12.9
Bank deposits maturing in:

more than one day 19.3 50.5 – 69.8
Bank loans repayable in:

less than one year (0.1) (196.2) – (196.3)
more than one year (297.8) 86.3 5.2 (206.3)

———–————————————————————————
NET GROUP DEBT (272.5) (46.5) 4.9 (314.1)
Current asset investments 2.2 – – 2.2

———–————————————————————————
TOTAL (270.3) (46.5) 4.9 (311.9)

———–———————————————————————————–————————————————————————

3 1 . R E C O N C I L I AT I O N  O F  N E T  C A S H  F L OW T O M OV E M E N T  I N  N E T  D E B T

2002 2001
Restated*

£ million £ million
——————————————

Increase/(decrease) in cash in the year 12.9 (18.6)

Net cash flow to/(from) management of liquid resources 50.5 (25.4)

(Increase)/decrease in bank borrowings due within one year (196.2) 12.6

Decrease/(increase) in bank borrowings due in more than one year 86.3 (209.6)

Exchange movement 4.9 (1.5)
——————————————

Movement in net debt in the year (41.6) (242.5)

Net debt at 1 January (272.5) (30.0)
——————————————

Net debt at 31 December (314.1) (272.5)
————————————————————————————

3 2 . P O S T  B A L A N C E  S H E E T  E V E N T S

On 21 Januar y 2003 the Group entered into an agreement to acquire a portfolio of infrastructure investments from Amey plc . The portfolio

consists of eight infrastructure investments, including Amey’s interest in the M6 and A19 shadow toll roads, accommodation projects for the

British Transport Police and the Ministr y of Defence, and schools projects in Scotland, together with a limited pipeline of ongoing bidding activity.

The transaction completed on 14 March 2003.

The consideration for the acquisition of the portfolio, excluding transaction costs , was £29.1 million, paid in cash on completion.

Out of the £29.1 million of consideration a net amount of £2.0 million will be held in escrow for a period of up to 18 months from completion to

cover any claims arising out of warranties or indemnities. Laing Investments Limited has also assumed future equity commitments of the projects

in the portfolio amounting in aggregate to a further £13.8 million. These commitments require the new equity investments to be made in 2003

and 2004. Of these future equity commitments £10.6 million are backed by letters of credit and £3.2 million by guarantees from a Group

company. However, simultaneously with the acquisition, Laing Investments Limited has disposed of a 9.9% equity investment in the Ministr y of

Defence accommodation project, thereby reducing the future equity commitments and letter of credit requirement by £5.3 million.

* see accounting policies (a).
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FIVE-YEAR REVIEW

2002 2001* 2000 1999 1998
——————————–————————————————————————

Turnover (including joint ventures and associates) £ million 755.0 1,389.0 1,574.4 1,791.7 1,606.6
——————————–————————————————————————

(Loss)/profit before taxation £ million (18.6) (30.3) 5.7 52.7 20.1
——————————–————————————————————————

(Loss)/profit attributable to shareholders £ million (24.2) (42.6) 2.9 43.4 15.5
——————————–————————————————————————

Shareholders’ funds £ million 222.8 260.6 240.7 251.3 219.1
——————————–————————————————————————

Net (borrowings)/cash £ million (314.1) (272.5) (30.0) 37.9 43.8
——————————–————————————————————————

(Loss)/profit before taxation as a % of

– turnover % (2.5) (2.2) 0.4 2.9 1.3

– shareholders’ funds % (8.3) (11.6) 2.4 21.0 9.2
——————————–————————————————————————

(Losses)/earnings per share pence (15.3) (38.3) 0.4# 41.0# 13.0#

——————————–————————————————————————

Dividends per share pence 6.8 7.6 13.0 12.25 10.75
——————————–————————————————————————

Dividend cover times – – – 3.6 1.3
——————————–————————————————————————

Employees (average) number 1,724 5,656 7,729 9,443 10,146
——————————–————————————————————————

# Restated for the Rights Issue of shares on 26 November 2001.

* see accounting policies (a).
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H O M E S

UNITED KINGDOM OVERSEAS

John Laing Homes plc* Beechcroft Developments Limited WL Investors LLC
Holding company for the housing businesses Retirement housing 12% Preferred equity (22.5%)

Private housing

John Laing Partnership Limited Octagon Group Limited
Partnership housing Preference ‘B’ shares of £1

Ordinar y Shares of 25p (30%)

Private housing

I N V E S T M E N T S

UNITED KINGDOM

Laing Investments Limited* UK Highways plc City Greenwich Lewisham Rail plc
Holding company for the Investments business Ordinar y Shares of £1 (25 pence paid up) (50%) Ordinar y Shares of £1 (40%)

Road concession operator Light rail concession operator

Severn River Crossing Plc
Ordinar y Shares of £1 (35%) UK Highways M40 (Holdings) Limited Meridian Hospital Company
Toll br idge operator Ordinar y Shares of £1 (50%) (Holdings) Limited

Road concession operator Ordinar y Shares of £1 (50%)

Altram LRT Limited PFI accommodation operator

Ordinar y Shares of £1 (33.33%) UK Highways A55 (Holdings) Limited Financial year-end 31 March

Light rail concession operator Ordinar y Shares of £1 (50%)

Road concession operator Equion Facilities Management
Altram (Manchester) Limited Financial year-end 31 March Limited
Ordinar y Shares of £1 (26.1%) Provision of facilities

Light rail concession operator CountyRoute (A130) plc management ser vices

Road concession operator

M40 Trains Limited OVERSEAS

Rail franchise operator Laing Investments Management JL Investment Pte Limited
Services Limited John Laing Investment Pte Limited

Octagon Healthcare Holdings (Norwich) Limited Management, staff and Investment companies, incorporated

Ordinar y Shares of 1p (20%) administrative ser vice and operating in Singapore

PFI accommodation operator

Coastal Clear Water Holdings Limited Horizon Energy Investment Limited
Defence Management Holdings Limited Ordinar y Shares of £1 (50%) Ordinar y Shares Aus$0.01 (5%)

Ordinar y Shares of £1 (50%) PFI wastewater treatment plant operator Ordinar y units Aus$0.99 (5%)

PFI accommodation operator in Northern Ireland Power generation – operating in

Australia

UK Highways Services Limited Services Support (Gravesend) Limited
Ordinar y Shares of £1 (19%) PFI accommodation operator Adelaide Airports Limited
PFI road maintenance Ordinar y Shares of Aus$0.01 (14.5%)

Education Support (Enfield) Limited Airport Operator – operating in

Hyder Investments Limited PFI accommodation operator Australia

Holding company for the Investments business

Services Support (SEL) Limited Northern Territories Airports
Laing Rail Limited PFI accommodation operator Ordinar y Shares of Aus$1 (14.55%)

Holding company rail operator Airport Operator – operating in

Services Support (Manchester) Limited Australia

Laser (Teddington Holding) Limited PFI accommodation operator

Ordinar y Shares of £1 (50%) Tieyhtio Nelostie Oy
PFI accommodation operator Modus Services Holdings Limited Ordinar y A Shares Euro 6.055 (50%)

Financial year-end 31 March Ordinar y Shares of £1 (40%) Ordinar y B Shares Euro 2.355 (25%)

PFI accommodation operator Toll road operator – operating in

Financial year-end 31 March Finland (41%)
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P RO P E RT Y

UNITED KINGDOM

Laing Property plc* Laing Property Holdings Limited
Holding company for the Property business Holding and management of Group properties

G RO U P  S E RV I C E  C O M PA N I E S

John Laing Services Limited* Woodcroft Insurance Company Limited (GUERNSEY)
Management, staff and administrative Insurance Company

ser vices for the Group

Except where indicated, all companies are wholly owned, have 31 December year ends, are incorporated in Great Britain and registered in

England and Wales, and operate mainly in the countr y of incorporation.

* shares owned by the Company.

P R I N C I PA L  B A N K E R S AU D I TO R S J O H N  L A I N G  P L C

Lloyds TSB Bank plc KPMG Audit Plc Registered No. 1345670

6-8 Eastcheap Chartered Accountants Registered Office

London EC2M 1AE 8 Salisbur y Square Nations House

London EC4Y 8BB 103 Wigmore Street

London W1U 1RR

Bank of Scotland Telephone: 020 7647 8800

155 Bishopsgate R E G I S T R A R Fax: 020 7647 8811

London EC2M 3YB Capita Registrars email: marketing@laing.com

The Registr y www.laing.com

34 Beckenham Road

Beckenham

Kent BR3 4TU

Telephone: 0870 162 3100

ADVISERS



SHAREHOLDER SERVICES
ACCOUNT ENQUIRIES AND ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION

By visiting the Capita Registrar’s website www.capitaregistrars .com and selecting “Shareholder Account Ser vices” you can benefit from the

following ser vices:

• View your account on-line

• View your share transactions

• View the details of dividends you have received

• Set up or amend a dividend payment mandate

• Change your registered postal address

Shareholders can also now elect to receive shareholder documents, such as annual and inter im reports electronically from the Company’s

website rather than in hard copy through the mail. This has the advantage of improving the speed of communications and reducing

administrative costs of pr inting and postage. If you would like to receive future communications from the Company by e-mail or to vote

electronically if your shares are held in CREST, you can register directly at the above website or by using the link to that address via the

Company’s website, www.laing.com.

To access these facilities you will need to input a unique User ID (for which you can apply on your first visit to the site) or, for certain of

the facilities , your Investor Code which can be found on your dividend stationer y and share certificates.

The use of electronic communications is , however, entirely voluntar y and if you wish to continue to receive communications from us by

post then you need take no further action.

All enquir ies concerning your account or if you are experiencing difficulties with the electronic ser vices mentioned above, should be made

initially with the Company’s Registrar whose contact details are set out on page 104.

S H A R E  D E A L I N G  S E RV I C E

The Directors have made available a postal share dealing ser vice, details of which can be obtained from the Group Company Secretar y’s

office, at the Company’s Registered Office details of which are set out on page 104.

S H A R E  G I F T

For shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose value makes it uneconomical to sell them, the Directors have made

available the opportunity to donate such shares to charity through Sharegift, an independent charity share donation scheme. Donations

can be made by completion of a simple share transfer form which is available from the Company’s Registrar whose contact details are

set on page 104.

F I N A N C I A L  C A L E N D A R

Annual General Meeting 14 May 2003

Announcement of Results

Half year results – 2003 September 2003

Results for the year – 2003 March 2004

Issue of Report and Accounts April 2004

Dividend

Final – 2002 1 July 2003

Inter im – 2003 November 2003

Final – 2003 July 2004

Designed and produced by MAGEE
Printed by First Impression 105 John Laing plc
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Nations House,
103 Wigmore Street,
London W1U 1RR
England

Registered No. 1345670

Tel: +44 (0)20 7647 8800
Fax: +44 (0)20 7647 8811

Further copies of this statement are
available from the above address or
by visiting the Company’s website at
www.laing.com

INFRASTRUCTURE
IS OUR BUSINESS
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